
 
 
 

County Hall 
Rhadyr 

Usk 
NP15 1GA 

 
Tuesday, 18 July 2023 

 
Dear Councillor 

CABINET 
 

You are requested to attend a Cabinet meeting to be held at Steve Greenslade Room, 
County Hall, Usk on Wednesday, 26th July, 2023, at 5.00 pm. 
 
 

AGENDA 
 
1.   Apologies for Absence 

 
 

2.   Declarations of Interest 
 

 

3.   IMPLEMENTATION OF THE MY DAY, MY LIFE REVIEW 
RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
Division/Wards Affected: All  
 
Purpose: To present the findings of the My Day My Life Service review, the 
public feedback received and the implementation plan for consideration by 
Cabinet, and to seek approval of the review recommendations.  
 

Author: Ceri York Service Manager Commissioning and Disability Services Manager 
 
Contact Details: ceriyork@monmouthshire.gov.uk 
 

1 - 90 

4.   S106 FUNDING CALDICOT 
 

Division/Wards Affected: Caldicot 
 
Purpose: To recommend to full Cabinet the inclusion of capital funding 

generated from S106 agreements in the 2023/24 Capital Budget 

Author: Cath Saunders – Sustainable Communities for Learning 
Programme Manager; Nikki Wellington – Support Services Manager 
   
Contact Details: Cathsaunders@monmouthshire.gov.uk 
Nicolawellington@monmouthshire.gov.uk 
 
 
 
 
 

91 - 110 

Public Document Pack

mailto:ceriyork@monmouthshire.gov.uk
mailto:Cathsaunders@monmouthshire.gov.uk
mailto:Nicolawellington@monmouthshire.gov.uk


 

 

5.   MEETING GYPSY & TRAVELLER PITCH NEEDS - LAND IDENTIFICATION 
 

Division/Wards Affected: All 
 
Purpose: The purpose of this report is to approve a proposal that the Council 
consults on the suitability of four pieces of Council owned land for potential 
development to meet (all or part meet) its statutory obligation to address identified 
Gypsy and Traveller pitch needs in Monmouthshire.  It also recommends further 
evaluation of a fifth piece of land, to inform possible consultation. 
 
Author: Ian Bakewell, Housing & Communities Manager 
 
Contact Details: ianbakewell@monmouthshire.gov.uk 
 

111 - 154 

6.   2023/24 REVENUE BUDGET PROGRESS - EARLY UPDATE 
 
Division/Wards Affected: All 
 
Purpose: To provide Cabinet with an early update of the progress of the 

Councils revenue budget for the 2023/24 financial year. 

 
Author: Jonathan Davies, Head of Finance (Deputy S151 officer) 
 
Contact Details: jonathandavies2@monmouthshire.gov.uk 
 

155 - 176 

 
 
Yours sincerely, 
 
 
Paul Matthews 
Chief Executive 

mailto:jonathandavies2@monmouthshire.gov.uk


 

 

 
 

CABINET PORTFOLIOS 

County 
Councillor 

Area of Responsibility Ward 

Mary Ann 
Brocklesby 
 

Leader 

Lead Officer – Paul Matthews, Matthew Gatehouse 

 

Whole Authority Strategy and Direction 

Whole authority performance review and evaluation 

Promoting localism within regional and national 

frameworks 

Relationships with Welsh Government, UK Government 

and local government associations 

Regional Relationships with City Regions and Public 

Service Board  

Strategic Procurement   

Local Food production and consumption, including 
agroforestry and local horticulture  

Llanelly  
 

Paul Griffiths 
 

Cabinet Member for Planning and Economic 

Development Deputy Leader  

Lead Officer – Frances O’Brien  

 

Economic Strategy 

Local development plan and strategic development plan 

including strategic housing sites 

Supporting Town Centres including car parking and 

enforcement 

Development Management and Building Control 

Skills and Employment  

Broadband connectivity  

Car parks and civil enforcement 

Chepstow Castle & 
Larkfield 

Rachel Garrick 
 

Cabinet Member for Resources 

Lead Officers – Peter Davies, Frances O’Brien, Matthew 

Phillips, Jane Rodgers 

 

Finance including MTFP and annual budget cycle 

Benefits 

Digital and information technology  

Human resources, payroll, health and safety 

Land and buildings  

Property maintenance and management  

Emergency planning 

Caldicot Castle 

Martyn Groucutt Cabinet Member for Education  

Lead Officers – Will McLean, Ian Saunders  

 

Early Years Education  

All age statutory education 

Additional learning needs/inclusion 

Lansdown 



 

 

Post 16 and adult education 

School standards and improvement  

Community learning 

Sustainable communities for learning Programme 

Youth service  

School transport 

Sara Burch Cabinet Member for Inclusive and Active 

Communities  

Lead Officers – Frances O’Brien, Ian Saunders, Jane 

Rodgers, Matthew Gatehouse 

 

  

Homelessness  

Affordable Housing Delivery and private sector housing 

(empty homes, leasing scheme, home improvement 

loans, disabled facilities grants and adaptive tech)   

Active travel and Rights of way 

Leisure centres, play and sport 

Tourism Development and Cultural strategy  

Public conveniences 

trading standards, environmental health, public 
protection and licencing 

Cantref 

Ian Chandler 

 

Cabinet Member for Social Care, Safeguarding and 

Accessible Health Services 

Lead Officer – Jane Rodgers  

 

Children’s services  

Fostering & adoption  

Youth Offending service  

Adult services  

Whole authority safeguarding (children and adults)  

Disabilities  

Mental health and wellbeing 

Relationships with health providers and access to health 
provision  

Llantilio Crossenny 

Catrin Maby Cabinet Member for Climate Change and the 

Environment  

Lead Officer – Frances O’Brien, Matthew Gatehouse  

 

Decarbonisation  

Transport planning, public transport, highways and MCC 

fleet 

Waste management, street care, litter, public spaces, 

and parks 

Pavements and back lanes 

Flood alleviation, management and recovery 

Countryside, biodiversity, and river health  

Drybridge 



 

 

Angela Sandles 

 

Cabinet Member for Equalities and Engagement 

Lead Officers – Frances O’Brien, Matt Phillips, Matthew 

Gatehouse, Jane Rodgers 

 

Community inequality and poverty (health, income, 

nutrition, disadvantage, discrimination, isolation and cost 

of living crisis) 

Citizen engagement and democracy promotion including 

working with voluntary organisations 

Citizen experience - community hubs, contact centre, 

and customer service and registrars 

Electoral Services and constitution review 

Communications, public relations and marketing 

Ethics and standards 

Welsh Language 

Magor East with 
Undy 

 



 

 

Aims and Values of Monmouthshire County Council 
 
Our purpose 
 
Building Sustainable and Resilient Communities 
 
Objectives we are working towards 
 

 Giving people the best possible start in life 

 A thriving and connected county 

 Maximise the Potential of the natural and built environment 

 Lifelong well-being 

 A future focused council 
 

Our Values 
 
Openness. We are open and honest. People have the chance to get involved in decisions 

that affect them, tell us what matters and do things for themselves/their communities. If we 

cannot do something to help, we’ll say so; if it will take a while to get the answer we’ll explain 

why; if we can’t answer immediately we’ll try to connect you to the people who can help – 

building trust and engagement is a key foundation. 

Fairness. We provide fair chances, to help people and communities thrive. If something 

does not seem fair, we will listen and help explain why. We will always try to treat everyone 

fairly and consistently. We cannot always make everyone happy, but will commit to listening 

and explaining why we did what we did.  

Flexibility. We will continue to change and be flexible to enable delivery of the most 

effective and efficient services. This means a genuine commitment to working with everyone 

to embrace new ways of working. 

Teamwork. We will work with you and our partners to support and inspire everyone to get 

involved so we can achieve great things together. We don’t see ourselves as the ‘fixers’ or 

problem-solvers, but we will make the best of the ideas, assets and resources available to 

make sure we do the things that most positively impact our people and places. 

Kindness: We will show kindness to all those we work with putting the importance of 

relationships and the connections we have with one another at the heart of all interactions. 

 



 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1. PURPOSE: 

 

To present the findings of the My Day My Life Service review, the public feedback received and 

the implementation plan for consideration by Cabinet, and to seek approval of the review 

recommendations.  

2. RECOMMENDATIONS:  

  

That Cabinet considers the findings of the Practice Solution’s review, the review recommendations, 

public feedback received and the implementation plan. 

 

That Cabinet accepts the recommendations in the Practice Solution review in full. 

 

3. BACKGROUND: 

 

3.1 My Day, My Life is a strength-based approach which enables people with a learning 

disability to develop and pursue their individual aspirations within every day, community 

settings supported by their own networks.  This approach has been in place since 2014. It 

has resulted in a move away from traditional buildings-based only day service to more 

bespoke individual opportunities, with a mix of support within the community and within My 

Day My Life buildings. 

 

3.2 The onset of the Covid-19 pandemic led to the temporary closure of all My Day, My Life hub 

buildings and the service moved to a fully flexible, person focused and community-based 

support service. As we came out of the pandemic, a reduction in the number of people 

receiving support and surplus staffing levels in the north and central areas meant there was 

a need to review the service and determine its future direction of travel. 

 

3.3 A review was undertaken between November 2022 - March 2023 by Practice Solutions Ltd, 

an independent organisation with experience and expertise in services for people with 

learning disabilities. An independent review was chosen to provide an impartial assessment 

and to maximise the engagement of people using the service. The review is grounded in the 

key principles of voice and control, prevention and early intervention, well-being and co-

production set out by the Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014.  The final review 

report was produced in March 2023. It contains recommendations to the council for the 

future for the My Day My Life service and how it should be delivered (See Appendix 1).  

SUBJECT: IMPLEMENTATION OF THE MY DAY, MY LIFE REVIEW 

RECOMMENDATIONS 

MEETING: CABINET  

DATE:  26th July   2023 

DIVISION/WARDS AFFECTED:  ALL  

 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



 

3.4 In accordance with the Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014, any person with 

a care and support need has a right to an assessment based on their need and the 

assessment undertaken should be proportionate to the request and/or the presenting need. 

Assessments are the mechanism by which people receive appropriate care and support 

based on their identified needs and their personal outcomes. People eligible for support 

from the My Day My Day service will each have had an assessment to identify the most 

appropriate approach to address their individual circumstances. 

 

3.5 When the review began there was 11 people in the north of the county and 11 in the central 

of the county eligible to receive My Day My Life services, following an assessment of need,  

 

3.6 The My Day My Life service in the south is delivered via a contract with Mencap. A review 

of the service is planned from September 2023. It will be undertaken by SCH officers in the 

Commissioning Team and the Community Learning Disability Team.  

4. THE VISION FOR THE FUTURE OF MY DAY MY LIFE  

 

4.1 The review recommendations have allowed us to develop an initial future vision for the 

development of MDML, which will be shaped on the way through the direct involvement of people 

who use the service.  

 

Vision for the future  

 

4.2  The future service will be a mix of community-based activity together with access to a MDML 

‘home base’ one in Monmouth and one in Abergavenny. People will be supported to take 

part in a range of opportunities and activities which are designed around their own interests. 

Making and maintaining friendships and social connections will be a central tenet.  

 

4.3  The review report concludes the service needs to return to its core My Day My Life 

principles, restoring the positive aspects of the service and positively responding to the 

concern raised amongst participants, families, and colleagues as part of the review. This will 

be achieved through the steps set out in the implementation plan (Appendix 3). The My Day 

My Life principles as shown below will be at the core of the service. 

 

4.4  We will re-invigorate and refocus the service, so it focuses upon supporting people to take 

part in community activities and is genuinely more person-centred. We will expand 

opportunities available to people with learning disabilities and support their participation in 

meaningful activities centred around personal goals and development.  

 

Page 2



 

 

 

4.5 We will support people to take part in opportunities either on a 1:1 basis or as part of a group 

of My Day My Life service recipients, depending on their needs and aspirations.  Individual 

opportunities could include going to the gym, visiting the cinema, attending community 

classes or groups. Group activities will be arranged such as, attending Growing Spaces, 

Touch Trust sessions and other group activities.  

 

4.6  There will be a My Day My Life base in both Monmouth and Abergavenny which will be a 

space for both the people receiving support and colleagues working in the service.  

  

4.7 The bases will offer a dedicated space for people receiving My Day My Life, with facilities 

appropriate to their needs including accessible toilets and changing beds. The bases will be 

used to hold group activities or events such as sensory sessions, social groups, or coffee 

mornings etc. In addition to the service bases and the activities offered within them, people 

will continue to take part in community/mainstream activities, in other community buildings, 

as they chose within their local area. 

Page 3



 

4.8  The bases will be used in a fluid way to respond to the needs and aspirations of the people 

supported. Some days the bases may have people in them and other days not, depending 

on what people have planned for their day. The bases will be a safe space where people 

using the service can go when their planned community activities change, or circumstances 

prevent them from taking part as previously planned. Most people are supported to take part 

in community opportunities by a My Day My Life support worker who would be able to 

support them in the bases when the need arises. 

 

4.9  A key message within the review report from those receiving the service and their families 

was the importance of having a base/space which was safe and “felt like home”. The service 

bases will be safe and a “home”.  

 

4.10  Colleagues of the My Day My Life service have found the last 3 years challenging with the 

provision of only a community-based service. The future service bases will offer a base for 

the My Day My Life teams, somewhere where records and IT equipment will be located, and 

colleagues can congregate when appropriate. Colleagues will still spend a large proportion 

of their working time in the community supporting people in their various pursuits but will 

have the comfort and confidence of a building base.  

 

5.   CURRENT ARRANGEMENTS 

5.1 People have continued to receive My Day My Life services since the temporary closure of 

the buildings in 2020 and while the review has been undertaken. People are taking part in 

a variety of individual and group activities. Appendix 4 provides an overview of the type of 

activities people receiving the service are doing and a selection of individual pen pictures 

are shown in Appendix 5. As we move forward with the implementation plan there is scope 

to further enhance and expand the community opportunities available. 

 

5.2  The review identified areas which needed attention before a formal decision could be sought 

for implementation of the recommendations including:  

• greater social contact with friends/groups 

• increased access to community activities 

• access to buildings and appropriate toilet facilities  

• service documentation and access to IT 

 

In response we have put in place some interim arrangements as detailed below. 

 

5.3 The service has increased the number of group and social contact opportunities it provides. 

In addition to current weekly group activities, we are planning social get togethers/activities 

in the coming weeks such as a weekly evening social group. 

 

5.4  People and My Day My Life colleagues are accessing a range of community buildings and 

people are taking part in activities in various community locations in Monmouth and 

Abergavenny, including Abergavenny and Monmouth leisure centre, Bridges Community 

Centre, Mardy Park, The Melville Theatre and Danceblast studios.  

 

Page 4



5.5  People and colleagues can call in to both Monnow Vale Health and Social facility and Mardy 

Park should they need a base or a place to go when plans change. IT equipment and service 

documentation is within the buildings. They have access to accessible toilet facilities in all 

the buildings listed above and specialist changing bed facilities are available to them at 

Abergavenny and Monmouth Leisure Centres and Bridges Centre in Monmouth.  

 

6.  KEY ISSUES – THE REVIEW 

 

Methodology 

 

6.1  The review provides a comprehensive assessment of the current service and sets out a 

vision for its future direction with recommendations for the future. A copy of the full report is 

attached to this report as Appendix 1.  

 

6.2 The review’s focus was on seeking the views of people who receive My Day My Life and 

their families about what they like about the service and what they think could be done better. 

The review is rooted in co-producing with the people who receive the service a set of 

recommendations for the future operation of the service. 

 

6.3  Participants invited to take part in the review were people and families currently receiving 

the service, young people who may use the service in the future, people previously joined 

in My Day My Life activities/buildings, colleagues from the service team, wider SCH officers 

and community organisations. Total participants are listed below:  

 

o 22 people receiving the service. 

o 6 young people who may use the service in the future. 

o 12 people who used to join in some My Day My Life activities though not formally 

receiving the service.  

o 22 My Day My Life colleagues. 

 

6.4  The overall participation level from all people (excluding colleagues) was 57%.  All 40 people 

were contacted directly by the reviewers and 23 chose to take part in the review. 

 

6.5  The reviewers used a variety of methods to engage with potential participants including 

telephone calls, easy read letters, surveys and other materials, workshops using visual aids 

and creative forms of expression, and individual meetings: 

  

o 15/22 (68%) of the people receiving My Day My Life services participated in the review.  

o 33% of young people who may use the service in the future were represented by family 

members and participated in the review. 

o 33% of people who used to join in activities at My Day My Life centres completed 

surveys. 

o 17 out of the 19 My Day My Life colleagues took part in the review.  (89%).  

 

6.6  All participants contributed to producing and agreeing the final report. People were invited 

to offer their comments on the draft recommendations, which were then finalised within the 

final report. A copy of the final report was shared with all people receiving the service.  

  

Page 5



Review Conclusions  

 
6.7  The report concludes that when the council initially moved away from providing traditional 

day services, it was challenging for both staff, participants and families. However, it stated 

everyone responded well to the challenges involved and with positive results. People spoke 

about a time when the My Day My Life service was offering a good variety of individual and 

group activities and support; individuals had moved towards greater independence.  

 

6.8  It goes on to state that over time and especially with the impact of Covid-19, the service 

drifted away from its original principles. It found a lot of concern amongst participants, 

families and employees, as well as uncertainty and a lack of clear direction. People and their 

families have been affected badly by the drift and the ongoing closure of buildings. All this 

is partly a consequence of the need to find ways of responding to unprecedented change 

for people, communities, and public services such as local authorities.   

 

6.9  The reviewers state the council will need to take steps that will restore and develop the 

positive aspects of the My Day My Life service. This will require a commitment to making 

timely plans and decisions, providing positive leadership and implementing practical 

changes. The programme of reform should be developed in full partnership with people 

receiving the service, their families, staff and stakeholders.  

 

6.10 The new service model must fit within a wider strategic offer for people with learning 

disabilities in Monmouthshire, which focuses upon supporting people to take part in 

community activities and helping services to become genuinely more person-centred.  

 

6.11 The evidence from the review is that a return to the core My Day My Life principles would 

win widespread support and make a major contribution to improving the opportunities 

available to people with learning disabilities and support their participation in meaningful 

activities centred around personal goals and development. 

 

Review Recommendations  

 

6.12  The report makes 10 recommendations for the future development of the service which are 

listed below, more detailed information is available in Appendix 1:  

 

1. The council will need to take steps to restore and develop the positive aspects of the 

My Day My Life service. 

2. The My Day My Life service should return to the principles it set out at the start. 

3. The council should consider the range of opportunities and activities that will be made 

available to participants in the service. 

4. The service should adopt more flexible working hours. 

5. The service needs to have stable, compassionate and person-centred leadership. 

6. The programme will have a clear process to document what is happening. 

7. The service should have safe and accessible buildings. 

8. People and families should be meaningfully involved in making changes. 

9. Monmouthshire should think about all learning disability services. 

10. There should be a map of all the services in Monmouthshire. 

 

Page 6



 

7.  PUBLIC CONSULTATION  

 

7.1  The review report was published on the Council website, inviting comments from the public 

between 6th – 28th April 2023 via an online questionnaire and an easy read PDF version.  

 

7.2 In total 24 responses were received to the online public consultation; no easy read returns 

were received. A full analysis of the responses is set out within Appendix 2.  

 

7.3  The public consultation respondents self-identified as follows: 

• 50% of respondents were members of the public, 

• 17% family members of people who have, currently use or may use the service in 

the future, 

• 13% are previous employees, 

• 8% are people who have joined in on My Day, My Life Activities previously, 

• 4% are people who currently use My Day, My Life services, 

• 4% are people who may use the service in the future. 

 

7.4  There was overall support for the recommendations: 

• between 88% - 96% of respondents either agreeing or somewhat agreeing with each 

of the 10 recommendations.  

• 3 recommendations received no disagree or somewhat disagree responses.  

• 7 recommendations received between 4% - 8% responses which either disagreed 

or somewhat disagreed.  

 

7.5  Respondents were also able to provide narrative comments and more general feedback. 

Appendix 2 provides a summary of the questionnaire responses and feedback received.  

The narrative comments have been collated into themes, which are listed below:  

• A variety of activities needs for people; a mix between community and hub- based 
activities. 

• Tudor Street should be re-opened.  

• The need for accessible community buildings for the wider population. 

• People with learning disabilities need time with friends. 

• The need for skills training including independence and work skills. 

• The need to provide appropriate support and buildings for people with complex learning 
disabilities. 

• The need for My Day My Life to have a centre/base. 

• The need for appropriately skilled staff and managers. 

• The need to involve people who receive services and their families in planning and 
developing the service. 

• The need for better accessibility of all Monmouthshire buildings. 

• More support for carers.  
 

8.  IMPLEMENTING THE RECOMMENDATIONS 

 

8.1  A comprehensive implementation plan has been developed in response to the 

recommendations.  

 

Page 7



8.2  The 10 recommendations are both wide ranging and detailed, implementing these will 

require significant effort and time.  A key message within the report is the need for the 

Council to ensure that the future service is developed in a co-produced way with the people 

who receive it, with meaningful and active involvement.  

 

8.3  A proposed implementation plan has been produced (a summary of which is in Appendix 3) 

which sets out in detail the actions and timescales for the delivery of the recommendations. 

Subject to approval the next step will be to engage with people receiving the service, their 

families, My Day My Life colleagues and community organisations to work together to begin 

the implementation. The estimated timescale for completing the implementation of the 

recommendations is March 2024. 

 

Future service buildings 

 

8.4  Recommendation 7 is the service should have safe and accessible buildings. This is a 

significant aspect; preparatory work has begun to scope out the criteria for the future service 

buildings and identify potential sites/buildings in advance of a cabinet decision. 

 

8.5  The review report contains feedback from people receiving the service, their families, 

colleagues and others setting out what is wanted from a future building/service hub. This 

feedback has been used to develop a provisional set of criteria, which will be shared and 

finalised with key stakeholders, especially those using the service though the 

implementation involvement process.  

 

8.6  During the review, participants suggested a number of community buildings which might be 

suitable to host future service bases. This list of bases has been brought together with other 

potential buildings. An initial assessment has been undertaken by officers from the Council’s 

Estates and SCH departments to compile a short list of potential properties. An initial options 

appraisal and feasibility assessment has been undertaken (Appendix 6) 

 

8.7  The 1st and 2nd stage feasibility assessments have identified a short list of 3 buildings in both 

Abergavenny and Monmouth which are the strongest options for a future service base in 

each of the locations. We are awaiting confirmation from all the buildings not owned by MCC 

that suitable space can be made available and the likely costs. The shortlist is shown below: 

  

Abergavenny: 

• Abergavenny Community Centre 

• Melville Theatre 

• Tudor Street 

Monmouth: 

• Bridges Centre  

• Monnowvale Health and Social Care facility 

• Overmonnow Family Learning Centre 

 

 

8.8  The next stage is to seek the views of people receiving the service, their families and My 

Day My Life colleagues on the short list and arrive at the best possible option for a service 

Page 8



base in both Monmouth and Abergavenny. An initial workshop is planned with people and 

families in August to undertake this.  

 

8.9 The service bases will offer a sense of belonging for people and the team as well as an 

environment where activities and opportunities can be held.  The bases will always be in 

addition to people joining in community activities in other community buildings and locations. 

 

9.  EQUALITY AND FUTURE GENERATIONS EVALUATION (INCLUDES SOCIAL JUSTICE, 

SAFEGUARDING AND CORPORATE PARENTING): 

 

9.1  An Integrated Impact Assessment has been undertaken and is attached as Appendix 7.  

 

9.2  A summary from Section 8 of the Integrated Impact Assessment identifying the significant 

positive and negative impacts is detailed below. 

 

Positive Impact 

The independent review recommendations and the implementation plan will enable us to 

build and strengthen the service for the future.  The review has been produced with full 

collaboration with stakeholders including people receiving the service and their families.  

Participation levels were high and included those with the most complex of needs.  The 

equality, diversity and inclusion needs of people was understood as part of the review and 

informed the development of the recommendations for tor the future of the service. The 

review was based on the established values and principles of My Day, My Life to enable 

people with a learning disability to develop and pursue their individual aspirations within 

every day, community settings supported by their own networks.  The recommendations 

for the future will support in the creation of connected, prosperous and resilient 

communities, whilst ensuring collaborative and inclusive practice. 

 

Negative Impacts  

It is possible that the implementation of some of the recommendations may create anxiety 

and uncertainty for people receiving the service, their families and the staff team due to it 

signalling change.  The recommendations developing a more flexible service which may 

have an impact on the size and terms of conditions of the current establishment include 

also may identify the need for a smaller or different staff team, which could impact on the 

primarily female staffing team.  

 

 
10.  REASONS: 

 

10.1  The review provides a comprehensive assessment of the current service and sets out a 

vision for its future direction with recommendations for how this can be achieved.  

 

10.2  The development of the My Day Life service as set out in the recommendations will ensure 

that the service returns to its core My Day My Life principles, restores the positive aspects 

of the service which were in place previously and positively responds to the concern 

amongst participants, families, and employees.  

 

Page 9



10.3  A re-invigorated and refocussed service is needed which focuses on supporting people to 

take part in community activities and helping services to become genuinely more person-

centred. This will improve the opportunities people with learning disabilities have and their 

participation in meaningful activities centred around personal goals and development. 

 

10.4  Implementation of the recommendations will result in a modernised service which has the 

right ethos and values, is fit for the future, and delivers high quality support.  

 

11.  RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: 

 

11.1  The majority of the costs associated with the implementation of the recommendation will be 

met from within the My Day My Life service budget, with the potential exception of: 

• Any capital costs relating to works required to ensure the future service bases are 

accessible and fit for purpose.  

• Potential redundancy costs arising from the redesign and restructure. 

12.  CONSULTEES: 

  

 Jane Rodgers - Chief Officer, Social Care & Health 

 Jenny Jenkins – Head of Adult Services 

 Nicholas Keyse - Acting Head of Landlord Services  

 

13.  BACKGROUND PAPERS: 

 

• Appendix 1 Practice Solutions Review of My Day My Life Report 

• Appendix 2 Summary of Public Consultation  

• Appendix 3 Implementation Plan Summary 

• Appendix 4 Weekly Activities  

• Appendix 5 Pen Pictures   

• Appendix 6 Buildings Feasibility Report 

• Appendix 7 Integrated Impact Assessment   

 

AUTHOR:   

 

Ceri York Service Manager Commissioning and Disability Services Manager 

 

CONTACT DETAILS: 

 

 Tel:   

 E-mail:  ceriyork@monmouthshire.gov.uk  

 

 

 

 

Page 10

mailto:ceriyork@monmouthshire.gov.uk


 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

My Day My Life 
Service Review 

 

Report produced for Monmouthshire County Council 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Authors: Ainsley Bladon, Becky Holmes & Mark John-Williams 

Practice Solutions Ltd  

March 2023 

 

Page 11



My Day My Life Service Review 

 

2 

Contents 
1. Introduction ............................................................................................................................................... 3 

2. The history of the My Day My Life Service in North and Central Monmouthshire ................................... 6 

3. What people told Us: My Day My Life participants................................................................................... 9 

4. What people told us: family members .................................................................................................... 14 

5. What people told us: employees in the service ...................................................................................... 16 

6. What people told us: other council employees and community organisations ..................................... 20 

7. Conclusions .............................................................................................................................................. 22 

8. Recommendations and next steps .......................................................................................................... 23 

Appendix A: Participant Letter (Workshops) ................................................................................................... 26 

Appendix B: Engagement Dates ...................................................................................................................... 27 

Appendix C: Sharing Our Findings ................................................................................................................... 28 

 
  

Page 12



My Day My Life Service Review 

 

3 

1. Introduction 
Monmouthshire County Council asked Practice Solutions Ltd. to undertake an independent review of the 

My Day My Life service, which provides day support for people in North and Central Monmouthshire 

(Abergavenny and Monmouth areas). 

The review is grounded in the key principles of voice and control, prevention and early intervention, well-

being and co-production set out by the Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014.  

This report is about what we did and what people told us. It also includes recommendations to the council 

about the future for the My Day My Life service and how it should be delivered.  

What is in this report? 

• A history of the service.  

• What people told us. 

• Recommendations about what the council should do next. 

What did we do? 

We read reports and documents that told us about the history of the service. 

We met with the council to understand more about the My Day My Life service. The council gave us a list of 

all the people who might want to talk with us about their views, experiences and opinions.  

It was agreed that we would contact people from different groups.  

• People who use the My Day My Life service now and their families. 

• People who used the activity centres before Covid.  

• People who might use the service in the future. 

• People who work for the service now. 

• Other people who work in the council and know about the service. 

• People who have jobs at other community agencies that work with the service. 

Between December 2022 and February 2023, we talked to people in different ways so that there were no 

barriers to getting fully involved in the review.  

• Meeting with people who use the service and their families in person. to talk about what they feel 

and think about the service. We visited Abergavenny and Monmouth on six different days. 

• Holding two workshops to understand more about participants, including what they like to do and 

what is important to them. 

• Meeting with staff in person and on the computer (using video conferencing) to understand their 

thoughts and views. 

• Asking people who used to drop into the service to complete a survey and share their experiences.  

• Hearing from families about young people who might use the service in future so that we know 

more about their interests and hopes for the future. 

 

  

Page 13



My Day My Life Service Review 

 

4 

We used various ways to communicate. 

• Sending easy read and picture photo symbol invitations and inviting participants to bring along 

someone close to them if they wished.  

• Using visual aids and creative forms of expression. 

• Asking participants to bring photos and items that show what is important to them, working with 

chart paper, markers, and sticky notes.  

• Having shared conversations about what and who is important in individual lives through person-

centred and simple community mapping tools. 

The council has asked us to make recommendations about what further action is needed. Once we had 

looked at all the evidence and considered what would be most helpful, we sent our list of 

recommendations to all the people we had spoken to, as well as those who did not speak to us during the 

engagement period. This was to make sure that they agreed with the recommendations in this report.  

We then finished writing our independent report. It will be given to the council which may ask other people 

for their opinions before deciding what to do next. 

Who took part – participants in My Day My Life 

We spoke to: 

• 4 out of 12 people who used to drop into the centres completed surveys 

• 2 people who used to participate in My Day My Life attended in person events with their siblings. 

• 6 out of 11 current participants in Abergavenny attended in person events 

• 9 out of 11 current participants in Monmouthshire took part.  6 attended in person events, 2 

people were represented by family members and 1 person gave comments by phone 

• 2 out of 6 people of transition age were represented by family members 

Overall, out of the 41 people we contacted, 23 chose to take part in the review (56%) 

Current participants were the highest attendees, at 68% attendance rate 

We also spoke to family members, community organisation employees, and other Monmouthshire County 

Council staff such as social workers and managers.  More detail can be found in the table below 

 

 

 

Page 14



My Day My Life Service Review 

 

5 

 

 

Participants Family Members Employees of 
MDML 

Other 
Monmouthshire 

Council employees 

Community 
Organisation 
employees 

23 out of 40 
contacted 

participants took 
part in the review 

15 17 9 4 

 

What happened next? 

The council has asked us to make recommendations about what further action is needed. Once we had 

looked at all the evidence and considered what would be most helpful, we sent our list of 

recommendations to all the people we had spoken to during the engagement period, as well as those who 

did not speak to us. This was to make sure that they agreed with the recommendations in this report.  

We then finished writing our independent report. It will be given to the council which may ask other people 

for their opinions before deciding what to do next. 

  

Who took part in the review?

Participants MDML Staff MCC employees Family Members Other org employees

Page 15



My Day My Life Service Review 

 

6 

2. The history of the My Day My Life Service in North 

and Central Monmouthshire 

How the My Day My Life service started 

We learned a lot about the service.  

Before 2014, the council had a day centre. People visited a building between 10am and 3pm Monday to 

Friday and they did different activities together. Mostly, all the participants did the same activities. 

In 2014, the council decided to do things differently. This meant using a person-centred approach with 

decisions about which activities to do and where, based on people’s strengths and what matters to them. 

The principles of the new service are set out in the box below. 

 

The new way of doing things meant that people still did some activities in buildings, but they also went out 

more into their communities.  

Participants were able to choose the way they spent their day - doing things that were most important and 

meaningful to them with the help of a support worker where necessary.  

People were able to enjoy activities at a range of community venues, such as Dance Blast, gardening, and 

running a community café. There were also My Day My Life hubs, which had on-site pastimes like art and 

pottery. 

This was a big change for everyone. Staff received training to help with the new way of working and the 

council had advice from an expert in person-centred planning to make sure it got things right.  

Page 16



My Day My Life Service Review 

 

7 

The service was looking to introduce a six-steps approach. 

1) Ask permission. 

2) Meet with those who are important. 

3) Ask different questions (like ‘what matters to you’ / ‘what is your best life’). 

4) Look at complementary and supplementary solutions (making connections and building 

relationships). 

5) Make it happen. 

6) Review / reflect. 

Moving forward with a completely new way of working has been a long journey for participants and their 

families and staff members alike. The service began operating social enterprises like a print shop and café, 

which gave participants valuable job skills, alongside a range of social, health and wellbeing and expressive 

activities.  

A service review in 2019 highlighted that, while the new service philosophy had created these new 

opportunities, it also presented challenges.  

By March 2020, everyone had moved away from a traditional day service, with some success in helping 

people become more independent. The range of new activities included touch trust, yoga, and tea dances. 

The Abergavenny hub was closed two days a week, and the two Monmouth hubs had combined, as more 

people accessed mainstream community activities. 

During the Covid-19 pandemic (2020-2022) 

With the onset of national Covid-19 pandemic restrictions from March 2020, all public buildings needed to 

close temporarily.  

During this time, people were offered individual support on a priority basis. Those living in supported 

accommodation received a service in their home. Because of restrictions, people were mostly going out for 

walks or for coffee when the shops were open. All over Wales, people were not allowed to meet. Some 

staff members and participants were shielding. During the pandemic, many newer staff were redeployed or 

moved to other jobs.  

This meant that the usual My Day My Life service was very different for a long period of time. 

After the Covid-19 pandemic (2022-2023) 

The council decided that people living in supported housing should continue receiving support from staff at 

their home, who could take them out rather than having a different support worker through My Day My 

Life. These individuals were not included in the review. 

Far fewer people are now using the service. As of June 2022, over 50% fewer people were involved than 

before the pandemic. For this reason, there are now too many employees and most are working a few 

hours each week. Some staff are also working in the Individual Support Service (ISS), which has more 

participants. 

When the restrictions were lifted, the buildings remained temporarily closed while the council considered 

next steps. It commissioned this review. 

Community activities have started again, although not all of them re-opened after Covid-19.  

  

Page 17



My Day My Life Service Review 

 

8 

Other things to know. 

There are other services for people with learning disabilities in North and Central Monmouthshire. These 

include: 

• The Individual Support Service: This is much like My Day My Life. It helps people with their short-

term goals, like being more independent and doing things like taking the bus or learning to cook. 

People meet with a support worker and work together to achieve these goals. The main difference 

is that My Day My Life is a longer-term service and the Individual Support Service has many more 

participants. 

• My Mates: This is a social group run by the council that arranges activities which people can attend 

independently or with their support worker. The goal is making friendships and close personal 

relationships. It has  won a Social Care Wales award for innovation. 

• Community organisations: There is a range of organisations and charities available for individuals 

with learning disabilities such as People First, Growing Space, Dance Blast, the Bridges Centre, and 

employment agencies. Some are sponsored by the council and others are independent. 

• Direct Payments: Under this scheme, people receive money from social services to employ their 

own support privately from whoever they choose. 

• Supported Living: This is housing for people with learning disabilities, with the focus on being as 

independent as possible. 

 

 

  

Page 18



My Day My Life Service Review 

 

9 

3. What people told us: My Day My Life participants 
Practice Solutions contacted 40 individuals by phone and letters were sent regarding events. Over half of 

current participants in the My Day My Life service chose to meet with us, to talk in person. Four people 

were represented by  parents because they were not available on activity days.  

Of those who could not participate, this was usually because they were unwell or very busy during the 

Christmas period. We held additional events and workshops in January and February to better understand 

what people wanted from the service. 

After the engagement activities, we then sent emails or easy read letters to all participants (even those 

who couldn’t make the in-person meetings). Our draft recommendations were shared with them, giving 

everyone a final chance to comment about whether or not they agreed with our suggestions. 

 

• In total, 15/22 current participants took part in the review (68%). 

• 6 out of 11 current participants in Abergavenny (55%) met with us in person.  

• 9 out of 11 current participants in Monmouthshire (82%) met with us in person and one person 

provided comments by telephone. 

• We also spoke with 2 families of young adults who are in transition.  

• We had 4 surveys returned from people who used to drop into the service, out of 12 that we’d 

written to.  We also spoke to 2 previous participants in the programme who accompanied siblings.  

  

‘My Day My Life’ Engagement Workshops 

Within the workshops we wanted to create opportunities for more informal conversation, moving 

away from an interview situation. This enabled us to get to know people in a more relaxed way. 

Because ‘My Day My life’ tries to be a person-centred and community-focused service, we decided to 

use similar approaches in the workshops. 

We focused on 3 themes: 

• What are your passions and interests and what do people like and admire about you? (Based 

on the ‘one page profile’ approach) 

• What is your community? What are the important places and faces in your life? We used a 

‘community mapping’ poster to record people’s responses. 

• What does a good life and service look like for you? What would you like to see? 

In this way, we were able to have a positive, engaging and meaningful session, where we got to know 

the people who use the service and learned about what makes them tick, what works for them and 

what is important to them. 

Page 19



My Day My Life Service Review 

 

10 

Using the computer, Drumming, 

Glass Painting, Art, Office 

activities, Radio, Drawing, 

Socialising with friends, 

community Cafe 

What were your favourite activities? 

Previous My Day My Life participants 

We provided a survey to some of the previous My Day My Life participants who used to drop in at the day 

centres. 4 out of 12 people completed the surveys. Here is what they said. 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

I was really satisfied with the service it 

provided. 

What would you like to be happening  

at MDML in the future? 

- It was a safe place to be 

- the other people that went 

and the activities 

- I liked doing my artwork, and 

socialising with my friends 

- Very good time in the hub 

What did you like most about MDML? 

What did you not like about MDML? 

- 3 people stated that there was 

nothing they did not like 

 

- They stopped some of my 

favourite activities but they 

moaned when we went on the 

computers 

 

I felt I was filling my day with worthwhile activities. 

- If the My Day My Life re-opened, I 

could continue seeing my friends and 

doing my artwork 

- Going back to how it was before 

- I would like MDML to continue, for I 

really appreciated the support 

- More activities and days out 

 

Page 20



My Day My Life Service Review 

 

11 

Current My Day My Life participants. 

Experiences of the service 

People taking part in the My Day My Life service have many different interests! Here are some they shared 

with us: 

 

Participants spoke about all the activities they have enjoyed while using the My Day My Life service. These 

included job skills like running a print shop and café, doing pottery, attending events, taking part in social 

activities with their friends, going to the theatre, creating a fashion show, pursuing hobbies and going to 

the cinema or bowling .  

Participants expressed disappointment with the range of activities currently available. They spoke about 

missing their friends who used to do gardening and other group activities with them. They also described 

the loss of job skills activities which are no longer running. 

The impact of Covid-19  

The impact of restrictions during the pandemic and building closures has been considerable. Participants 

spoke about missing their friends and feeling lonely during this period. While the situation was not 

avoidable, many had hoped to get back to their routines following the lifting of restrictions and they feel 

dismayed that buildings have not re-opened and many activities are not available. 

One participant said they were taken off the service list because they did not want to do the activities on 

offer, even though their review noted that the only reason for their preferred activities not happening was 

the restrictions in place. Another person said no one called and that made them feel sad. 

What people did not like so much about the My Day My Life service  

There were areas where some people wished things could be different. 

One person spoke about feeling upset when they tried to see their friend who lives in supported 

accommodation after the pandemic but the friend was not allowed out - the support worker in the housing 

scheme was not available). 

Some people expressed concern about the costs of taking part in the new service model as participants pay 

for their own activities of choice. 

One participant commented that “management do not listen to you and never return your calls.” 

Page 21



My Day My Life Service Review 

 

12 

Future vision 

In our workshops, participants created murals showing activities in their town as well as describing what 

good looks like. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Here are some of the ideas.  

• Schools and colleges should know about the service.  

• There should be meaningful work for individuals like the craft studio we used to have. 

• There should be group activities as well as individual ones. 

• The public should be able to come in, look at the arts and crafts and go to the café. 

• It should be in the middle of town.  

• It should be clear what the service is. 

• There should be some kind of transport. 

• There should be a place where people can interact. 

• A good service would include arts and crafts. 

• All the services should link better. 

• Communication should be better.  

• There should be a service map that shows what services are available, to whom and where.  

• Participants should be involved in working with the council to design services together. 

Participants asked to have access to building(s) that can have a number of functions, including:  

- being a meeting place. 

- having somewhere to practice skills.  

- knowing there is somewhere to go that is safe and accessible.  

What was most important was to have a range of activities and outings / events that are meaningful and 

stimulating and that promote socialising with others. 

Participants felt a mix of time out in groups or individually as well as accessing indoor activities was 

important - some in community venues and some in designated My Day My Life venues. 

  

We should all attend the meetings about  

My Day My Life as the changes affect us. 

Page 22



My Day My Life Service Review 

 

13 

Young people who may access the My Day My Life service in future. 

The transition experience 

For young people aged 16-18 who have a learning disability, support is provided to help them make the 

transition from children services to adult services. This includes having a social worker who helps the young 

person decide their next steps, whether this is further education, employment or moving towards 

independent or supported living. 

Some young people may choose to access the My Day My Life service or the Individual Support Service. The 

families we spoke to were unsure about what the My Day My Life service involves, having not received 

information about it from the council. 

Future vision 

For young people, there were different ideas about which activities to do. Families told us they would not 

wish to access a traditional day centre model, and they would probably be more interested in evening and 

weekend activities with people of the same age (especially if they are continuing with studies or working).  

Families indicated it would be useful to spend more time talking to transition-age young people about the 

different options, so that they can make informed decisions. Themes they considered important were 

employment or activities oriented towards life skill development - like work experience in catering, charity 

work, work with animals and learning more about how to manage money, stay in good health and about 

rights. 

Some examples of the activities for those aged 18-25 taking place in the community include outdoor and 

wildlife activities, camping, climbing and canoeing. These are quite different to the activities currently 

taking place within the My Day My Life service and they should be considered when thinking about what 

younger participants might want. 

 

Families of younger people noted that transport can be an issue, particularly when parents work during the 

day and have use of the car. 

Communication was felt to be very important – families were not sure what was available. 

There was some anxiety about what comes next for young people making the transition to adult services. 

Families we spoke to were unclear what that would mean. One family member noted that their respite was 

cancelled suddenly as their child had turned 18. They did not find out until the respite home called and told 

them the day before her last session. This came as a real shock. 

  

It should be someone’s job to tell you what’s available and to 

connect everything up. I mostly find things out by looking online 

and talking to people but never hear from the council. 

Page 23



My Day My Life Service Review 

 

14 

4. What people told us: family members 
15 family members took part in the review. Some met with us in person and others attended workshops 

with My Day My Life participants. 

After we had agreed the recommendations, we shared them with family members who spoke to us on their 

own, to make sure we had captured their views correctly.  

Experiences of the My Day My Life service 

Families strongly supported about the idea of individual goals and support for participants, and finding 

meaningful activities to do. 

Some families said that having only a couple of hours a week is not sufficient. It does not enable the 

participant or families to have healthy time apart from one another and outside the house. 

Families feel that, since the pandemic, the service has not returned to how it was before and that the 

quality of the service is not as good. 

Some families had concerns about how they would afford to keep paying for activities, given the cost-of-

living crisis.  

The impact of Covid-19 

Family members maintained  that things had been very difficult since the pandemic and the changes made 

to the My Day My Life service. There had been a lack of communication from the council about what was 

happening and big adjustments had to be made when hours and support had been cut during and after the 

pandemic. 

One person noted that, during the pandemic, their family received 3 phone calls over 2 years. One 

participant was offered a zoom course / walk around town but did not want this. While acknowledging that 

restrictions prevented ‘business as usual’, participants felt annoyed and frustrated.  

There were few opportunities available in the community. Staff often had to adapt and provide more 

urgent support like shopping for essentials. Some families said that they felt abandoned during this period. 

Many parents felt that activities have been less meaningful since the end of the pandemic, with limited 

variety available. Hours of support are much shorter since 1:1 replaced the day centre model of service. 

Some families felt that potentially enjoyable opportunities could not be made available because of staff 

reluctance to take part. One parent commented that ‘the staff refuse to take my child anywhere as they 

find them difficult’. 

Since the pandemic, families have been feeling let down by lack of access to buildings. ‘My son does not 

like just walking around the park every week, that is his only time out of the house sometimes and he 

misses his friends’. 

Future vision 

Family members agreed that a mixture of 1:1 and more group / social activities is needed, both to maximise 

independence and to support personal growth and development. 

Page 24



My Day My Life Service Review 

 

15 

Families felt that there should be a specific building for the service but participants should also go out and 

enjoy community life. Buildings should be able to accommodate care needs such as blending food and 

toileting as currently this is a barrier to being away from home. 

Families regarded integrating with the community as important. It enables people to learn how to speak 

normally to individuals with disabilities. Not everyone understands that you need to talk to the person in 

the wheelchair rather than to a staff member who is with them. This can be changed by having local fun 

events and activities that everyone can do together. 

Buildings 

My Day My Life has used many different buildings over the years. We asked review participants which 

buildings they like the best. There were a lot of suggestions!  

 

Family members told us what is most important in any building that the council chooses to use.  

• A place to feel safe and ‘like I belong’. 

• A place that is ‘our own’. 

• Appropriate toilet facilities with changing places. 

• Different spaces for activities like a kitchen and garden. 

• Located where all the action is in the town centre, not out of the way. 

• Outdoor space for BBQs and activities. 

• A meeting place for participants but also used by community / the public. 

• Somewhere with a sensory room. 

• A balance of communal areas and quiet spaces. 

 

  

Shire Hall 
Bridges Centre, Drybridge House 
Park Street Abergavenny 
Monmouth hub / library 
St Thomas Church Hall 
Tudor Street 
Local village halls 
Rockfield Community Centre 
Mardi Park 
Over Monnow 

Page 25



My Day My Life Service Review 

 

16 

5. What people told us: Employees in the service 
We wrote to staff and contacted them by email / letter to invite them to take part. 

We spoke to staff during 6 ‘in person’ days and online over several days. 

We then sent emails or letters to all staff sharing our draft recommendations, to give everyone a chance to 

comment. 

• 6 Monmouth staff took part in conversations – 5 chose to take part by phone or video call  

and 1 in person.  

9 Abergavenny staff took part in conversations – 8 opted to take part in person, and 1 by phone. 

2 service managers were involved. 

Experiences of working for the My Day My Life service 

Most staff working for My Day My Life are part-time. Some are semi-retired or work just a few hours a 

week. Since the end of the pandemic, there have been fewer participants and extra staff. Most staff said 

that they are happy with their existing hours and they would not want to change them by working after 

hours or on weekends. Some people felt that new hours would be acceptable. 

We asked staff about the shift away from the traditional day service model to 1:1 support and a brand new 

way of working. This had been a difficult transition for some of those who had worked in a day centre for a 

very long time. However, employees spoke positively about the changes. They described how each person 

had a review when the new service model was introduced and some new activities were identified, such as 

cooking and seaside visits. Activities that used to involve everyone (such as aromatherapy and arts and 

crafts) were enjoyable but not everyone in the group wanted to do them. Staff felt that it was a positive 

move to introduce a more mixed approach. Older participants generally found the transition to support 

work more challenging than the younger ones did, partly because they saw activities as more of a way to 

pass the time than something more meaningful. 

When asked what it was like work for the service, staff had a number of positive comments. 

• Staff spoke warmly about their relationships with participants and many had worked with the 

council for many years. They value the time they spend with individuals and feel they are making a 

positive difference in that person’s life. 

• Staff felt positive about the changed model that had been introduced and thought that it was time 

to move forward with the My Day My Life approach. 

• Staff enjoyed facilitating activities.  

There were some aspects of the work they would change. 

• Since the pandemic, regular team meetings and supervision had not taken place, or were hard to 

attend as many people only work some days each week. 

• Planning new activities is difficult because sometimes staff are only assigned participants a day or 

two beforehand. 

• Lone working and not being connected to a team can be isolating and demotivating.  

Staff reported that they are feeling anxious about the future. There are fewer participants and not enough 

hours. They worry that they might lose their jobs. 

Page 26



My Day My Life Service Review 

 

17 

Employee well-being will be very important going forward. Clear, positive and compassionate leadership 

must be in place to make changes. It is important that leaders create a culture of team working and provide 

training and development opportunities for individual staff with appropriate supervision and support. 

Person-centred planning  

 

Staff members embraced the concept of person-centred planning. However, they have found it quite 

difficult to put into practice, for various reasons.  

• There is no clear process in place for care planning - e.g., plans are not documented and many staff 

members do not have access to computers or email addresses, to communicate with the social 

work team. 

• Case notes do not record activities and so it is difficult to chart progress towards goals or even 

share information about which activities an individual enjoys. This means that new staff members 

have no records that would enable them to be aware of an individual’s likes and needs or any 

concerns. 

• Because they work part-time, staff members felt there were not enough opportunities for planning.  

• The approach has been quite ad hoc, asking a person on the day what they want to do. Some staff 

members shared their perception that, because of their vulnerabilities, many participants will just 

say yes to whatever is suggested even if it is not something they enjoy or find meaningful.  

 

 

Risk assessment. 

Staff members advised us that they do not undertake risk assessments. Some of them said this was not 

necessary because it is important that participants are enabled to take positive risks. Another staff member 

noted that, if there was a particular risk for a person or if they were injured, then an assessment should be 

done.  

I can tell at a glance how the people I work with are feeling 

because we have worked together for such a long time. 

Page 27



My Day My Life Service Review 

 

18 

It is essential that risk assessment forms a proactive part of care planning for all participants, to identify any 

potential issues. All staff members should be aware of an individual’s risk factors when planning activities, 

with easy access to pertinent information such as physical health conditions. This does not mean that any 

activities with risk should be avoided but it does ensure that informed decisions can be taken and 

mitigation strategies can be put in place to reduce risk where it exists. For example, without being able to 

access the computer, how would a staff member know about a life-threatening food allergy when taking 

someone out for a meal? This issue must be addressed as a matter of urgency. 

Social workers do complete care plans for each individual but My Day My Life staff reported that, for the 

most part, they are not involved in this process. A referral for the service is received and the staff are then 

are assigned to participants. 

The impact of Covid-19 

The pandemic was a tough time for employees and participants. Some members of staff had to shield 

because of health conditions and others were redeployed to support critical activities relating to the 

pandemic. A few staff members spoke about how the lack of structure and routine was challenging. They 

reflected on how difficult it was for people they supported when they were unable to enjoy the usual 

activities. In particular, staff members were conscious of the impact on participants of not seeing friends. 

Staff members reported that, since Covid-19, fewer activities have been available. However, a brief review 

of community activities in North and Central Monmouthshire showed that there is a wide range of 

potential activities in place. Evidence for this was available from advertised activities online, leaflets in 

community hubs and public spaces, posters advertising events, and from speaking with community 

partners.  

Staff members note that the increased cost-of-living has been prohibitive for many people. They identified 

potential barriers to getting access to activities. 

• Inclement weather. 

• Transport restrictions – some employees do not drive and not all participants have access to a 

wheelchair-friendly car. Abergavenny staff have access to a pool car but this is not the case in 

Monmouth. 

• Staff are not always comfortable doing some activities because of their health limitations or 

inability to swim.  

• There is no activity schedule or central place to learn about what is happening locally. 

There did seem to be some confusion among staff members about access criteria to My Mates and whether 

participants can attend an activity without a support worker. 

The review made clear that there is not a consistent effort made to identify new opportunities. Staff in the 

service are  not regularly engaging with community partners in developing person-centred, bespoke 

activities based on individual needs and wishes. 

Future vision 

No staff members wanted to return to the traditional day centre model. All expressed a desire to have a 

mixed model, combining buildings-based and outreach support work. 

From an employee perspective, benefits to having bespoke buildings include: 

• participants seeing friends and having a meeting space; 

• somewhere to hold holiday and special events; 

Page 28



My Day My Life Service Review 

 

19 

• having storage for equipment needed for activities; 

• access to appropriate toileting / care facilities. 

Employees would like more assistance in identifying local activities and opportunities. They liked the idea of 

having an activities coordinator who could help them cater noy just for individual needs but also for group 

activities. 

Most employees supported in principle the idea of extending service hours, up to 7 days per week and in 

the evening. However, this is not currently reflected in the terms and conditions in employee contracts and 

it would require a review of individual circumstances. Many did not wish their own contracted hours to be 

changed. 

Staff noted that the council already has a good transport policy in place whereby families are responsible 

for transport to activities, in line with ideas about independent living. However, they thought it would be 

helpful to have a vehicle available with good wheelchair access when going with a group to other places, 

especially those further away. 

 

 

 

 

  

It felt emotional to reunite at our 

Christmas meal recently as so many 

had not seen each other for a long time 

Page 29



My Day My Life Service Review 

 

20 

6. What people told us: other council employees and 

community organisations 
We spoke with a range of other council employees associated with the service, including social workers and 

programme leads. We also asked 4 community organisation employees for their views. 

Other Council Employees  Social Workers  Community Organisation Staff  

5 4 4 

 

Experiences of the service 

Council employees felt that the service has gone off course since the pandemic. Many noted that 

participants used to really enjoy employment skills activities and also that the things people used to do 

seemed more purposeful. All felt more could be done to make use of activities that are available. 

Some people felt that the transition to a more person-centred approach had been difficult for some staff in 

the My Day My Life service. 

Council employees felt that there should be better communication between services and that positive 

leadership would help to bring together staff from across a range of services.  

Impact of Covid-19 

Council employees noted that, since the pandemic, there is limited evidence of participants meeting up 

with others. Most activities continue to centre on using local parks or cafés or going for walks, rather than 

the more novel activities seen when the service first developed. Some staff have expressed reluctance to 

undertake new activities like swimming or trampolining. This has limited the ability of the service to fulfil 

the needs of those who wish to take part in these pursuits. It was noted that some staff in the service have 

good ideas for novel activities which would be fun as a group - such as adaptive sailing, paddle boarding at 

the reservoir or going to shows out of town. Because of 1:1 allocated time slots and staff availability, in 

practice these types of activities were not taking place.  

Council employees expressed concern that, if they are not invited to develop their own ideas using 

appropriate person-centred planning, some participants will just say ‘yes’ to most suggestions.  

Social workers have stopped referring people to the My Day My Life service because they feel the 

Individual Support Service has more to offer now and that the two are very similar. They feel employees in 

the Individual Support Service are more willing to do a wider range of activities. 

 

Future vision 

In common with other people we spoke to, everyone was in favour of having buildings and also doing 

individual and group activities out in the community. They felt there is a need to ‘think outside the box’ and 

find creative new ideas. The staffing model should have flexible hours and clear job descriptions. The 

service should consider roles such as activities coordinator, day centre manager, and outreach manager. 

Each employee should have responsibility for some of these functions.  

Time moves on but people don’t always move with it. 

Page 30



My Day My Life Service Review 

 

21 

Employees in the council felt that MDML staff should be offered more training and support. Social workers 

indicated that having a better understanding of positive behavioural support approaches would help 

support workers in their jobs and to help them feel more confident in different situations. 

Many employees noted concerns about the lack of recording and planning. They thought it essential that 

employees of My Day My Life document their time spent with individuals and that they record individual 

progress, concerns or issues.  

Social work teams and My Day MY Life staff should work more closely together to do care planning and 

reviews with individuals and their families. 

The programme should be designed with everyone together and include the views of the wider learning 

disability community such as community organisations and charities as well as the health team 

(occupational therapists, speech and language therapists and so on). Council employees also felt that more 

could be done to improve the offer of support to others with neurodevelopmental conditions like autism 

and Asperger’s syndrome, who currently do not have access to this type of person-centred planning. 

Community organisations 

Community organisation employees felt that, since the pandemic, My Day My Life has lost its way. 

Participants are taking part in fewer activities and many of the people who used to use the service are now 

being supported in their accommodation settings and no longer attend community venues as they once 

did. There is a concern that these individuals may not be enjoying the same opportunities because of 

staffing pressures. 

Staff in community organisations felt that both buildings-based and 1:1 / group support are needed. They 

hope to continue being involved with My Day My Life participants in future and want to work together with 

staff from the service. 

 

 

 

  

Page 31



My Day My Life Service Review 

 

22 

7. Conclusions 
Initially, when the council moved away from providing traditional day services, this was challenging for both 

staff, participants and families. However, they responded well to the challenges involved, such as working 

differently and having a new routine. The shift did happen and with positive results. Everyone spoke about 

a time when the My Day My Life service was offering a good variety of individual and group activities and 

support. 

The programme achieved much in the first few years, including running social enterprise activities. There 

was evidence that individuals had moved towards greater independence.  

Over time and especially with the impact of Covid-19, the service drifted away from its original principles 

and the number of participants decreased.  

Our review found a lot of concern amongst participants, families and employees, we well as uncertainty 

and a lack of clear direction. The decline in participant numbers appears to be matched by a loss of 

opportunities and ambition. Participants and their families have been affected badly by this drift and the 

ongoing closure of buildings. Staff are looking for leadership and a renewed commitment from the council.   

All this is partly a consequence of the need to find ways of responding to unprecedented change for people, 

communities and public services such as local authorities.  

The problems have been made worse by the coming together of numerous challenges such as the cost-of-

living crisis, resource limitations and the lasting impact of the pandemic. Limited resources are having a 

serious impact on people’s daily lives as well as the availability of support services. Participants, families, 

and employees are feeling very anxious about the future. 

In response, the council will need urgently to take steps that will restore and develop the positive aspects 

of the My Day My Life service. This will require a commitment to making timely plans and decisions, 

providing positive leadership and implementing practical changes. The programme of reform should be 

developed in full partnership with participants, their families, staff and stakeholders. 

The new service model must fit within a wider strategic offer for people with learning disabilities in 

Monmouthshire, which focuses upon supporting people to take part in community activities and helping 

services to become genuinely more person-centred. 

The evidence from our review is that a return to the core My Day My Life principles which were actively 

pursued prior to the Covid-19 pandemic would win widespread support and make a major contribution to 

improving the opportunities available to people with learning disabilities and support their participation in 

meaningful activities centred around personal goals and development.   

  

Page 32



My Day My Life Service Review 

 

23 

8. Recommendations and next steps  

1. The council will need to take steps to restore and develop the positive 

aspects of the My Day My Life service.  

This will require a commitment to making timely plans and decisions, implementing practical changes, and 

providing positive leadership. The programme of reform should be developed in full partnership with 

participants, their families, staff and stakeholders. It must fit within a wider strategy and offer for people 

with learning disabilities in Monmouthshire, one which focuses upon supporting people to take part in 

community activities and helping services to become genuinely more person-centred. 

2. The My Day My Life service should return to the principles it set out at the 

start. 

The council needs to work with people to put in place and maintain a clear process for person-centred 

planning. It will be important that My Day My Life staff, social workers and colleagues from other 

organisations work more closely together. A joint training programme would help to produce a more 

unified approach.  

The process should include having tools that will help people to communicate what they want and need 

(including easy read, sign language, creative activities, using computers and photo symbols). Families 

should be involved in these ‘what matters to me’ conversations but the focus should be on the individual, 

their goals and strengths. 

3. The council should consider the range of opportunities and activities that 

will be made available to participants in the service. 

All staff should be involved in this enterprise but the council may want to consider appointing a full-time, 

dedicated activities coordinator(s). Their responsibilities would include providing support for ongoing 

engagement with communities in the work of scoping new opportunities and in preparing regular 

communications and updates on available activities and events. This will help to support individuals in 

making choices based on their interests and goals, as well as identifying any gaps where new services may 

need to be commissioned.  

Activities might include: 

• Finding paid work  

• Volunteering  

• Social events and seeing friends  

• Sports  

• Healthy living  

• Community events  

• Entertainment  

• Travelling out of area for events when needed.  

• Being as independent as possible by learning new skills 

The activities coordinator could also support staff to develop and maintain relationships with community 

partners and to explore new ideas creatively with participants. Staff should be supported in making 

available a wide range of activities. 

 

Page 33



My Day My Life Service Review 

 

24 

4. The service should adopt more flexible working hours  

The service should be offered in the evenings and on weekends, rather than a traditional 9-5 daytime 

model. It is essential that staff are involved from the start in considering the implications, especially as it is 

likely to involve adjustments to employee terms and conditions.  

5. The service needs to have stable, compassionate and person-centred 

leadership. 

To make the service as successful as possible, the council should focus on making sure that employees feel 

supported and productive through:  

• Effective communication and regular team meetings in both the Monmouth and Abergavenny 

areas. 

• Regular supervision. 

• Training and development opportunities, including person-centred care planning training. 

• Creating an environment where staff can get understanding, respect and recognition that they are 

valued, so that they can reach their full potential and do their best at work. 

Refreshed job descriptions and terms and conditions may be needed to reflect this commitment by the 

council and to protect time for development and support. 

6. The programme will have a clear process to document what is happening. 

This means that: 

• All staff have access to and know how to use a computer. 

• Records of each contact are kept and made accessible.  

• Risk assessments take place, based on individual needs. 

• Employees have immediate access to care plans and can see important information like health 

conditions and allergies. 

• Regular reviews take place with the individual, their family, their social worker, My Day My Life 

staff and other important people involved in their care and support. 

7. The service should have safe and accessible buildings.  

Everyone said that the people using the My Day My Life service need to have available to them safe and 

accessible buildings. While many potential buildings were identified, we heard differing views on whether 

there should be one fixed building or an option of using rooms in several buildings throughout the week – 

for example, having a Tuesday cookery workshop and running a café on weekends. 

There was concern that, without proper oversight, having spaces could result in a drift back towards more 

outdated ‘day centre’ models. It is essential, therefore, that the council engages closely with individual 

participants and their families in setting up and maintaining the new service model. 

 

The council should seek also to increase the number of public buildings and changing places that are 

appropriate for individuals who have physical health needs, so that anyone with a physical disability feels 

able to spend more time out in their communities. 

Page 34



My Day My Life Service Review 

 

25 

8. People and families should be meaningfully involved in making changes. 

Now that we know more about the service and how it is running, the council will need to work very closely 

with people and families to co-design the new service. Using a co-production approach means people with 

a learning disability from the wider community should be involved too. The council should engage and 

consult regularly with everyone who might have a view to understand what they think, and to share ideas 

and suggestions. The most important voices need to be individuals who have learning disabilities and their 

families, as they are the ones who will receive the support. This also includes young people who may use 

the service in future. It means working together with people across the rest of the local authority to 

understand their views and to put in place a consistent service offer across the county.  

9. Monmouthshire should think about all learning disability services  

The council should consider how all their different services can work better together. This means thinking 

about  

• Whether the Individual Support Service and My Day My Life should be combined because they are 

very similar and there are not enough participants in the My Day My Life service.  

• How support is offered to people of different ages. 

• How people can access different types of support without barriers - for example, attending a My 

Mates activity, or joining in a special celebration event, or accessing activities from supported 

accommodation. Many of these options will not have any costs but will increase the range of things 

people can do. 

10. There should be a map of all the services in Monmouthshire 

Most people we spoke to said they were unsure about the full range of services and support that the 

council offers. It would be great to have a map of these and a regular activities calendar, so people know 

what opportunities are available and how they can access them. This will help the public to understand 

what is happening and it will improve communication. 

Next Steps 

This report will now be shared with Monmouthshire County Council for review and action. 

 

 
 

 

The Practice Solutions team would like to thank everyone that took part in this review. We were 

really pleased with the level of engagement by all involved, and the depth of care everybody 

showed for ensuring that future Monmouthshire services for individuals with learning disabilities 

and their families are as great as they can be. 
 

  

Page 35



My Day My Life Service Review 

 

26 

Appendix A: Participant Letter (Workshops) 
 

 

 

 

Mark            Ainsley             Becky           Sherona 

JOIN US TO HAVE YOUR SAY ABOUT THE MY DAY MY LIFE PROGRAM! 

We are talking to people about the My Day My Life program. 

We want to know more about what’s important to you! 

We are holding a workshop – there will be creative activities and fun ways to share your ideas and get 

involved. 

There will also be coffee and cake. 

Bring along whoever you would like – please also bring small items or photos that represent your interests 

so we can learn more about you! 

 

WHEN: 12 and 13 January 2023 

WHERE:  

• 12th January 1.00pm to 3.30pm at St Michael’s Centre, 10a Pen-y-Pound Road, Abergavenny, NP7 

5UD 

• 13th January 10.00am to 12.30pm at Bridges, The Ballroom, Drybridge Park, Monmouth, NP25 5AS 

HOW: Email the team at [email] to book your spaces. 

Practice Solutions is an independent organisation that is working in partnership with Monmouthshire 

County Council to review the My Day, My Life Service. This is so that the council can continue to develop 

the service and to ensure that it is having the most benefit possible to you. We are writing to you as a 

participant of the My Day, My Life service to see if you would like to share your views with the team. 

As well as the workshop above you can also meet with a team member in person, one to one, to share your 

ideas – let us know if you would like a meeting. 

  

Page 36

mailto:sherona@practicesolutions-ltd.co.uk


My Day My Life Service Review 

 

27 

Appendix B: Engagement Dates 
We met with participants and their families as well as staff in person at both Abergavenny Town Hall 

(library) and Monmouth community hub on the following dates in late 2022 and early 2023. 

• 6th December  

• 15th December  

• 20th December  

• 12th January  

• 13th January  

• 6th February  

We also met with staff online on several dates between December and February based on individual 

participant availability. 

  

Page 37



My Day My Life Service Review 

 

28 

Appendix C: Sharing Our Findings 
We wrote out again to everyone that we had contacted to share with them what we had found after the 

engagement period ended – this included participants and families, employees and community partners. 

We shared easy-read version of the recommendations and asked people to let us know about any 

comments they had. All participants had pre-stamped return envelopes and all employees had emails. 

After posting out the draft recommendations in easy read format, 11 people provided additional comments 

- including 1 additional participant and 1 additional social worker, 2 family members and 4 employees of 

the council, plus 4 My Day My Life staff members (counted in the numbers above). Everyone was happy 

with our suggestions overall with no substantive changes made. 

SHARING MY IDEAS ABOUT THE SUGGESTIONS (feedback form posted out) 

This is what I thought of the suggestions 

 

 

 

 

This is what I liked about the suggestions 

 

 

 

 

 

This is what I would change about the suggestions 

 

 

 

 

 

Other ideas I have about My Day My Life  

 

Page 38



My Day, My Life Final Report Public Consultation  
 

A public consultation ran from the 6th to the 28th April on the recommendations 
contained in the final My Day, My Life Review Report.  The public consultation was held 
on the My Day, My Life pages of the website and linked from the Tudor Street QA 
page.  Copies of the final report were also shared directly with all individuals who 
currently receive My Day, My Life Services, and their families, plus those individuals 
and their families coming through transition.   
 
24 responses were received to the online public consultation on the My Day, My Life 
Review final report.  We received no easy read returns.  Respondents were largely 
from people who do not currently use the service (92%).  A full breakdown of 
respondents can be seen below. 

 

 
 
* has not previously received services from My Day, My Life and won't be receiving My Day, 
My Life Services in the future 
 

Respondents to the survey were given the opportunity to give their views on each of the 
recommendations and on the report more generally, these responses are summarised 
below. 
 

 
 
 

4%

17%

8%

4%

4%

42%

13%

8%

Survey Respondents

Person who currently uses My Day,
My Life services (1)

Family members of people who have,
currently use or may use the service
in the future (4)

Someone who has joined in on my
day my life activities previously (2)

Someone who has used MDML
previously (1)

Someone who may use services in the
future (1)

Member of the public* (10)

Previous employees (3)

Other** (2)

Page 39



Survey Responses 
 
Recommendation 1:  The council will need to take steps to restore and develop the 
positive aspects of the My Day My Life service. 

 

 
 
92% (22) of respondents agree or somewhat agree with this recommendation.   
Individuals who provided written feedback on this recommendation spoke of the need 
for a choice between hub based and community activities.  Respondents spoke of the 
need for facilitated activities daily, and for a return to some of the opportunities for 
enterprise activity or work opportunities.  There was a clear desire for a safe space for 
people to meet between activities. 
 
4 of 15 narrative comments specifically related to Tudor Street, and the need for this to 
reopen as a community hub.   
 
4 of 15 people who provided narrative comments spoke of the need for services that 
meet a wider group of people and those with more complex disabilities and people with 
mental health needs.  These groups of people are not currently eligible to meet My 
Day, My Life Services. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

88%

4%

4%

4%

Recommendation 1

Agree (21)

Somewhat Agree (1)

Neither Agree not disagree
(1)

Somewhat Disagree (0)

Disagree (1)

Page 40



Recommendation 2:  The My Day My Life service should return to the principles it set 
out at the start. 
 

 
 
Comments on this recommendation were limited and related to opportunities for people 
to feel part of their community and spend time with friends and develop independence 
skills.  There was a comment about missing going to a base (likely to relate to Tudor 
Street) and another around the need to review principles, promote service and move to 
the future.  

Recommendation 3:  The council should consider the range of opportunities and 

activities that will be made available to participants in the service. 
 

 
 

Support for this recommendation was nearly unanimous, with people talking of the 
need for a variety of activities to be on offer that meet the needs of different people.  
People spoke of the need for meeting the needs of people of all ages, with 
opportunities for enterprise and learning life skills. A smaller number suggested the 

84%

4%

4%
4%

4%

Recommendation 2

Agree (20)

Somewhat Agree (1)

Neither Agree not disagree
(1)

Somewhat Disagree (1)

Disagree (1)

96%

4%

Recommendation 3

Agree (23)

Somewhat Agree (0)

Neither Agree not disagree
(0)

Somewhat Disagree (0)

Disagree (1)

Page 41



council to review its offer to those who have more complex disabilities and medical 
needs, to ensure these are catered for and that sensory activities are on offer.  A 
comment was received asking for activities which everyone could join in on, not just 
those eligible for and receiving the service. 

Recommendation 4:  The service should adopt more flexible working hours 
 

 
 

People (in the main) were in support of more flexible hours, with people choosing the 

times and activities that suited them.  A comment was received that highlighted the 

importance of staff’s hours and needs not dictating how people receive the service.  

Again, a smaller number of people mentioned the need for a centre (one mentioned 

even in the evenings) where people could go that was safe and warm.  There was a 

smaller number of people who thought the service should remain as it; 9am-3/4pm. 

  

63%

25%

4%

4%

4%

Recommendation 4

Agree (15)

Somewhat Agree (6)

Neither Agree not disagree
(1)

Somewhat Disagree (1)

Disagree (1)

Page 42



Recommendation 5:  The service needs to have stable, compassionate, and person-

centred leadership. 
 

 

 

Person centred; compassionate leadership was seen as essential for the service.  
Previous employees felt teamwork was important with opportunities for colleagues to 
work together.  A comment was made for the need for managers to work with 
individuals who use the service a couple of times a year, to be better able to 
communicate with the individual who are supported.  Another comment highlighted the 
need for compassionate leadership from people with knowledge of a wider group of 
people with disabilities. 
 
Recommendation 6:  The programme will have a clear process to document what is 
happening 

 

Public comments beyond those who simply stated they agreed and one which stated all 

plans should be person centred, on this recommendation didn’t relate to the report 

content in the main, with the report speaking about day-to-day care planning and 

83%

4%

4%

9%

Recommendation 5

Agree (20)

Somewhat Agree (1)

Neither Agree not disagree
(1)

Somewhat Disagree (0)

Disagree (2)

92%

4%

4%

Recommendation 6

Agree (22)

Somewhat Agree (1)

Neither Agree not disagree
(1)

Somewhat Disagree (0)

Disagree (0)

Page 43



documentation.  Consultation respondents focused on the reopening of the hub, and 

the need for transparent communication with a wider group around the service changes 

and progress. 

Recommendation 7:  The service should have safe and accessible buildings. 

 

 
 

Respondents spoke of using existing buildings and stated the need to open Tudor 

Street.  Others spoke about the need for toilet facilities, and a space for meaningful 

activity with others including opportunities to develop life skills and one that is 

appropriate for users but not above and beyond. 

 

Recommendation 8:  People and families should be meaningfully involved in making 

changes. 

 

 
Predominantly respondents agreed with this recommendation, and written responses 

broadly supported this.   One comment stated a wider group of disabled people 

88%

8%

4%

Recommendation 7

Agree (21)

Somewhat Agree (2)

Neither Agree not disagree
(1)

Somewhat Disagree (0)

Disagree (0)

88%

4%

8%

Recommendation 8

Agree (21)

Somewhat Agree (1)

Neither Agree not disagree
(2)

Somewhat Disagree (0)

Disagree (0)

Page 44



should be involved, another felt the wider community should be and a further 

comment was made feeling that individuals would not be able to comment due to not 

understanding legislation.  A comment was received stating they should have been 

involved from the start; given all existing and potential My Day, My Life users were 

invited to consultation it could be assumed this again relates to the wider population. 

Recommendation 9:  Monmouthshire should think about all learning disability 

services 

 
 

Again, people were generally in agreement with this recommendation.  Some people 

spoke more widely than My Day, My Life about accessibility (or lack of) in wider council 

and community buildings, the need for improved education and learning opportunities 

with the right support and an improvement to the transition process.  One comment 

stated the review had demonstrated an extreme lack of provision in Abergavenny. 

 

Recommendation 10:  There should be a map of all the services in Monmouthshire 

 

 

92%

4%

4%

Recommendation 9

Agree (22)

Somewhat Agree (0)

Neither Agree not disagree
(1)

Somewhat Disagree (1)

Disagree (0)

79%

9%

8%

4%

Recommendation 10

Agree (19)

Somewhat Agree (2)

Neither Agree not disagree
(2)

Somewhat Disagree (1)

Disagree (0)

Page 45



 
Respondents said this was a great idea and suggested it be shared on 

Monmouthshire’s website and through various private support groups, or at a centre if 

there was one.  A comment stated this should map all provision auditing all public 

building for accessibility and suggested the council consider the impact of pavement 

parking.  A further comment said better publicity of opportunities would make it clearer 

what, when and where there was provision. 

 

General Feedback 

Respondents were given the opportunity to provide any further comments on the report 

more generally.  7 comments provided general feedback relating to the re-opening of 

Tudor Street –highlighting its benefits as a central hub, with accessible facilities 

including outdoor and indoor space, good transport links and its opportunity for use as 

a base to the wider community.  However, other respondents spoke about the need for 

choice and variety of opportunity for people, wider accessibility of community buildings 

and spaces and the need for more engagement and support for carer. 

 

A comment was made, that day services had moved on from people being in one 

building all day to a more flexible and community-based approach, also stating 

individuals who use these services don’t always know what alternatives are available 

due to staff, family, and family restrictions.   

 

Five comments were made in relation to the needs of the wider population of people 

with disabilities, and those who have become physically disabled or have mental health 

conditions and that a focus on simply My Day, My Life was too small a reach. 

 

Observations 

Whilst there is general agreement with the recommendations in the report, many 

people are keen to use this as an opportunity to engage with the council on wider 

issues such as:  eligibility for services (some of which will be defined by Welsh 

Government policy), accessibility of all community and council buildings, opportunities 

for a wider group of people than those currently eligible for My Day, My Life and the 

need for safe/warm places for people in general who want and need these. 

 

Overarching themes from Narrative  

Respondents were able to provide narrative comments against each recommendation 

as well as being able to make general comments about the report.  These can be 

collated into the following themes: 

• A variety of activities needs for people; a mix between community and 

hub- based activities. 

• Tudor Street should be re-opened  

• The need for accessible community buildings for the wider population 

• People with learning disabilities need time with friends 

• The need for skills training including independence and work skills 

• The need to provide appropriate support and buildings for people with 

complex learning disabilities 

• The need for MDML to have a centre/base  

Page 46



• The need for appropriately skilled staff and managers 

• The need to involve people who receive services and their families in 

planning and developing the service 

• The need for better accessibility of all Monmouthshire buildings 

• More support for carers  

Page 47



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

My Day, My Life - Implementation Plan Summary June 2023 

Strategic Implementation Plan Summary  

What Who Timescale 

Set up Core Project Group Core Project Group End April 2023 

Stakeholder Mapping Lead Commissioner - Adult Social 
Care Services 
 
Core Project Group 

End May 2023 

Stakeholder Engagement Lead Commissioner - Adult Social 
Care Services 
 
Core Project Group 

Ongoing 

Finalise Implementation Plan 
 
 
 
 
Plan to be taken to and agreed 
by People’s Scrutiny 
Committee. 
 
Implementation Plan to be 
agreed by cabinet. 

Service Manager Commissioning 
and Disability Services, Lead 
Commissioner - Adult Social Care 
Services & Team Manager CLDT 
 
Jane Rodgers, Chief Officer, Social 
Care & Health  
 
 
 
Cabinet Member for Social Care, 
Safeguarding and Accessible 
Health Services 

April – July 2023 
 
 
 
 
 
18th July 2023 
 
 
27th July 2023 
 

Meet monthly to review 
progress against 
implementation plan & ensure 
effective stakeholder 
communication is maintained 

Core Project Group April 2023 - ongoing 

Agree ongoing communication 
plan for implementation 
including developing an 
effective communication plan 
for internal stakeholders e.g., 
MDML staff, people, and their 
families 

Core Project Group From May 2023 - 
ongoing 
 
 

Evaluate success and 
outcomes of the 
implementation plan with 
people receiving MDML 
services and their families 

Core Project Group 
 
 
 
 

July 2023 – August 
2024 
 

 

  

Page 49



 

 

Practical Implementation Plan Summary 

Rec 1:  The council will need to take steps to restore and develop the positive aspects of 
the My Day My Life service. 
 
Rec 2:  The My Day My Life service should return to the principles it set out at the start. 

What Who Timescale 

Re-launch and reinvigorate the principles of MDML, 
ensuring they run throughout all aspects of the 
service 

Core Project Group 
 
 

May – December 
2023 
 

Engage the services of a person-centred planning 
expert to support in the implementation of this 
recommendation  

  

Service Manager 
Commissioning and 
Disability Services 
& Lead 
Commissioner - 
Adult Social Care 
Services 

July – September 
2023 
 
 

Placing the person at the centre of their lives, 
recognising them as an individual with their own 
plans.   Ensuring the plan around them supports 
with these aspirations. 
 

Person Centred 
Specialist and Core 
Project Group 

January 2024 - 
onwards 

Providing ongoing training for staff around the 
principles and practice of person-centred planning, 
to ensure plans are updated and maintained in a 
way that is consistent with this method. 
  

Person Centred 
Specialist and Core 
Project Group 

January 2024 - 
onwards 

Ensure a management infrastructure that promotes 
and maintains person centred practice. 
 

Person Centred 
Specialist and Core 
Project Group 

January 2024 - 
onwards 

Rec 3:  The council should consider the range of opportunities and activities that will be 
made available to participants in the service. 

What Who Timescale 

Understand what would be needed to coordinate 
activities both individually and collectively, working 
with people receiving services and develop any 
relevant job role profiles accordingly. 

Core Project Group 
& Service Manager 
Commissioning and 
Disability Services 

September/October 
2023 

Ensure activities coordination forms part of all roles 
within the new service structure. 
 

Core Project Group October 2023 

Embed activities coordination responsibility within 
the new service structure, driving practice consistent 
with MDML ethos. 

Core Project Group January 2024 - 
onwards 

Offer a variety of activity opportunities, including 
support to access paid or voluntary work 

Core Project Group Ongoing 

  

Page 50



 

 

Rec 4:  The service should adopt more flexible working hours 

What Who Timescale 

Understand what hours are needed to meet the 
needs and wants of current, and near future 
participants. 

Core Project Group 
 
CLDT 

May – July 2023 

Review current staffing arrangements and how they 
match the future direction of service. 

Service Manager 
Commissioning and 
Disability Services 

April – June 
2023 

Review roles and team structure and Design future 
service structure. 

Service Manager 
Commissioning and 
Disability Services  

April – August 
2023 

Ensure effective communication with people using 
the service to ensure proposed changes meet their 
wants and needs and they are kept informed 
regarding the new service structure. 

Core Project Group May 2023 – 
ongoing  

Start initial informal consultation process with 
existing staff around proposed new service 
structure 

Service Manager 
Commissioning and 
Disability Services 

July 2023 

Gain approval for new service structure Jane Rodgers, Chief 
Officer, Social Care & 
Health  

November 2023 

Implement Protection of Employment policy process Service Manager 
Commissioning and 
Disability Services  
 
HR 

November 2023 
 – March 2024 

Work with new service staff team to reinvigorate the 
service, provide direction and ensure an 
enthusiastic staff team. 

Core Project Team January 2024 – 
onwards (TBC) 

Rec 5:  The service needs to have stable, compassionate, and person-centred leadership. 

What Who Timescale 

Clarifying the management team of the future Core Project Team & 
Service Manager 
Commissioning and 
Disability Services 
HR 

April – March 
2024 

Work with management team to refocus on service 
values and to imbed learning from the review. 

Service Manager 
Commissioning and 
Disability Services 

July – Ongoing 

Ensure and plan regular supervisions and team 
meetings for staff. 

My Day My Life 
Implementation 
Manager and Manager 
Individual & Day 
Support Service 

Ongoing 
 
 

Provide ongoing training to support management in 
their roles  

Service Manager 
Commissioning and 
Disability Services & 
Workforce 
Development Team 

Ongoing 

Page 51



 

 

Rec 6:  The programme will have a clear process to document what is happening. 

What Who Timescale 

Ensure staff have access to technology for staff Lead Commissioner - 
Adult Social Care 
Services, My Day My 
Life Implementation 
Manager  & Manager 
Individual & Day 
Support Service 

May 2023 – 
January 2024 

Implement an electronic record management 
system; linked into Flo – that is used.   
 

Lead Commissioner - 
Adult Social Care 
Services, My Day My 
Life Implementation 
Manager & Manager 
Individual & Day 
Support Service 

January 2024 
onwards 
 

Implement a quality assurance process around care 
files and documents.  

My Day My Life 
Implementation 
Manager  

May 2023 – 
ongoing 

Staff access to Flo and WCCIS (if applicable as 
CLDT moving to this system). 

My Day My Life 
Implementation 
Manager  

May 2023 - 
ongoing 

Rec 7:  The service should have safe and accessible buildings. 

What Who Timescale 

Undertake initial options appraisal and feasibility 
assessment of available buildings and venues in 
both Abergavenny and Monmouth areas which 
would make suitable hubs.  Considering feedback 
from review such as central to the community, 
sense of belonging and need for accessible 
facilities. 

Acting Head of 
Landlord Services, 
Lead Commissioner - 
Adult Social Care 
Services & Service 
Manager 
Commissioning and 
Disability Services 

May-June 2023 
 
 
 
 

Consult with people who currently use the MDML 
service to consider shortlist for both areas and 
gather their views. 

Lead Commissioner - 
Adult Social Care 
Services & Service 
Manager, Team 
Manager CLDT & 
Service Manager 
Commissioning and 
Disability Services 

July/August 
2023 

Consult with other key stakeholders including staff 
and Community Learning Disability Team to 
consider shortlist for both areas and gather views. 

Lead Commissioner - 
Adult Social Care 
Services & Service 
Manager, Team 
Manager CLDT & 
Service Manager 
Commissioning and 
Disability Services 

July 2023 

Page 52



 

 

Produce a final options appraisal of buildings 
reflecting on feedback from people who currently 
use the MDML service. 

Acting Head of 
Landlord Services, 
Lead Commissioner - 
Adult Social Care 
Services & Service 
Manager 
Commissioning and 
Disability Services 

August 2023 

Gain formal agreement for final bases TBC September 
2023 

Work to open a hub in each area as soon as 
practically possible 

Core Project Group September 
2023 - ongoing 

Rec 8:  People and families should be meaningfully involved in making changes. 

What How Who Timescale 

Ensure all changes and service development work 
is coproduced with people and families 

Core Project Team May 2023 – 
ongoing  

Rec 9:  Monmouthshire should think about all learning disability services 

What How Who Timescale 

Consider with individuals who use the service the 
current model and their views on the new service 
structure. 

Lead Commissioner - 
Adult Social Care 
Services 

September 
2023 

Reorganise the ISS and MDML service to create 
one flexible community-based service if appropriate 

Core Project Group June 2023 – 
January 2024 

Coproducing what that new service looks like with 
users 

Lead Commissioner - 
Adult Social Care 
Services 

July 2023 - 
onwards 

Consider the future need for Greenfingers. Team Manager CLDT 
& Core Project Group 

June 2023 – 
onwards 

Work with Supported Living and residential homes 
who now support previous MDML users in the day 
to ensure they are delivering MDML principles 

Lead Commissioner - 
Adult Social Care 
Services and 
Commissioning 
Officers 

November 2023 

Consider any barriers to accessing activities and 
whether they can be removed. 

Lead Commissioner - 
Adult Social Care 
Services 

October 2023 
 

Rec 10:  There should be a map of all the services in Monmouthshire 

What Who Timescale 

Develop a map of all activities and opportunities in 
Monmouthshire 

My Day My Life 
Implementation 
Manager and 
Commissioning 
Support Officer & 
Manager Individual & 
Day Support Service 

October 2023 - 
onwards 

 

Page 53



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Typical weekly activities of people receiving MDML 

support – May 2023 

 

People are involved in a range of different activities and opportunities depending 

upon their choices and needs. The list below gives examples of the various activities 

people have been involved in.  

• Community activities; bowling, cinema, and meeting friends 

• Sensory session 

• Mobility activities  

• Dance session  

• Walking 

• Craft group 

• Lunch out  

• Tea Dance 

• Visiting a farm park  

• Drama group  

• Gym sessions 

• Art group  

• Gardening group  

• Shopping 

• Support with household bills, paperwork and appointments  

• Meeting up with friends.  

• Quiz group  

• Joining in People First meetings  

• Cooking  

• Going to the hairdressers  

 

Page 55



 

 

Page 56



Pen Picture A 

A is a gentleman that lives in a bungalow with support staff available 24 hours. Previous to that he lived at home with his 
parents. 

A has a learning disability and a diagnosis of down syndrome and uses a wheelchair. A makes decisions and choices on a daily 
basis, he can have memory difficulties and requires prompts such as visual aids, notes, and rotas to support/maintain his 
independence. It is important to him that he can live an active life and is fully involved in decisions around his life. 

He is a very friendly man who is quite easy to get on with and has a wicked sense of humour. He can find it hard to talk to 
people that he doesn’t know very well but enjoys meeting new people.  

He has strong links with his family who he sees on a regular basis; his parents who live fairly near and his two sisters. He has 
a keen interest in sport in particular Rugby, Football and Wrestling.  

He enjoys fishing, rugby, wrestling, CD’s and DVD’s, arts and craft, cinema outings, tennis, shopping, socialising and meals 
out. He has his own vehicle which his support staff have access to. 

He receives My Day My Life support sessions has four times a week. Staff go to his bungalow and then he will decide what 
activities he wants to participate in. He recently had a new electric wheelchair, so staff have been assisting him to get used to 
this and going out in the community. 

MDML staff support him to do the things which are important to him. He enjoys art and crafts and has done some lovely 
artwork, especially on canvas which he has given as presents to his family and the nurses that visit him. He has quite a few 
on display in his home. 

He likes to go over to the local community garden and meet with others mostly for the chat and a bit of gardening. 

Staff also assist him in preparing his lunch, sometime going to get something up town and then bringing it back to prepare, 
he also likes to bake, and his cakes are well received. 

He likes to go out for coffee and meeting up with others for lunch. He likes to visit his one friend who lives on a farm and visits 
to see his parents. He also enjoys going to the cinema to see the new films especially superhero ones and enjoys having lunch 
out. 

A enjoys going on holidays and has a special holiday booked for later this year to celebrate a special birthday. 

P
age 57



 

Pen Picture D 

D is a gentleman that lives with one of his parents.  It is especially important for him to remain living at home.  D has a 
learning disability  

D is a very able, sociable, and helpful gentleman and enjoys meeting up with his friends, especially his one friend that lives in 
another town, approx. 10 miles away.  My Day My Life staff arrange with him and his friend to meet up every other week in 
various locations for lunch and a catch up which is important for both of them. 

He is currently supported to go to the gym where he has grown in confidence with using the equipment and enjoys the regular 
exercise to assist in keeping control of his weight and feeling better in himself. He also likes interacting with the staff who have 
got to know him there, talking with them about sport and his favourite football team Manchester United.  

D enjoys watching rugby wrestling, darts, and snooker on the TV as well as football and MDML staff are working with him to 
attend one of these events. 

D also goes to Mardy Park with My Day My Life support staff once a week to join in a community gardening project, the morning 
session is participating in craft, woodwork, gardening, he then has lunch with his friends at the café and then goes down into 
the potting sheds and garden for the afternoon session. The interaction with different friends that D knows and new ones that 
he has made since attending is important to him. 

D goes to community education art class on a Thursday and enjoys assisting with making the tea during the break and making 
some lovely art pieces which he is very proud of. Support staff from The Individual Support Service support him to attend.  

D also enjoys going on supported holidays and it is usually arranged that he goes with his one friend. D always comes back 
with lots of lovely stories and recently purchased a camera so he can have even more lasting memories of his adventures. 

My Day My Life staff have worked with D to purchase items he has identified that he wants, a new television for his bedroom, 
as he loves watching soaps, clothes to go on holidays and a mobile phone so he is able to call his friends. He requested to go 
to the barber shop for haircuts and now goes regularly and has the full works which he thoroughly enjoys and the interaction 
with the barbers. 

 

P
age 58



 

 

 
My Day, My Life Future Service Base Specification 

 

The development of the following criteria has been produced based on the views expressed by 
people who receive My Day, My Life services, their families and colleagues as part of the 
review.  

 

Location and Community Inclusivity: 

1. Located where all the action is in the town centre, not out of the way. (High 
Weighting) 

2. A vibrant and inclusive community space. (High weighting)  

3. A meeting place for people who receive My Day, My Life services but also used by the 
community. 

4. A place where people who receive My Day, My Life services can see friends  

5. Somewhere to hold special events 

 

Building Facilities and Accessibility: 

6. Appropriate toilet facilities and scope for the provision of a changing bed (High 
weighting) 

7. A building which can be safely and appropriately accessed by people being 
supported (High weighting) 

8. Somewhere with a sensory room or sensory sessions can be held. 

9. A balance of communal areas and quiet spaces.  

10. Having somewhere to practice skills.  

11. Different spaces for activities like a kitchen and garden. 

12. Outdoor space for BBQs and activities. 

13. Storage for equipment needed for activities.  

14. Access to records and IT equipment and systems for staff 
 
A Place To ‘Belong’ 

15. A place to feel safe and ‘like I belong’ (High weighting) 
16. A place that is ‘our own’. (High weighting) 

 
Weightings have been applied to key criteria within each of the three themed criteria sections.  
 
Options Appraisal of Potential Buildings As Future My Day My Life Service Bases 
 
An initial options appraisal has been undertaken of buildings in Abergavenny and Monmouth 
which might be potential service bases for the future. The list includes all buildings identified by 
people who receive My Day, My Life services, their families, and colleagues as part of the 
review. Other potential buildings have been included as well. 
 
Each building has been appraised against each of the criteria using a scoring system (see 
below). 
 
As part of the initial options appraisal, the scores relating to the criteria of ‘to a place to 
belong’ and a place that is “our own” is based on the ability of the building to offer 
dedicated room/s for My Day My Life which would enable people receiving the service 
and colleagues, to have a place to belong and that is their own. This appraisal will be 
tested out with the people who receive My Day, My Life services as part of the implementation 
engagement process and the development of a final options appraisal and proposal.  

Page 59



 

 

Abergavenny Buildings 

 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14  15 16 Score  

Abergavenny 
Community 
Centre (Park 

Street) 

✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓   
 

58/66 

Tudor Street ✓   ✓ ✓ ✓  ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ 53/66 

Mardy Park     ✓  ✓   ✓ ✓ ✓  ✓   28/66 

Melville 
Theatre 

✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓  ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ 64/66 

Well-Being 
Hub  

✓   ✓ ✓  ✓ ✓     ✓ ✓   
 

38/66 

Abergavenny 
Hub (Town 

Hall) 

✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓  ✓ ✓      ✓   37/66 

 

Monmouth Buildings 

 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14  15 16 Score 

Shire Hall ✓    ✓            
 

15 
/66 

Bridges 
Centre 

✓ 
 

✓ 
 

✓ 
 

✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓   ✓ ✓   
 

53/66 

Monmouth 
Hub (library) 

✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓  ✓ ✓      ✓  
 

 37/66 

St Thomas 
Church Hall 

✓    ✓      ✓ ✓     22/66 

Rockfield 
Community 

Centre 

    ✓  ✓    ✓ ✓     21/66 

Over 
Monnow 

Family 
Learning 
Centre 

  ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ 58/66 

P
age 60



 

 

Monnow 
Vale Health 
and Social 

Care Facility 

   ✓  ✓ ✓ ✓     ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ 40/66 

 

 

 

Scoring Key: 
✓ - Has this facility or opportunity (3) 

 - does not have this (0) 
 - has it to a certain degree or may be able to in the 

future (1) 
Please note high weighted criteria will be x 2  

 

 

P
age 61



 

 

Initial Options Appraisal – Stage 1 Service Base Specification  

Option  Name of 
Building 

Advantages Disadvantages Comments  Stage 1:   
Assessment 

Abergavenny  

1 Abergavenny 
Community 
Centre (Park 
Street) 

• Good town 
location and 
currently a 
well-used 
inclusive 
community 
resource 

• Accessible 
building 
with an 
accessible 
toilet, and 
potential for 
changing 
bed. 

• Has 
potential to 
hold special 
events 

• Has 
outdoor 
space, 
kitchen, and 
a variety of 
rooms with 
potential for 
use 

 Need to 
confirm the 
potential and 
possibility of 
dedicated 
MDML 
space. 

• Overall 
scored fairly 
well against 
criteria – 
58/66 

• Potential as a 
future service 
base to be 
progressed to 
stage 2 
feasibility 
assessment 

 

2 Tudor Street • Central 
location, 
with space 
to meet 
friends and 
hold special 
events 

• Changing 
bed facilities 
available 

• Various 
separate 
spaces 
available 

• Has a 
kitchen and 
garden 

• Sufficient 
storage for 
equipment 
to access 
and IT 

• Social services 
facility only 

• Not used by the 
community 

• Building not fully 
accessible to 
people who use a 
wheelchair 
without 
assistance. 

• Not all the garden 
is accessible to 
people who use a 
wheelchair even 
with assistance. 

• Size of the 
building is 
disproportionately 
large to the 
number of people 
receiving MDML 
services 

 • Overall 
scored fairly 
well against 
criteria – 
53/66 

• Potential as a 
future service 
base to be 
progressed to 
stage 2 
feasibility 
assessment 

 

Page 62



 

 

3 Mardy Park • Some 
community 
spaces and 
activities 
available 

• Accessible 
toilet 

• Garden and 
kitchen 
area 
available 

• Potential for 
equipment 
storge and 
use of IT 
equipment  

• Not located in 
the town centre 

• May not provide 
opportunity for 
dedicated MDML 
space 

• As a health and 
social care 
facility it has a 
lower level of 
community 
opportunities. 

As a fully 
operational 
health and 
social care 
facility there 
is limited 
available 
rooms and 
storage 
facilities and 
unlikely that 
MDML could 
have 
dedicated 
space. 

• Overall fairly 
low score 
against 
criteria – 
28/66 due to 
limited 
community 
vibrancy and 
unavailability 
of MDML 
dedicated 
space. 

• Not to be 
progressed to 
phase 2 
feasibility 
assessment 

4 Melville 
Theatre 

• Good town 
location and 
currently a 
well-used 
inclusive 
community 
resource 

• Accessible 
building 
with an 
accessible 
toilet, and 
potential for 
changing 
bed. 

• Is currently 
being used 
by people 
who receive 
MDML 
services to 
meet 
friends and 
do activities 

• Has 
potential to 
hold special 
events 

 Need to 
confirm the 
potential and 
possibility of 
dedicated 
MDML 
space. 

• Overall 
scored fairly 
well against 
criteria – 
64/66 

• Potential as a 
future service 
base to be 
progressed to 
stage 2 
feasibility 
assessment 

 

5 Wellbeing 
Hub 

• Central 
location, 
with space 
to meet 
friends and 
hold special 
events 

• Accessible 
building with 

• No outdoor 
space 

• Currently 
underutilised by 
the community 

Need to 
confirm the 
potential and 
possibility of 
dedicated 
MDML 
space. 

• Currently 
scoring – 
38/66 

• Need to 
confirm 15 
and 16 
before 
making 
decision 

Page 63



 

 

an 
accessible 
toilet 

• Has 
potential for 
community 
use and 
vibrancy 

about 
progression 
to stage 2 

 

6 Abergavenny 
Hub (Town 
Hall) 

• Good town 
location and 
currently a 
well-used 
inclusive 
community 
resource 

• Space for 
special 
events and 
to meet 
friends 

• Potential for 
equipment 
storge and 
use of IT 
equipment  

• No outdoor 
space or kitchen 

• Accessibility to 
the building is 
via the lift, this 
may compromise 
some people’s 
ability to enter 
the building 
without 
assistance. 

As a fully 
operational 
community 
hub there is 
limited 
available 
rooms and 
storage 
facilities and 
unlikely that 
MDML could 
have 
dedicated 
space. 

• Currently 
scoring – 
37/66 

• Need to 
confirm 15 
and 16 
before 
making 
decision 
about 
progression 
to stage 2 

 

Monmouth  

1 Shire Hall • Located in 
town centre 

• Somewhere 
to hold 
special 
events 

• Accessible 
toilet  

• A meeting place 
where rooms are 
hired out 

• No garden, 
kitchen or areas 
for skills 
development 

• No equipment 
storage 

• Accessibility to 
the building is 
via the lift, this 
may compromise 
some people’s 
ability to enter 
the building 
without 
assistance. 

 • Overall, low 
score against 
criteria – 
15/66 due to 
lack of 
community 
vibrancy and 
unavailability 
of MDML 
dedicated 
space. 

• Not to be 
progressed to 
phase 2 
feasibility 
assessment 

2 Bridges 
Centre 

• Located 
near town 
centre 

• Somewhere 
to hold 
special 
events 

• Accessible 
toilet and 
changing 

• Maybe limited 
scope for MDML 
dedicated rooms 

• No garden or 
areas for skills 
development 

 

Need to 
confirm the 
potential and 
possibility of 
dedicated 
MDML space 

• Overall 
scored fairly 
well against 
criteria – 
53/66 

• Potential as a 
future service 
base to be 
progressed to 
stage 2 

Page 64



 

 

bed 
including 
ceiling track 
hoist. 

• People who 
receive 
MDML 
could utilise 
the 
community 
café to 
meet 
friends 

• Vibrant 
community 
space 

feasibility 
assessment 

 

3 Monmouth 
Hub (library) 

• Good town 
location and 
currently a 
well-used 
inclusive 
community 
resource 

• Space for 
special 
events and 
to meet 
friends 

• Potential for 
equipment 
storge and 
use of IT 
equipment  

• No outdoor 
space or kitchen 

 

As a fully 
operational 
community 
hub there is 
limited 
available 
rooms and 
storage 
facilities and 
unlikely that 
MDML could 
have 
dedicated 
space. 

• Overall fairly 
low score 
against 
criteria – 
37/66 due to 
unavailability 
of MDML 
dedicated 
space and no 
outdoor or 
kitchen 
space. 

• Not to be 
progressed to 
phase 2 
feasibility 
assessment 

4 St Thomas 
Church Hall 

• Space for 
special 
events 

• Town Centre 
location 

• Downstairs 
rooms 
accessible 
and 
accessible 
toilet 

• Some 
community 
activity 

• Small 
garden area 

• Only two rooms 
are accessible 
and one of these 
is a large 
room/hall (60 
people) 

• Bookable space 
rather than lots 
of different 
activities running 
concurrently. 

• Unlikely to have 
space to call our 
own. 

 • Overall fairly 
low score 
against 
criteria – 
22/66 due to 
unavailability 
of MDML 
dedicated 
space, 
inaccessibility 
of 50% of 
rooms and 
limited 
community 
use. 

• Not to be 
progressed to 
phase 2 
feasibility 
assessment 

Page 65



 

 

5 Rockfield 
Community 
Centre 

• Space for 
special 
events 

• Accessible 
building and 
accessible 
toilet 

• Some 
community 
activity 

• Access to 
lots of 
outdoor 
space and a 
kitchen 

• A community hall 
for hire only 

• Not in the town 
centre 

• Unlikely to have 
space to call our 
own. 

 • Overall fairly 
low score 
against 
criteria – 
21/66 due to 
unavailability 
of MDML 
dedicated 
space, 
community 
hall only and 
not in the 
town centre. 

• Not to be 
progressed to 
phase 2 
feasibility 
assessment 

6 Over 
Monnow 
Family 
Learning 
Centre 

• Limited 
community 
use at the 
moment. 

• Located 
near town 
centre 

• Opportunity 
for people 
who receive 
MDML 
services to 
meet up, as 
well as 
used by the 
community 

• Somewhere 
to hold 
special 
events 

• Accessible 
building 
and toilets 
with 
potential to 
create 
space for 
changing 
bed. 

• Has a 
kitchen and 
garden 

• Sufficient 
storage for 
equipment 

• Would benefit 
from more 
community 
involvement and 
opportunities 

. 
 
 

• Overall 
scored well 
against 
criteria – 
58/66 

• Potential as a 
future service 
base to be 
progressed to 
stage 2 
feasibility 
assessment 

 

Page 66



 

 

to access 
and IT 

• Number of 
rooms that 
could be 
used for 
different 
purposes 

7 Monnow 
Vale Health 
and Social 
Care Facility 

• Located 
near town 
centre 

• Accessible 
toilet 

• Equipment 
storge and 
use of IT 
equipment 
available 

• Rooms can 
be made 
available 
for specific 
activities 

• As a health and 
social care 
facility it has a 
lower level of 
community 
opportunities 
and doesn’t have 
a vibrant 
community feel.  

• As a health and 
social care 
facility it lacks 
community 
vibrance. 

 • Overall 
scored fairly 
well against 
criteria – 
40/66 

• Potential as a 
future service 
base to be 
progressed to 
stage 2 
feasibility 
assessment 

 

 

Following on from the initial options appraisal of buildings identified by participants in the MDML 

service review, as short list of buildings has been assessed as potentially feasible based on the 

criteria outlined through the review. Using the scoring methodology described above a score 

was allocated to each venue, each service was given a final score and a cut of, of 40 was 

identified for services to progress to stage 2 – feasibility.  Services that were progressed to this 

phase were also required to have at minimum, a place for people ‘to belong’, accessibility and 

potential for changing bed facilities. 

The following services were successful in phase 1: 

Abergavenny: 

- Tudor Street 

- Abergavenny Community Centre (Park Street) 

- Melville Theatre 

Monmouth: 

- Bridges Centre 

- Over Monnow Family Learning Centre 

- Monnow Vale Health and Social Care Facility   

Page 67



 

 

Initial Options Appraisal – Stage 2 Feasibility  

A provisional assessment of the feasibility of each of the buildings considered within stage 2 has been undertaken using information available to 

date.  Further work is needed to produce a comprehensive and credible feasibility study which will include: 

• Site visits 

• Exploratory conversation with tenants/building owners to confirm rental and running costs 

• Costs of necessary works e.g. refurbishment/redecoration, adaptations to toilets, instillation of changing places and other 

accessibility works 

Op
tio
n  

Name of 
Building 

Availability of 
MDML Space 

Capital Costs Running Costs Security of 
Tenure 

Stage 2:   Assessment 

Abergavenny 

1 Abergavenny 
Community 
Centre (Park 
Street) 

• Potential for 
dedicated MDML 
space 
proportionate to 
number of people 
requiring the 
service  

• Potentially 
provision of 
some 
furniture/equip
ment to 
personalise 
space. 

• Work required 
to provide a 
changing bed 
facility.  

• Rental cost to 
be confirmed. 

• Contribution to 
shared costs of 
running the 
building 

• MCC owned 
building, 
leased to Aber 
Community 
Centre.   

Initial discussion held with trustees.  
Supportive in principle but unsure as 
to whether there is dedicated space 
within the building.   
 
Trustees are considering whether 
they can make space available. 
 
Excellent opportunity for community 
cohesion and people who use MDML 
services can access and be involved 
in a variety of activities and 
opportunities with the wider 
community. 
 
The costs of running the MDML 
service from this building would be 
relatively low as it would only be the 
rental of one room and a contribution 
to wider running costs. 

2 Tudor Street • Dedicated MDML 
space excessively 

• Installation of 
access to front 

• All running 
costs funded by 

• MCC owned 
building 

The building has space and the 
facilities which are needed.  However, 

P
age 68



 

 

disproportionate to 
number of people 
requiring the 
service  

entrance and 
rear gardens 

• Redecoration 
and 
refurbishment 
work  

MCC as sole 
operator of the 
building.  

the size of the building is 
considerably disproportionally higher 
than the space needed for those 
people MDML supports. 
 
The building is a dedicated social 
services facility which offers no 
community inclusion or involvement.   
 
The costs of refurbishing and 
redecorating the building may be 
considerable, to be confirmed. 
 
All running costs are born by MCC. 

3 Melville 
Theatre 

• Dedicated MDML 
space 
proportionate to 
number of people 
requiring the 
service  

• Potentially 
provision of 
some 
furniture/equip
ment to 
personalise 
space. 

• Work required 
to provide a 
changing bed 
facility. 

• Rental cost to 
be confirmed. 

• Contribution to 
shared costs of 
running the 
building 

• MCC owned 
building. 
Management 
license to 
Melville Arts 
and 
Community 
Centre.  

Initial discussion held with trustees.  
Very supportive in principle and 
confident that a dedicated MDML 
space can be provided. 
 
This building is currently used 
regularly by people who use MDML 
services, and people already access 
a number of the community activities 
on offer. 
 
Excellent opportunity for further 
community cohesion and people who 
use MDML services can access and 
be involved in a variety of activities 
and opportunities with the wider 
community. 
 
The costs of running the MDML 
service from this building would be 
relatively low as it would only be the 

P
age 69



 

 

rental of one room and a contribution 
to wider running costs. 

Monmouth 

1 Bridges Centre • Dedicated MDML 
space 
proportionate to 
number of people 
requiring the 
service 

• Potentially 
provision of 
some 
furniture/equi
pment to 
personalise 
space. 

• Rental cost to 
be confirmed. 

• Contribution to 
shared costs of 
running the 
building 

• MCC owned 
building. 
Leased to 
Bridges 
Community 
Centre.   

Initial discussion held with Bridges 
Centre manager.  Very supportive in 
principle and confident that a 
dedicated MDML space can be 
provided, need to confirm whether 
this would be full time. 
 
Changing bed facilities already in 
place, with ceiling track hoist. 
 
This building is currently used 
regularly by some people who use 
MDML services, and people already 
access the community activities on 
offer. 
 
Excellent opportunity for further 
community cohesion and people who 
use MDML services can access and 
be involved in a variety of activities 
and opportunities with the wider 
community. 
 
The costs of running the MDML 
service from this building would be 
relatively low as it would only be the 
rental of one room and a contribution 
to wider running costs. 

2 Over Monnow 
Family 
Learning 
Centre 

• Dedicated MDML 
space 
proportionate to 
number of people 

• Work to 
bathrooms to 
provide space 
for changing 

• All running 
costs funded by 
MCC as sole 

• MCC owned 
building 

The building offers sufficient 
dedicated MDML space for the 
people who receive the service.   
 

P
age 70



 

 

requiring the 
service  

bed and hoist 
facilities.  

 

operator of the 
building.  

 

There are additional rooms that are 
surplus to the needs of the service, 
which are currently used by the 
Children’s Contact Team. 
 
A limited number of community 
activities take place at the centre e.g., 
Growing Spaces and Monmouth 
brass band. 
 
Work would be needed to generate 
greater community involvement and 
inclusion. 
 
All running costs are born by MCC. 

3 Monnow Vale 
Health and 
Social Care 
Facilities. 

• Dedicated MDML 
space 
proportionate to 
number of people 
requiring the 
service  

• Work required 
to provide a 
changing bed 
facility. 

• Section 33 
building owned 
by health and 
MCC – shared 
costs 

• Section 33 
building 
owned by 
health and 
MCC 

Monnow Vale is health and social 
care facility, the majority of activity 
within the building is health focused.  
Community involvement and inclusion 
is in the main related to health 
activities or social care activities e.g., 
older persons day centre.   
 
There is a café on site which people 
who use MDML services sometimes 
use to meet friends.  Two rooms are 
currently dedicated MDML spaces.    

Stage 3 

The next stage will involve confirming the detail of each of the areas identified below: 

1. Availability of dedicated rooms 

2. Running costs 

3. Cost of works  

4. Engage with people who use the service to identify preferred option. 

 

P
age 71



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 
     
 

Name of the Officer; Ceri York  
 
Phone no: 07775 648623  
 
E-mail:  ceriyork@monmouthshire.gov.uk  

Please give a brief description of the aims of the proposal 

Implementation of the recommendations from the independent review of 

the My Day, My Life Service.  

1. The council will need to take steps to restore and develop the 

positive aspects of the My Day My Life service. 

2. The My Day My Life service should return to the principles it set 

out at the start. 

3. The council should consider the range of opportunities and 

activities that will be made available to participants in the service. 

4. The service should adopt more flexible working hours 

5. The service needs to have stable, compassionate and person-

centred leadership. 

6. The programme will have a clear process to document what is 

happening. 

7. The service should have safe and accessible buildings. 

8. People and families should be meaningfully involved in making 

changes. 

9. Monmouthshire should think about all learning disability services 

10. There should be a map of all the services in Monmouthshire 

 

Name of Service area 

My Day My Life  

Adult Social Care 

 

Date: 14th July 2023 

Integrated Impact Assessment document 
(incorporating Equalities, Future Generations, Welsh Language and 

Socio Economic Duty) 
 

P
age 73



 

1. Are your proposals going to affect any people or groups of people with protected characteristics?  Please explain the impact, the 

evidence you have used and any action you are taking below.  

Protected 
Characteristics  

Describe any positive impacts your 
proposal has on the protected 

characteristic 

Describe any negative impacts 
your proposal has on the 
protected characteristic 

What has been/will be done to 
mitigate any negative impacts or 

better contribute to positive 
impacts? 

Age The redesign and restructure of the My Day, 
My Life Service will ensure that the 
opportunities and services made available to 
people will meet their needs, aspirations and 
wants.  In particular, it will ensure the 
service offers opportunities that are open, 
accessible and of interest to people of all 
ages.   

Some family carers of people receiving 
My Day My Life services are aging. 
 
The proposed changes may negatively 
impact them as they may have concerns 
which could include: 

• A different My Day My Life base 
with which they are unfamiliar. 

• Worry about changes to the 
services hours of operation 

• Concerns that they will not 
continue to receive the same 
level/type of service 

The review has ensured all relevant 
groups of all ages are effectively 
consulted with to ensure that the 
direction for the future is based as far 
as possible on what people want and 
need.  The implementation process will 
ensure the equality, diversity and 
inclusion needs of the people receiving 
the service and those potentially using 
the service in the future are identified 
and taken in to account when 
implementing the recommendations. 
 
Families will continue to be involved in 
all aspects of the implementation 
process including the selection of the 
new MDML bases. This will provide an 
opportunity for carers to share their 
views and thoughts which can be taken 
into consideration. Workshops are 
planned for August and family carers 
will be invited. 
 
Reassurance will be provided that the 
implementation of the recommendations 
will not result in any reduction to levels 
of service which people receive.  
 
Family carers will continue to be 
supported by their social worker.  

P
age 74



Protected 
Characteristics  

Describe any positive impacts your 
proposal has on the protected 

characteristic 

Describe any negative impacts 
your proposal has on the 
protected characteristic 

What has been/will be done to 
mitigate any negative impacts or 

better contribute to positive 
impacts? 

Disability The implementation of the My Day, My Life 
review recommendations will enable us to 
ensure that there are community 
opportunities available to people to meet 
their needs, aspirations and wants.  In 
particular, it will ensure the service offers 
opportunities that are open, accessible and 
of interest to people of all abilities.  The 
implementation approach will focus on co-
producing through meaningful engagement 
and involvement with people receiving the 
service.   

Future service base buildings will need to be 
accessible and provide appropriate toilet 
and changing facilities to meet the needs of 
people receiving the service, now and in the 
future.  

There are between 1-4 people (number 
not specified due to data protection) who 
require changing bed provision. 
Currently not all the buildings which have 
been shortlisted as potential future 
service bases have changing bed 
facilities.  

The review ensured that as far as 
possible all individuals views were 
represented and considered, specific 
consideration was given when shaping 
the review recommendations and 
implementation plan to ensure the 
needs of this group were recognised 
and met. 
 
Ensuring the meaningful involvement of 
people using the service in the review 
has been crucial. This will continue 
throughout the implementation phase. 
 
The future service base buildings will 
include changing bed facilities and if 
these are not currently provided, works 
will need to be funded and undertaken 
to ensure appropriate facilities are in 
place.  

Gender 

reassignment 

The review has been co-produced with 
people receiving the service and their 
families, so they have been able to feed in 
their ideas and shape the recommendations 
for the future design of the service.   

None identified at this stage Not applicable  

Marriage or civil 

partnership 

None identified at this stage None identified at this stage  Not applicable  

P
age 75



Protected 
Characteristics  

Describe any positive impacts your 
proposal has on the protected 

characteristic 

Describe any negative impacts 
your proposal has on the 
protected characteristic 

What has been/will be done to 
mitigate any negative impacts or 

better contribute to positive 
impacts? 

Pregnancy or 

maternity 

  None identified at this stage  None identified at this stage  Not applicable  

Race  None identified at this stage  None identified at this stage  Not applicable  

Religion or Belief The review has been co-produced with 
people receiving the service and their 
families, so they have been able to feed in 
their ideas and shape the recommendations 
for the future design of the service.   

None identified at this stage  Not applicable  

Sex None  identified at this stage The majority of people employed at the 
current service are women.  A full 
redesign and restructure of the service 
could result in a change in terms and 
conditions of employment and potentially 
the reduction in the current number of 
posts.  

My Day My Life colleagues were invited 
to take part in the review to share their 
views and ideas for the future. 17/19 
team members participated in the 
review and the development of the final 
recommendations.  
 
All employees will be subject to the 
Council’s Protection of Employment 
Policy, which will include seeking 
alternative employment options.   

Sexual Orientation None identified at this stage  None identified at this stage  Not applicable  

 

  

P
age 76



 

2. The Socio-economic Duty and Social Justice 

The Socio-economic Duty requires public bodies to have due regard to the need to reduce inequalities of outcome which result from socio-

economic disadvantage when taking key decisions This duty aligns with our commitment as an authority to Social Justice. 

 Describe any positive impacts your 

proposal has in respect of people 

suffering socio economic 

disadvantage 

Describe any negative impacts 
your proposal has in respect of 
people suffering socio economic 
disadvantage. 

What has been/will be done to 
mitigate any negative impacts or 
better contribute to positive 
impacts? 

 

Socio-economic 

Duty and Social 

Justice  

My Day, My Life is a strength-based 
approach that seeks to enable people with a 
learning disability to develop and pursue 
their individual aspirations within every day, 
community settings supported by their own 
networks.  The implementation of the 
recommendations for the service, will 
strengthen and widen the opportunities 
available to people in a way that meets their 
needs. Therefore, likely to increase and 
advance equality of opportunity for people 
with disabilities in Monmouthshire.  

None identified at this stage.  

 

 

Not applicable  

 

  

P
age 77



3. Policy making and the Welsh language. 

 

  

 
How does your proposal impact 
on the following aspects of the 
Council’s Welsh Language 
Standards: 

 

 Describe the positive impacts of 

this proposal 

 

 
Describe the negative impacts 
of this proposal 

 

What has been/will be done 
to mitigate any negative 
impacts or better contribute 
to positive impacts 
 

Policy Making  

Effects on the use of the Welsh 

language,  

Promoting Welsh language  

Treating the Welsh language no 

less favourably 

The implementation of the 
recommendations will take in to account 
the wants and needs of all people receiving 
the service. If this identifies the need for 
more Welsh speaking staff, or Welsh 
activities or opportunities, action will be 
taken to address this.  

None identified at this stage  Not applicable  

Operational  

Recruitment & Training of 

workforce 

 

If new posts are created or advertised as a 

result of the service redesign and 

restructure, then this will be an opportunity 

to increase the number of Welsh speakers 

recruited. 

None identified at this stage  Not applicable  

Service delivery  

Use of Welsh language in service 

delivery  

Promoting use of the language 

Any publicity or promotion will be made 

bilingually.  Engagement activity relating to 

the implementation of the 

recommendations will be done in Welsh 

where needed.  

 

 

None identified at this stage  Not applicable  

P
age 78



 
4. Does your proposal deliver any of the well-being goals below?  Please explain the impact (positive and negative) you expect, together 
with suggestions of how to mitigate negative impacts or better contribute to the goal.  There’s no need to put something in every box if it is not 
relevant!

 Well Being Goal  

Does the proposal contribute to this goal? 

Describe the positive and negative impacts. 

What actions have been/will be taken to 

mitigate any negative impacts or better 

contribute to positive impacts? 

A prosperous Wales 
Efficient use of resources, skilled, 
educated people, generates wealth, 
provides jobs 

Positive:  This implementation will enable us to 
identify and support best use of community-based 
resources, as well as make best use of the skilled 
and experienced staff team to support people in their 
future aspirations. 

Negative:  It is possible the restructure will result in 
the need for a smaller or different staffing team 

Alternative employment options will be sought with 
SCH and the Council if needed. 

A resilient Wales 
Maintain and enhance biodiversity and 
ecosystems that support resilience and 
can adapt to change (e.g. climate 
change) 

None identified at this stage  Not applicable  

A healthier Wales 
People’s physical and mental 
wellbeing is maximized and health 
impacts are understood 

Positive: The implementation will shape the service 
and make it fit for purpose for the future so that the 
meets the needs and aspirations of people in 
Monmouthshire who currently use My Day, My Life 
and those who may need it in the future are met.  It 
will seek to maximise choice and diversity of 
opportunity.  

None identified at this stage 

A Wales of cohesive communities 
Communities are attractive, viable, 
safe and well connected 

Positive:  The focus of My Day My Life is on 
community-based opportunities for people with 
learning disabilities in Monmouthshire.  Supporting 
people to be well connected to local networks. 

None identified at this stage 

A globally responsible Wales 
Taking account of impact on global 
well-being when considering local 

None identified at this stage None identified at this stage 

P
age 79



 Well Being Goal  

Does the proposal contribute to this goal? 

Describe the positive and negative impacts. 

What actions have been/will be taken to 

mitigate any negative impacts or better 

contribute to positive impacts? 

social, economic and environmental 
wellbeing 

A Wales of vibrant culture and 
thriving Welsh language 
Culture, heritage and Welsh language 
are promoted and protected.  People 
are encouraged to do sport, art and 
recreation 

Positive: people will have even more opportunities to 
engage their community and be involved in 
community activities.  

None identified at this stage  

A more equal Wales 
People can fulfil their potential no 
matter what their background or 
circumstances 

Positive: People with a learning disability have more 
choice and control over how they receive support 
and live their lives 

None identified at this stage 

 

5. How has your proposal embedded and prioritised the sustainable governance principles in its development? 

Sustainable Development 

Principle  

Does your proposal demonstrate you have met 

this principle?  If yes, describe how.  If not explain 

why. 

Are there any additional actions to be taken to 
mitigate any negative impacts or better 

contribute to positive impacts? 

Balancing 

short term 

need with 

long term and 

planning for 

the future 

The implementation of the recommendations will enable us 
to future proof the service. 

 

P
age 80



Sustainable Development 

Principle  

Does your proposal demonstrate you have met 

this principle?  If yes, describe how.  If not explain 

why. 

Are there any additional actions to be taken to 
mitigate any negative impacts or better 

contribute to positive impacts? 

Working 

together with 

other 

partners to 

deliver 

objectives  

The recommendations set out a clear framework for the 
development of the My Day, My Life service in the future.  
The recommendation has been coproduced with the full 
collaboration of the people currently receiving the service, 
those we might support in the future, their families, social 
workers, and other key stakeholders.  Working in 
partnership to shape the future of day opportunities 
available in Monmouthshire. 

The final review report was published on the Council 
Website and views sought from the wider public. 
 
24 respondents took part in the public consultation and 
their comments and views have been taken into 
consideration within the implementation plan.  

Involving 

those with 

an interest 

and seeking 

their views 

The participants in the review were people with learning 

disabilities currently receiving the service and their families 

in Monmouthshire, and those who may want to use it in the 

future.  People who used to join in some MDML activities in 

the past who weren’t eligible recipients of the service were 

also invited to contribute to the review and 

recommendations development. Colleagues currently 

working in the service were also participants in the review. 

Other stakeholders involved include Social Workers, 

service managers and other internal staff.  The 

recommendations set out a framework for the ongoing 

development of My Day, My Life ensuring that it continues 

to meet the needs of people with disabilities in 

Monmouthshire enabling them to be connected to their local 

communities and develop and flourish in the lives they 

choose.  

The Individual Cabinet Member decision taken in 
November 2022 to release Tudor Street for sale , before 
the review was completed, generated public opposition. 
As a result the decision was called in and following 
consideration by People’s Scrutiny Committee om 3rd 
January and a subsequent Council meeting any decision 
to about the future of the building was put on hold until 
after the review had was completed.  
 
A Q&A page was developed for the MCC website which 
provided information to the public on the progress of the 
review and how they could be involved. The final report 
was published for public consultation in April and people 
were able to provide their feedback via an online 
questionnaire. The website provides information about 
the People Scrutiny meeting on 18th July and how people 
can get involved.  

P
age 81



Sustainable Development 

Principle  

Does your proposal demonstrate you have met 

this principle?  If yes, describe how.  If not explain 

why. 

Are there any additional actions to be taken to 
mitigate any negative impacts or better 

contribute to positive impacts? 

Putting 

resources 

into 

preventing 

problems 

occurring or 

getting 

worse 

The proposal will ensure people have even greater 

opportunity to be involved in the community, take part in 

activities which are meaningful to them and meet up with 

their friends. This may prevent a deterioration of people’s 

well-being and increase social interaction. 

None identified at this stage.  

Considering 

impact on all 

wellbeing 

goals 

together and 

on other 

bodies 

This review and recommendations has provided a thorough 

understanding of  what people  with learning disabilities 

who receive the My Day, My Life service want. This 

approach maximizes opportunities for independence, 

choice and control.  The future development will continue to 

have a strong community focus, linking people to other 

organisations and resources in their local communities. 

None identified at this stage 

 
  

P
age 82



 
6. Council has agreed the need to consider the impact its decisions has on the following important responsibilities: Corporate 

Parenting and Safeguarding.  Are your proposals going to affect any of these responsibilities?   
 

 Describe any positive impacts your 
proposal has  

Describe any negative impacts 
your proposal has  

What will you do/ have you done 
to mitigate any negative impacts 
or better contribute to positive 
impacts? 

Safeguarding  The report has enabled us to understand 

what works well and doesn’t work well about 

the service currently and to develop plans to 

improve where needed. 

None identified at this stage  The review scope was expanded in 
December 2022 to include people who 
used to join in some My Day My Life 
activities, although they were not in 
receipt of MDML support. 
 
A public consultation on the final review 
report was undertaken IN April 2023, 
this enabled people to share their 
thoughts on the recommendation 
including any concerns around the 
safety and well-being of people 
receiving the service.   

Corporate Parenting  None identified at this stage  None identified at this stage  Not applicable  

 
7. What evidence and data has informed the development of your proposal?  
 
The current proposal has been produced as part of the independent review to be carried out  My Day, My Life service by Practice Solutions and work to 
develop the implementation plan.  this has been informed by: 

• Knowledge and understanding the needs of the people receiving and potentially receiving the service; including their equality, diversity and 
inclusion needs  

• Internal data on service demand 

• Internal data on staffing levels 

• Feedback from social work teams, staff and individuals who currently access My Day, My Life 

• Internal project teams consideration of opportunity and risk 

• Ongoing and existing My Day, My Life principles, values and work plan. 

• Views of people receiving the service and their families 

• Views of colleagues working in the service 

• Views from community partners and groups  

P
age 83



 

8. SUMMARY:  As a result of completing this form, what are the main positive and negative impacts of your proposal, how have 
they informed/changed the development of the proposal so far and what will you be doing in future?  

 

Positive Impact 

The independent review recommendations and the implementation plan will enable us to build and strengthen the service for the future.  The review has 
been produced with full collaboration with stakeholders including people receiving the service and their families.  Participation levels were high and 
included those with the most complex of needs.  The equality, diversity and inclusion needs of people was understood as part of the review and informed 
the development of the recommendations for tor the future of the service. The review was based on the established values and principles of My Day, My 
Life to enable people with a learning disability to develop and pursue their individual aspirations within every day, community settings supported by their 
own networks.  The recommendations for the future will support in the creation of connected, prosperous and resilient communities, whilst ensuring 
collaborative and inclusive practice. 

 

Negative Impacts  

It is possible that the implementation of some of the recommendations may create anxiety and uncertainty for people receiving the service, their families 
and the staff team due to it signaling change.  The recommendations developing a more flexible service which may have an impact on the size and terms 
of conditions of the current establishment include also may identify the need for a smaller or different staff team, which could impact on the primarily 
female staffing team. Some family carers are aging and may be impacted if the service changes, e.g concerns about new service base, opening hours etc.  

 

9. ACTIONS: As a result of completing this form are there any further actions you will be undertaking? Please detail them below, if 
applicable. 

 

What are you going to do  When are you going to do it?  Who is responsible  

Continue to co-produce the implementation of the review recommendations 
with all people who receive the service and their families. The project brief will 
be amended to make explicit the requirements relating to understanding and 
taking account of the equality, diversity and inclusion needs of the people using 
the service and those potentially using it in the future.  

From June 2023 My Day, My Life Core Project 
Group 

Any impact on staffing as a result of the service redesign and restructure will 
be subject to the Council’s Protection of Employment Policy, which will include 
seeking alternative employment options.   

July  2023 onwards My Day, My Life management 
team 

 

Peoples Services 

Evaluate the implementation of the recommendations and the positive impact 
upon people receiving the service.  

July 2024   

 

  

P
age 84



 

10. VERSION CONTROL: The Equality and Future Generations Evaluation should be used at the earliest stage, such as informally 

within your service, and then further developed throughout the decision making process.  It is important to keep a record of this 

process to demonstrate how you have considered and built in equality and future generations considerations  wherever 

possible. 

 

Version 

No. 

Decision making stage  Date considered Brief description of any amendments made following 

consideration 

1.  Internal SCH decision making   15.05.2023 Additional actions added 

2.  Pre - Cabinet Consultation Process 14.07.2023  Further information provided in regard to impacts on Age and 

Disability and additional actions as a result  

 

P
age 85



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Monmouthshire Scrutiny 

1 
 

 

Feedback to Cabinet  

 

Report Subject Matter: Review of My Day My Life Service 

 

1.0 Context: 

 

1.1 On 18th July 2023, the People Scrutiny Committee was asked to scrutinise the findings 

of the My Day My Life Service Review undertaken by Practice Solutions and the feedback 

from the consultation process. The scrutiny committee’s role is to offer views to the 

cabinet and make any recommendations, which the Cabinet can accept or reject as part 

of their future decision-making.  

 

1.2 The scrutiny committee was presented with the following recommendations: 

 

a) That the People Scrutiny Committee considers the findings of the Practice Solution’s 

review, the review recommendations, public feedback received and the implementation 

plan, and offers views to the Executive.  

 

b) That the People Scrutiny Committee notes that it is the Cabinet Member’s intention to 

recommend to Cabinet that the recommendations from the Practice Solution review 

report should be accepted in full.   

 

1.3 The following formal summary has been prepared to capture the views of the scrutiny 

committee, together with some additional comments for the Executive to consider. The 

Committee requests the Cabinet Member consider the findings, to assist future decision-

making.  

 

Public Open Forum 

 

1.4 There was a large public presence at the scrutiny meeting, the public highlighting the 

need for services for people with learning disabilities (aside from those who access My 

Day My Life, in particular, the need for: 

 

 A base where people feel safe, feel like they belong, without feeling different, helping 

them to gain confidence and offering them a sense of purpose and a quality of life. 

 A base that is centrally located in the community, not on the periphery. 

 Accessible toilets and changing facilities, including changing beds. 

 A place in which they can undertake in-house well-being activities.  

 A kitchen and a garden. 

 A sensory room. 

 Balanced communal areas and quiet spaces. 

Page 87



Monmouthshire Scrutiny 

2 
 

1.5 There was a strong feeling amongst members of the public that Tudor Street Day Centre 

was the only building that could provide the right facilities, and many spoke of it being 

their preference.  One member of the public stated that this was “not just a local issue, 

but a matter of public interest” and called for the council to act with “compassion and 

foresight” and “consider the true cost of the decision, not just in monetary terms, but in 

terms of the well-being of citizens and community cohesion”.    

 

Key points raised by the Committee Members 

 

 Numerous Members were dissatisfied with the scoring process, and the individual 

scores allocated to the buildings and gave examples of what they felt was a lack of 

consistency in the application of scores.  The Cabinet Member asked whether the 

right buildings had been shortlisted.  Members didn’t disagree and there were no 

views put forward that any other buildings should feature on the shortlist. The 

Cabinet Member offered to hold a session with members to explain the criteria, which 

can be arranged at the committee’s discretion.  He also stressed that following this 

initial sift each building would be looked at again with the involvement of current 

and potential service users.  

 

 Members consider the Integrated Impact Assessment could have been stronger in 

terms of the age category, but also in respect of sex (not gender), in recognition that 

many carers will be female and therefore, there would be consequential impacts on 

their ability to work and their well-being. Members highlighted that people with 

learning disabilities may also have other co-morbid health issues, which should be 

recognised.  Members felt the assessment needed to accurately reflect the need of 

carers, in addition to service users. 

 

 The Committee noted that the eligibility criteria for the service had changed, which 

suggests a lower numbers of service users than the Committee expected. This raised 

a concern as to whether people are being adequately supported.  

 

 Several Members suggested Tudor Street Day Centre was their preferred choice of 

location for a base in Abergavenny.  Members advocated the need for a kitchen and 

a garden to enable people to continue those activities they really enjoy in any future 

buildings.  

 

 Members heard that unpaid carers also used the Tudor Street Day Centre as a place 

to have some respite.  Transport to services was also highlighted, members reflecting 

that some carers had found that the time taken to transport those cared for to 

services, meant that there was only a short period of respite for them, before needing 

to collect them.  

 

Page 88



Monmouthshire Scrutiny 

3 
 

 Members felt strongly that people with learning disabilities are vulnerable members 

of the public who should be supported and should not have to fight for services.  

 

Formal Outcome of the Scrutiny  

 

1.6 There was broad support from the committee for the recommendations of the review 

and a strong desire to see the work progress at a pace.  

 

The Cabinet Member stated that he would hold workshops service users over the 

summer to seek their preferences and gather further information on the three shortlisted 

buildings, which was supported by the Committee. Members were requested to identify 

any other suitable buildings they felt were suitable for consideration.   

 

The Committee requests that the Cabinet Member takes into account the points 

provided in this summary when making further decisions on the My Day My Life Service.  

Page 89



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
     
 

Name of the Officer Cath Saunders 
 
 
Phone no:07595647637 
E-mail: cathsaunders@monmouthshire.gov.uk 

Please give a brief description of the aims of the proposal 

To agree S106 funding at Castle Park Primary School, Caldicot 

 

Name of Service area Children and Young People 

 

Date  14th July 2023 

 

1. Are your proposals going to affect any people or groups of people with protected characteristics?  Please explain the impact, the 

evidence you have used and any action you are taking below.  

Protected 
Characteristics  

Describe any positive impacts your 
proposal has on the protected 

characteristic 

Describe any negative impacts 
your proposal has on the 
protected characteristic 

What has been/will be done to 
mitigate any negative impacts or 

better contribute to positive 
impacts? 

Age The proposed work will provide education 

facilities for all pupils living within the 

locality. The proposal will also allow for 

community use of the premises enabling all 

age groups to access the buildingboth 

during and after the school day 

No impact  

Disability The proposal involves improving and 

enhancing disabled facilities at the school. 

No impact  

Integrated Impact Assessment document 
(incorporating Equalities, Future Generations, Welsh Language and 

Socio Economic Duty) 
 

P
age 91

A
genda Item

 4



Protected 
Characteristics  

Describe any positive impacts your 
proposal has on the protected 

characteristic 

Describe any negative impacts 
your proposal has on the 
protected characteristic 

What has been/will be done to 
mitigate any negative impacts or 

better contribute to positive 
impacts? 

Gender 

reassignment 

.No impact   

Marriage or civil 

partnership 

.No impact   

Pregnancy or 

maternity 

No impact   

Race No impact   

Religion or Belief The proposal to spend the remaining 

funding available from housing 

developments in the Caldicot town area at 

Archbishop Rowan Williams VA School will 

ensure that there is provision for pupils who 

wish to attend a church school 

  

Sex The projects that are the subject of this 

report are of equal benefit to both males and 

females 

  

P
age 92



Protected 
Characteristics  

Describe any positive impacts your 
proposal has on the protected 

characteristic 

Describe any negative impacts 
your proposal has on the 
protected characteristic 

What has been/will be done to 
mitigate any negative impacts or 

better contribute to positive 
impacts? 

Sexual Orientation No impact 

 

 

 

  

2. The Socio-economic Duty and Social Justice 

The Socio-economic Duty requires public bodies to  have due regard to the need to reduce inequalities of outcome which result from socio-

economic disadvantage when taking key decisions This duty aligns with our commitment as an authority to Social Justice. 

 Describe any positive impacts your 

proposal has in respect of people 

suffering socio economic 

disadvantage 

Describe any negative impacts 
your proposal has in respect of 
people suffering socio economic 
disadvantage. 

What has been/will be done to 
mitigate any negative impacts or 
better contribute to positive 
impacts? 

P
age 93



 

Socio-economic 

Duty and Social 

Justice  

The proposal is an improvement for pupils 

loving within the vicinity of the school and 

due to the increased capacity at the school 

will enable them to attend the school within 

their community, rather than require home to 

school transport taking them possibly 4 or 5 

miles away to a school outside of their 

community. 

The Proposal will enhance facilities at the 

school which will enable pupils who require 

these facilities to be with their peers who live 

within the same community. The proposal 

could also enable additional community use 

of the premises as it will have access for all. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

P
age 94



3. Policy making and the Welsh language. 

 

 
4. Does your proposal deliver any of the well-being goals below?  Please explain the impact (positive and negative) you expect, together 
with suggestions of how to mitigate negative impacts or better contribute to the goal.  There’s no need to put something in every box if it is not 
relevant!

 
How does your proposal impact 
on the following aspects of the 
Council’s Welsh Language 
Standards: 

 

 Describe the positive impacts of 

this proposal 

 

 
Describe the negative impacts 
of this proposal 

 

What has been/will be done 
to mitigate any negative 
impacts or better contribute 
to positive impacts 
 

Policy Making  

Effects on the use of the Welsh 

language,  

Promoting Welsh language  

Treating the Welsh language no 

less favourably 

 Pupils at the school do not currently 

receive their education through the 

medium of Welsh. However,  the Welsh 

Language will continue to be taught at the 

school as part of the Curriulum for Wales..  

The proposal will not enable pupils 
to learn wholly through the medium 
of Welsh. 

There is a Welsh medium school 
in close proximity to Castle Park 
School which has recently been 
refurbished and extended. This 
school has surplus places so can 
accommodate any pupils who 
wish to be educated through the 
medium of Welsh and have a 
complely immersive education 

Operational  

Recruitment & Training of 

workforce 

 

No impact   

Service delivery  

Use of Welsh language in service 

delivery  

Promoting use of the language 

Welsh Language is taught at Castle Park 

School as part of the Curriculum for Wales. 

  

P
age 95



 Well Being Goal  

Does the proposal contribute to this goal? 

Describe the positive and negative impacts. 

What actions have been/will be taken to 

mitigate any negative impacts or better 

contribute to positive impacts? 

A prosperous Wales 
Efficient use of resources, skilled, 
educated people, generates wealth, 
provides jobs 

The proposal will be funded from S106 balances 

provided by developers of residential housing in the 

area, so there is no call on the Council’s core capital 

budget. 

 

A resilient Wales 
Maintain and enhance biodiversity and 
land, river and coastal ecosystems that 
support resilience and can adapt to 
change (e.g. climate change) 

The proposal will involve refurbishing existing 

classrooms to create more capacity rather than 

building new. The proposal will therefore not impact 

on biodiversity on the site. 

 

A healthier Wales 
People’s physical and mental 
wellbeing is maximized and health 
impacts are understood 

The proposals will enable pupils to walk and cycle to 

school rather than be transported out of their 

communities. 

The School Travel Plan Officer will continue to work 

with pupils to encourage them to walk and cycle to 

school. 

 

A Wales of cohesive communities 
Communities are attractive, viable, 
safe and well connected 

Learners will remain in their communities. The 

enahanced facilities will enable more community use 

outside of school hours. 

 

A globally responsible Wales 
Taking account of impact on global 
well-being when considering local 
social, economic and environmental 
wellbeing 

The availability of good quality and accessible 

education facilities in the local community means 

that local people do not have to travel to other areas 

by car or by public transport, thereby contributing to 

a reduction in harmful nitrogen dioxide emissions 

 

A Wales of vibrant culture and 
thriving Welsh language 
Culture, heritage and Welsh language 
are promoted and protected.  People 

There are no specific proposals in this report to 

promote and protect the Welsh language. However 

the Welsh language is currently and will continue to 

There is a Welsh medium primary school in close 

proximity to Castle Park School that has surplus 

places and has been recently extended and 

refurbished. Pupils who wish to be educated 

through the medium of Welsh are able to attend 

P
age 96



 Well Being Goal  

Does the proposal contribute to this goal? 

Describe the positive and negative impacts. 

What actions have been/will be taken to 

mitigate any negative impacts or better 

contribute to positive impacts? 

are encouraged to do sport, art and 
recreation 

be taught to pupils through the medium of Welsh in 

line with the Curriculum for Wales. 

there and have an immersive experience they 

require 

A more equal Wales 
People can fulfil their potential no 
matter what their background or 
circumstances 

The proposal will enable pupils who previously were 

unable to attend the school through disability to do 

so and therefore remain within their comminuty. The 

improvements will encourage improved access for 

members of the community who are disabled or 

have other support needs.  

 

 

5. How has your proposal embedded and prioritised the sustainable governance principles in its development? 

Sustainable Development 

Principle  

Does your proposal demonstrate you have met 

this principle?  If yes, describe how.  If not explain 

why. 

Are there any additional actions to be taken to 
mitigate any negative impacts or better 

contribute to positive impacts? 

Balancing 

short term 

need with 

long term and 

planning for 

the future 

Children who are able to attend a school within the 

community are more likely to continue their education within 

the county. 

The proposal will allow for future pupil growth.  

 

Working 

together with 

other 

partners to 

deliver 

objectives  

The projects involve working closely with other parties to 

deliver improved facilities and to ensure better access for 

children with disabilities and support needs. 

 

P
age 97



Sustainable Development 

Principle  

Does your proposal demonstrate you have met 

this principle?  If yes, describe how.  If not explain 

why. 

Are there any additional actions to be taken to 
mitigate any negative impacts or better 

contribute to positive impacts? 

Involving 

those with 

an interest 

and seeking 

their views 

The views of Cabinet members, the local members, 

Headteachers, Chairs of Governors and Monmouth 

Diocesan Trust have been sought in the drafting of the 

proposal 

 

Putting 

resources 

into 

preventing 

problems 

occurring or 

getting 

worse 

The proposal will provide accommodation for existing pupils 

and for pupils moving into the Caldicot town area. 

The proposal will enable pupils to remain within their 

community and they will therefore not require home to 

school transport to the next nearest school with available 

capacity 

 

 

Considering 

impact on all 

wellbeing 

goals 

together and 

on other 

bodies 

The proposals will have a positive impact on the health & 

wellbeing of the pupils, future pupils and people living in the 

area. The proposal will improve educational provision, 

improve efficiency in the delivery of education and improve 

educational outcomes. 

 

 
  

P
age 98



6. Council has agreed the need to consider the impact its decisions has on the following important responsibilities: Corporate 
Parenting and Safeguarding.  Are your proposals going to affect any of these responsibilities?   
 

 Describe any positive impacts your 
proposal has  

Describe any negative impacts 
your proposal has  

What will you do/ have you done 
to mitigate any negative impacts 
or better contribute to positive 
impacts? 

Safeguarding  The schools has a safeguarding policy in 

place. There is controlled entry to the 

school building and current 

arrangements will remain in place or be 

enhanced 

 

  

Corporate Parenting  Current arrangements for children who are 

looked after will remain in place 

 

  

 
7. What evidence and data has informed the development of your proposal? 
 

 Surplus places data 

 Planning places data 

 Information from LDP for known housing deveopments 

 

8. SUMMARY:  As a result of completing this form, what are the main positive and negative impacts of your proposal, how have 
they informed/changed the development of the proposal so far and what will you be doing in future? 

 

P
age 99



The proposal has positive impacts for protected characteristics, social economic impacts, and all of the 7 wellbeing goals and has been developed 

considering the five ways of working under the Wellbeing and Future Generations Act. 

The main benefit of the proposal is that children and young people who live in the Caldciot town area can be educated within that area and not require 

home to school transport to schools outside of their community either because there are no spaces available or because the environment is not suitable for 

their needs. 

Welsh language is taught at Castle Park School in line with the Curriculum for Wales and there is provision within the Caldciot Town area for pupils who 

wish to receive their education totally through the medium of Welsh. This school has also recently been refurbished and extended and have surplus place 

to accommodate additional pupils. 

Pupils who wish to receive a Chruch education can do so at Archbishop Rowan Williams School, again in the locality. Archbisop Rowan Williams School 

will receive funding from two other S016 developments in the area to enhance and increase it’s provision. 

 

 

 

9. ACTIONS: As a result of completing this form are there any further actions you will be undertaking? Please detail them below, if 
applicable. 

 

What are you going to do  When are you going to do it?  Who is responsible  

N/A   

   

   

 

10. VERSION CONTROL: The Equality and Future Generations Evaluation should be used at the earliest stage, such as informally 

within your service, and then further developed throughout the decision making process.  It is important to keep a record of this 

process to demonstrate how you have considered and built in equality and future generations considerations  wherever 

possible. 

 

Version 

No. 

Decision making stage  Date considered Brief description of any amendments made following 

consideration 

1 CYP DMT 19/06/23 No adjustments made 

P
age 100



    

    

 

P
age 101



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

SUBJECT:    S106 Funding Caldicot 
MEETING:     CABINET 
DATE TO BE CONSIDERED:   7th June 2023 
WARDS AFFECTED:   Caldicot Castle and Portskewett 
 

 

1. PURPOSE 

 

1.1 To recommend to full Cabinet the inclusion of capital funding generated from 

S106 agreements in the 2023/24 Capital Budget 
 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS  

2.1 Cabinet agrees that a budget of £439,286k is created in 2023/24 Capital 
Programme to fund adaptations at Castle Park Primary School to improve 
accessibility and increase the school capacity from 210 to 261 pupil places 
with effect from 1st September 2024. 

 
2.2 The £439,286 will be funded by a S106 contribution from the development of 

the Sudbrook Paper Mill Site. This funding has been received into the 
Councils budget. 
 

2.3 The remaining S106 funding due from two other housing developments in the 
Caldicot area, Church Road and Crick Road, will be used to fund 
improvement works at Archbishop Rowan Williams VA School as and when 
the funding is received into the Councils budget. 

 

      3.  KEY ISSUES   

3.1 S106 funding is allocated as part of the housing development at the former 

Sudbrook Paper Mill, to Castle Park Primary School and Archbishop Rowan 

Williams (ARW) Church in Wales Primary School  

3.2 There is currently pressure on the school places within the Caldicot town area 

and the potential growth previously anticipated from this development into 

ARW Primary School has not yet materialised, due to the pace of the 

developments. 

3.3 ARW is a Voluntary Aided School and is the nearest school to the housing 

development. Castle Park Primary School is the nearest non-denominational 

School to the housing development and therefore also included in the S106 

agreement. 

3.4 Castle Park Primary School currently has 2 classrooms that are not included 

within their current 210 capacity. These classrooms have been surplus to 

requirements for several years and used as designated art and music rooms. 

Page 103



3.5 The amount of funding received from the Sudbrook Mill development will 

enable the LA to refurbish these two classrooms and enhance other facilities 

at Castle Park School which will then release the current pressure on pupil 

places in the town schools. 

3.6 If the funding is split equally between both Castle Park and ARW schools, the 

amount of money would not allow for any substantial work to be undertaken 

and would not alleviate the existing pressure on school places and therefore 

not the best use of funding.  

3.7 There are two additional housing developments in the area, Crick Road 

(£811k) and Church Road (£345k). Both developments have ARW and Castle 

Park named as beneficiaries of S106 funding. It is proposed that if the 

Sudbrook Paper Mill funding is used for Castle Park the other two funding 

streams are earmarked for ARW when received. 

3.8 The S106 agreement for Sudbrook Paper Mill specifies that the funding must 

be spent by end of 2023. The remodelling and refurbishment project at Castle 

Park Primary School will ensure this is adhered to.  

3.9 Work required at ARW is more substantial than the proposal at Castle Park 

and maybe subject to Statutory Consultation under the Schools Standards 

and Organisation (Wales) Act 2013.  

3.10 A feasibility study is currently being undertaken on ARW School to determine 

the best use of the funding, so that when the Council is in receipt of it, work 

can commence. 

 

4.0 OPTIONS APPRAISAL 

     

Option 
 

Benefit Risks 

1.Take no action 

and return the 

money to the 

developers with no 

additional or 

improved 

educational 

facilities. 

 

 There are no 
benefits to this 
option 

 There will 
continue to be a 
shortage of pupil 
places within the 
Caldicot town 
area.  

 

 Pupils being 
admitted to their 
next nearest 
school could 
result in the 
need to provide 
additional home 
to school 
transport. 

Page 104



 

 Pupils will not be 
educated in their 
local community. 

 

2 Split the funding 
(£439k) from 
Sudbrook Paper Mill 
development equally 
between the two 
schools. 
 

 Each school will 
have equal 
amounts of 
funding from the 
development 

 The amount of 
funding this will 
realise for each 
school will not 
allow for any 
substantial 
remodelling or 
refurbishment of 
the two schools.  

 

 Same risks as 
above in option 1 

3 Allocate the 

Sudbrook Paper Mill 

funding to Castle 

Park Primary School 

to relieve the 

pressure on pupil 

places in the 

schools in the 

Caldicot town area, 

and in future 

allocate the funding 

from Crick Road and 

Church Road to 

Archbishop Rowan 

Williams VA School 

 

 There will be an 
opportunity to 
address the lack 
of school places 
within the 
Caldicot town 
area. 

 Pupils living in the 
area will be able 
to attend their 
local school. 

 There will be no 
requirement for 
home to school 
transport. 

 The combined 
funding from the 
two other housing 
developments will 
achieve more at 
Archbishop 
Rowan Williams 

 Provides for 
those who may 
not wish for a 
Church education  

 The 
developments at 
Crick Road may 
not generate the 
S106 funding if 
developers review 
proposals due to 
market 
conditions.  
 

4 Allocate the 

Sudbrook Paper Mill 

funding to 

Archbishop Rowan 

Williams VA School 

 The funding will 
enable some 
remodelling work 
to be undertaken 
at ARW but 
nothing significant 

 The amount 
of funding will 
not provide 
any 
significant 
impact on the 

Page 105



that will address 
future capacity 
issues 

pupil places 
available. 

 There will still 
be pressure 
on Caldicot 
town schools. 

 Some 
parents may 
not wish for 
their children 
to have 
church 
education, so 
places will be 
required 
elsewhere in 
Caldicot. 

 Undertaking 
a statutory 
process at 
this stage will 
result in 
possible loss 
of funding. 
 

    

 

5.  REASONS 

 

5.1 To ensure the S016 funding from the Sudbrook Paper Mill is available in 

the Council’s 2023/2024 capital budget. 

5.2 To ensure the Section 106 funding received from the developer is used 

effectively to enhance education provision in the local area and relieve 

pressure on pupil places. 

 

6.  RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 

 

The S106 funding identified in this report has been received to improve 

education facilities in the local area, so the works proposed will not 

impact on existing capital. 

The total floor and ground area of the school will not increase therefore 

the delegated funding for premises costs will remain the same. As the 

number of pupils increase this will generate further funding for staffing 

and resources via the Section 52, however these pupils would have 

attended schools in Caldicot and therefore the funding will be directed to 

Castle Park instead.  There may also be a saving for transport as pupils 

will be able to attend their nearest school.  

Page 106



 

 

7.  WELL BEING OF FUTURE GENERATIONS IMPLICATIONS (INCORPORATING 

     EQUALITIES, SUSTAINABILITY, SAFEGUARDING & CORPORATE PARENTING) 

      

See attached at Appendix A. 

The proposal has positive impacts for protected characteristics, social 

economic impacts, and all the 7 wellbeing goals and has been developed 

considering the five ways of working under the Wellbeing and Future 

Generations Act. 

The main benefit of the proposal is that children and young people who live 

in the Caldicot town area can be educated within that area and not require 

home to school transport to schools outside of their community either 

because there are no spaces available or because the environment is not 

suitable for their needs. 

Welsh language is taught at Castle Park School in line with the Curriculum 

for Wales and there is provision within the Caldicot Town area for pupils who 

wish to receive their education totally through the medium of Welsh. This 

school has also recently been refurbished and extended and have surplus 

place to accommodate additional pupils. 

Pupils who wish to receive a Church education can do so at Archbishop 

Rowan Williams School, again in the locality. Archbishop Rowan Williams 

School will receive funding from two other S016 developments in the area to 

enhance and increase its provision. 

 

8.  CONSULTEES 

 
Senior Leadership Team 
Cabinet Members 
Local Members 
Section 106 Working Group 

 

Assistant Head of Finance/Section 151 Officer 
Headteachers and Chairs of Governors Castle Park Primary School and ARW 
Primary School 
Monmouth Diocesan Trust 
 
All comments have been responded to and taken into account within the 
report where appropriate. 
            

 

9. BACKGROUND PAPERS 

 Section 106 Agreements: 

 Sudbrook Paper Mill 

Page 107



 Crick Road 

 Church Road - Caldicot 

10. AUTHOR 

Cath Saunders – Sustainable Communities for Learning 

Programme Manager 

Email – Cathsaunders@monmouthshire.gov.uk. 

Nikki Wellington – Support Services Manager 

 Email: Nicolawellington@monmouthshire.gov.uk 

 

Page 108

mailto:Cathsaunders@monmouthshire.gov.uk
mailto:Nicolawellington@monmouthshire.gov.uk


 

                           

                   

 

P
age 109



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 

 
 

 
1. PURPOSE:  
1.1 The purpose of this report is to approve a proposal that the Council consults on the 

suitability of four pieces of Council owned land for potential development to meet (all or 
part meet) its statutory obligation to address identified Gypsy and Traveller pitch needs 
in Monmouthshire.  

 
1.2 To recommend further evaluation of a fifth piece of Council owned land, to inform 

possible consultation and that the Council puts out a ‘call’ for land in private ownership. 
 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS:   
2.1 Cabinet Member recommends to Cabinet the commencement of the consultation 

exercise which will look at the following Council owned sites for the potential 
development of Gypsy and Traveller pitch provision namely: 

 

 Manson Heights, Monmouth 

 Rocklea, Mitchel Troy 

 Garthi Close, Mitchel Troy 

 Langley Close, Magor 

2.2  Agree that further evaluation is undertaken on an additional piece of Council owned 
land, to further inform possible suitability and if applicable, (subject to findings) future 
consultation. 

 Dancing Hill, Undy (west of Dancing Hill) 

2.3  Agree to a ‘call’ for landowners who may wish to suggest parcels of land to come 
forward for consideration and further consultation.  

3. KEY ISSUES: 
3.1      All Council’s in Wales have a duty under Part 3, Housing (Wales) Act 2014 to  

undertake a Gypsy & Traveller Assessment every five years.  Where unmet need for 
mobile home pitches is identified, the necessary pitch provision needs to be made. 
The last Assessment was adopted by Cabinet  on 6th January 2021.  The summary 
conclusions of the most recent Assessment are: 

 

 The assessment finds that there is an unmet need of nine pitches under the 
assessment period 2020 to 2025.  

 Beyond 2025, there is a further unmet need of four pitches over the remaining 
length of the Replacement Local Development Plan (2026-33). 

 
3.2     The Council has implemented a process to evaluate all Council owned land to  

identify suitable land that will help to meet the above need.  An overview  
of the identification process undertaken by the Council is provided in Appendix 1. 

 

SUBJECT: MEETING GYPSY & TRAVELLER PITCH NEEDS - LAND IDENTIFICATION  
MEETING:  CABINET 
DATE:  26TH JULY 2023 
DIVISION/WARDS AFFECTED: ALL 
 

Page 111

Agenda Item 5

https://democracy.monmouthshire.gov.uk/documents/s27663/3.%20GTAA%20_06Jan_Final%20002.pdf


3.3  The outcome of the identification process has concluded that five pieces of Council 
owned land may be suitable for development as pitch provision, four of which it is 
proposed are consulted upon.  It is proposed that further investigative work is 
undertaken in respect of the fifth site prior to any decision on consultation. An 
overview of this land is provided below and a more detailed overview for each location 
is provided in Appendix 2 and 3. 

 

MCC Land* Summary/Main Conclusion  Recommendation 

Land Considered Suitable 

Manson Heights,  
Monmouth 
 

No significant internal officer 
feedback received to suggest the 
site’s suitability shouldn’t be further 
considered.  However, historical 
mapping has identified an Isolation 
Hospital for infectious diseases was 
previously situated on this land, 
likely between 1905-1964.   
 
The land is prioritised on the 
Councils Contaminated Land 
inspection strategy as a category E 
(low priority for further inspection).   
 
Should any type of accommodation 
be built on the land, (without site 
investigation and, if necessary, 
remediation) the site would become 
a category B (medium-high priority). 
  

Consider retaining in process 
for consultation. 
 
Any future decision to 
develop would need to be 
subject to a land 
contamination site 
investigation. 
 
 

Garthi Close,  
Mitchel Troy 
 

No significant internal officer 
feedback received to suggest the 
site’s suitability shouldn’t be further 
considered.  For assessment criteria 
RAG rated red, it is considered that 
mitigating action can be taken to 
address the concerns raised  . 
 

Consider retaining in process 
for consultation. 

Rocklea, 
Mitchel Troy 
 

No significant internal officer 
feedback received to suggest the 
site’s suitability shouldn’t be further 
considered.  For assessment criteria 
RAG rated red, it is considered that 
mitigating action can be taken to 
address the concerns raised. 
 

Consider retaining in process 
for consultation. 

Langley Close, 
Magor 
 

No significant internal officer 
feedback received to suggest the 
site’s suitability shouldn’t be further 
considered.    
 

Consider retaining in process 
for consultation. 

Land Possibly Not Suitable – But Not Currently Determined 

Dancing Hill 1.85 
acres, Undy 
 

Feedback received to suggest the 
site may not be suitable.   For 
assessment criteria with a RAG red 
rating, suitability would be subject to 
further assessment/surveys.   
 

Consider retaining or 
removing from process.   
 
It is recommended that if this 
land was retained in the 
process, possible use for 

Page 112



It is not known whether mitigating 
action would be necessary or 
feasible to address and remediate 
the concerns raised.   
 
 

Gypsy & Traveller pitch 
provision isn’t consulted 
upon until such time the 
required investigative survey 
work has been completed 
and the findings known and 
understood.   
  

 *A number of the above areas of land are large enough to accommodate the whole of the pitch needs 
identified in the Gypsy & Traveller Accommodation Assessment.  It is not being proposed nor 
recommended that larger areas of land are utilised necessarily to their maximum pitch capacity and, 
therefore, should not be evaluated or considered on the basis of their maximum pitch capacity. Smaller 
provision is considered more appropriate and sustainable. 

 
3.4 Of the need of thirteen pitches identified, it is proposed that one pitch is facilitated by 

supporting a private household with acquiring planning permission for an additional pitch 
on their existing site.  This effectively reduces the pitch requirement to 12.   

 
3.5 Any further planning permission approvals since the Gypsy & Traveller Assessment 

should also be taken into account. 
 
3.5 The proposed next steps are: 
 

 Cabinet – 26th July 2023 – agree proposal to consult on identified sites 
 

 August - September 2023 -  consult on identified site(s)  
 

 People Scrutiny Committee 5th October 2023 – report on outcome of 
consultation and make site(s) recommendation for proceeding. 

 

 Cabinet 8th November 2023 – agree site(s) to progress for potential development 
 

 December 2023 Onwards: 
 

o Progress with incorporating identified site(s) into the Replacement Local 
Development Plan 

o Engage with Travelling Ahead; Gypsy, Roma and Traveller Advice & 
Advocacy Service, MCC Estates and Welsh Government. 

 
3.5 It is proposed to appoint a specialist planning agency that supports and advocates for 

community involvement in planning, to facilitate the consultation on behalf of the 
Council. 

 
4.  EQUALITY AND FUTURE GENERATIONS EVALUATION (INCLUDES SOCIAL 

JUSTICE, SAFEGUARDING AND CORPORATE PARENTING): 
4.1 No negative implications have been identified respect of this proposal to consult. See 

Appendix 4.  However, should the Council make a decision to develop pitch provision, 
negative implications have been identified in respect of some of the locations.  There 
would be a need to identify mitigating steps. 

 
5. OPTIONS APPRAISAL 
5.1 The following options are available: 
 

Page 113



Option  Benefit  Risk   

Option 1:  The 
recommended option is that 
Cabinet gives approval for 
the Council to consult on 
pieces of land for potential 
suitability and development 
for Gypsy & Traveller pitch 
provision and agree to a ‘call’ 
for landowners who may wish 
to suggest parcels of land to 
come forward for 
consideration and further 
consultation. 
 
 
 

 This contributes to the 
Council’s legal 
responsibilities to meet 
identified Gypsy & 
Traveller pitch needs 

 

 Facilitating pitch needs 
can be undertaken by 
a number of means 
and doesn’t have to be 
undertaken through 
public pitch provision 
and/or using Council 
owned land. 
 
 

 It is possible there may be 
community objection to any 
proposed development of 
Council owned land for 
Gypsy & Traveller sites. 

 

 There will be future 
financial implications 
associated with continuing 
to evaluate and finalise 
suitability eg land 
contamination investigation  

 

 There will be future 
financial implications 
associated with any final 
decisions relating to 
developing and managing 
a proposed site, although it 
is anticipated that Welsh 
Government capital grant 
will be available. 
 

Option 2: That Cabinet give 
approval for the Council to 
consult on a smaller selection 
of these pieces of land for 
potential suitability and 
development for Gypsy & 
Traveller pitch provision (eg 
consult on one, two or three 
of the pieces of land rather 
than four). 
 

 This will still contribute 
positively to the 
Council’s legal 
responsibilities to meet 
identified Gypsy & 
Traveller pitch needs 

 It is possible there may be 
community objection to any 
proposed development of 
Council owned land for 
Gypsy & Traveller sites. 

 

 Subject to final decisions, 
this option will impact on 
the number of pitches the 
Council will be able to 
provide and it reduces the 
likelihood of the Council 
meeting the whole 
identified need (eg 13 
pitches) for 
Monmouthshire.  

 

 There will be future 
financial implications 
associated with any final 
decisions relating to 
developing and managing 
a proposed site, although it 
is anticipated that Welsh 
Government capital grant 
will be available. 

 
 

Option 3: To not recommend 
any of the pieces of land to 
Cabinet to formally consult 
upon.    
 

 No benefits with this 
option, although the 
Council still may 
conclude that none of 
the pieces of land are 
suitable. 

 It would impact on the 
Council meeting its legal 
responsibilities to meet 
identified pitch provision 
need. 

 

Page 114



Option  Benefit  Risk   

 
 

 
6. REASONS: 
6.1      The Council has a duty under Part 3, Housing (Wales) Act 2014 to address unmet  

need for mobile home pitches where identified. Using Council owned land is one  
option for meeting identified need.  

 
7.      RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: 
7.1  The estimated cost of appointing a specialist planning agency to consult on the potential 

land options is approximately £4,000, subject to the final number of pieces of land 
evaluated as suitable for development by the Workshop. This will be funded from the 
Housing & Communities budget. 

 
7.2 Subject to a final decision on consulting on Council owned pieces of land, there will be 

further revenue implications relating to undertaking air quality and noise assessments 
and land contamination investigation, to continue evaluating land for suitability. 

 
7.3 Although not relating to this report and any decision to consult on Council owned land 

for potential future pitch provision development, there will be capital and revenue cost 
implications relating to any decision to develop pitch provision.  The Council would 
engage with Welsh Government in respect of possible capital grant availability. 
 

8. CONSULTEES: 
8.1      Cabinet; Senior Leadership Team; Communities & Place DMT; Housing Management 

Team; Travelling Ahead - Gypsy & Traveller Advocates; Principal Environmental Health  
Officer; Snr Landscape and Urban Officer; Biodiversity & Ecology Lead; Highways  
Development Manager; Head of Planning and People Scrutiny Committee 19th July  
2023. 

 
8.2 See Appendix 5 for comments and feedback provided by People Scrutiny on 19th July  

2023 (to be inserted after 19th July 2023). 
 

9.       BACKGROUND PAPERS:  
Welsh Government Site Design Guide 2015 

   
10.      AUTHOR: Ian Bakewell, Housing & Communities Manager 
 
11.      CONTACT DETAILS: Tel: 01633 644479 Email:   
           ianbakewell@monmouthshire.gov.uk  
  

Page 115



 
Appendix 1 

Gypsy & Traveller Pitch Provision 
Land (MCC Owned Land) Identification and Evaluation 

 
20th July 2022, People Scrutiny Committee - proposal for identifying sites and approach for 
member and Committee involvement considered. 
 
Stage 1 

 Preliminary Identification of all MCC Land and Assets – desktop exercise by officers.  An 
appraisal of All MCC owned land, giving regard to Welsh Government Site Design Guide 2015. 
 

• Approximately 1500 council assets considered and reviewed.  Land removed: 
 

o Asset is a MCC property;  
o Cemetery Land; Allocations in the existing adopted LDP;  
o Tree Planting Scheme; 
o Woodland;  
o Covered by a ground lease;  
o Council Car Park; Footpath/road 

 
Stage 2 –  Further land removed relating to the following: 
 

o Site is less than 500sqm – desired pitch size is min 500sqm for public sites.  [A 
pitch capable of accommodating an amenity block, mobile home, caravan and 
parking for two vehicles];  

o Equipped Children’s Play Area;  
o Playing Fields (Pitch);  
o County Farm Holdings;  
o Allocations in the existing adopted LDP/ RLDP promotion sites;  
o Known unfavourable topography;  
o Woodland areas that were missed on Stage 1;  
o C1 & C2 Flood Risk – known sites in flood risk removed;  
o Sites with any uncertain inputs have been carried forward to the next stage for 

further assessment 
 

• Approximately 70 sites remained from 1500 sites  
 
Stage 3 – assess flood risk as per updated TAN 15.   Land removed due to: 
 

o Sites wholly or mostly in Zones 2 & 3 of updated TAN15 maps (sea and river)  
 Sites where boundary could potentially be amended to remove site out of 

flood risk kept on list 
o Surface water flood risk highlighted for further assessment 
o Any constraints identified in Stage 1 & 2 if picked up at Stage  
o Brecon Beacons National Park Plan  
o Within and adjacent to Conservation Areas and/or Historic Park & Garden  
o Enclosed/surrounded by built environment privacy and amenity / placemaking 
o National Ecological designations eg SSSI   

 

 Approximately 50 sites remained 
 
Stage 4  - RAG Evaluation of Land - this exercise reduced the sites for potential consideration down 
to 9 pieces of land.  The methodology used included desk-top evaluation, site visits, internal service 
consultation, Gypsy & Traveller community consultation undertaken by Travelling Ahead and 
feedback from Travelling Ahead themselves. 
 
 17 areas of land evaluated against the following RAG criteria: 

Page 116



 
Site Area Ecological Designation on whole or part of site (SSSI, SINC, SAC, 

RAMSAR, national/local nature reserve) 

Ability to provide utility infrastructure 

Flood Zone (Updated TAN 15 Flood Maps) Proximity to ecological designation 

Within or adjoining a Settlement Boundary Landscape Sensitivity (as recorded in the Landscape Sensitivity Study) 

Greenfield/Brownfield Mineral Safeguarding Area 

Surrounded by Built Development Proximity to potential ‘bad neighbours’ e.g. dual carriageways, trunk roads, 
motorway, railway, industrial estates) 

Potential for expansion 

Within BBNP or AONB Contamination (as recorded on Monmaps) 

Within Green Wedge or potential Green Belt School Proximity 

Within Phosphates Catchment Area Medical Facility Proximity 

Adopted LDP DES2 Allocation Proximity to other Amenities 

DES2 in Review  Public transport proximity and frequency 

Within/adjacent to Conservation Area or Historic Parks & Garden Proximity to Historical Designation (inc Listed Buildings and Con Areas) 

Within Archeologically Sensitive Area  Topography 

Permanency Access 

 
 

 29th September 2022, Member Workshop 1 – to communicate to all members the Council’s 
Gypsy & Traveller responsibilities, advise of the identified unmet need and provide an update on 
site sifting work undertaken to date and the approach taken (which had identified 17 sites for 
further consideration).  To enable further sifting of Council owned land, a proposed approach to 
RAG (Red, Amber, Green) rate land was considered.  See Appendix 2 for an overview of 
evaluation criteria. The Workshop recommended that the proposed RAG be used to further 
evaluate 17 pieces of Council owned land.   
 
The Workshop also recommended Gypsy & Traveller awareness training be arranged for 
members and officers. 

 

 Application of RAG, reduced 17 pieces of land to 9 pieces of land 
 

 3rd November 2022, Member Workshop 2 - 9 pieces of land were shared and discussed at the 
Workshop.  The Workshop recommended that these 9 pieces of land should remain in the 
process for continued evaluation. 

 

 Officer Acquisition of Preliminary Feedback – feedback received from internal services, 
Travelling Ahead – Gypsy & Traveller Advocates and the Gypsy & Traveller community 
(undertaken on behalf of the Council by Travelling Ahead). 
 

Page 117



 30th January 2023, Member & Officer Gypsy & Traveller Awareness Training – facilitated by 
Travelling Ahead. 

 
Stage 5 

 4th July 2023 – Members Workshop 3 - consider 9 remaining sites and whether to leave in 
process and recommend consulting on possible development or remove from process. 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 118



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 119



This page is intentionally left blank



Gypsy & Traveller Site Identification – MCC Land Evaluation 
 

MCC Land - Dancing Hill x 1.85, Undy 
 

Site Size – Approx 12,738 m²  
 

Pitch Capacity –  sufficient to meet MCC’s pitch 
needs* 
 
*The site has the capacity for more pitches, but these are not needed.  
Sites above approx. 5 or 6 pitches are not recommended  
 

General Description 

 Urban 

 The land forms part of the Council’s County Farms estate and is occupied via a grazing license. 
It is anticipated this license would need to be terminated/amended should the site be 
supported for this use 

 Former Dancing Hill Landfill Site 1940-60. 

 The land is classed as high risk for human health in MCC’s contaminated land prioritisation list.  
Development of this land could not be undertaken without planning conditions requiring 
contaminated land site investigation and remediation. 

 Level 

 Residential adjacent to southern boundary.  M4 to north of site  

 Access off Dancing Hill/Grange Road. 

 Tree Preservation Orders on northern boundary.   

 Trees bordering the boundary 

 Opposite to the west of the other Dancing Hill x 0.85 land 
 

Ward – Magor East with Undy 
 

Photo’s 
 

             
 
                            

 

 

Page 121



             
 

Strengths 

 Level land 

 Scope to create a margin between 
existing homes 

 Future scope to expand – subject to 
original development size (sites above 
5 or 6 aren’t recommended) 
 

Weaknesses 

 Adjoins existing homes to east and south 

 Proximity to M4 – noise and potential pollution. 
Traffic and noise assessments/surveys would be 
needed given the proximity of the M4 - a TAN 
11 Noise assessment to establish whether this 
site is suitable having regard to the existing 
background noise levels. 

 Mineral safeguarding area 

 Former landfill site and is currently classed as 
high risk for human health in MCC’s 
contaminated land prioritisation list.  

 DES2 Amenity land 

 Greenfield 

 Existing access is unsuitable, but an alternative 
access is considered achievable from Grange 
Road where the site directly abuts Grange Road 
at its widest point. Traffic assessment would be 
required.  

 There would be a loss to the current grazing 
licence holder who would need to be served 
notice to terminate/amend their existing 
license. 

 It is not known what the site currently contains 
and it is not known whether any remediation of 
the former landfill site use would be necessary 

 Located near of Vinegar Hill housing 
development which is currently in progress.  On 
completion, additional traffic capacity will be 
relevant to this land. 

 A public footpath runs E to W across the 
northern part of the land. 
 

Opportunities Threats (Risk) 

 Potential health risk 

Page 122



 Due to the size of the land, there is 
scope to develop just a part of the site 
away from existing homes and M4. 

 

 Potential cost of investigative work and 
remediation work 

Key Internal Feedback Comments  

 DES2 Amenity Landon approx half site 

 Greenfield 

 Environmental Health Comments - The site is on a former landfill site.  Site is currently used 
for grazing and is classed as high risk for human health in the contaminated land prioritisation 
list.  Land contamination investigations and potential remediation would need to be 
undertaken prior to use.  TAN11 noise assessment required due to proximity to M4. 
 

Gypsy & Traveller Community Comments 

 Good transport links are needed for work purposes. Supermarket deliveries and taxis will be 
needed.  Near shops is helpful but not so near that kids can walk off into town on their own 
and get into trouble. 

 Not suitable as wish to remain in home community for school, employment and social 
reasons* 

 
* This relates to one household and doesn’t mean that it’s not suitable for other families. 
 

Travelling Ahead Comments 

 Not considered suitable as too close to existing properties and close to M4 in terms of noise 
and pollution.   
 

Recommendation Retain in process and put forward for consultation  
 

 

Page 123



This page is intentionally left blank



Gypsy & Traveller Site Identification – MCC Land Evaluation 
 

MCC Land – Garthi Close, Off Common Road, Mitchel Troy  
 

Site Size – Approx 6,318 m² 
 

Pitch Capacity –  sufficient to meet MCC’s pitch 
needs* 
 
*The site has the capacity for more pitches, but these are not needed.  
Sites above approx. 5 or 6 pitches are not recommended  
 

General Description 

 Rural 

 Situated about a mile from the main Mitchel Troy Road. 

 Well screened to all elevations. 

 To the south west of Mitchel Troy 
 

Ward – Mitchel Troy 
 

Photo’s 
 

      
                  

 

 

                  
 

Strengths 

 Well screened on all elevations 

Weaknesses 

Page 125



 Relatively level area of land, although 
sloping downwards N/NE. 

 Scope to create margin in respect of 
adjoining property eg develop to west 
of land. 

 Scope to develop towards the west 
elevation, away from nearby homes. 
 

 

 Boundary of land is reasonably close to a 
number of existing homes to three of the 
elevations. 

 Greenfield 

 Wye Valley AONB 

 River Wye Catchment 

 Site is bounded by native species hedge.  To 
create access, some hedging would need to be 
removed. 

 Gradient of adjoining road relating to access 
and signage ‘not suitable for HGV’s. 

 Adjoining road - narrow/single track lane 

 Common Road – narrow and single track in 
places. 

 Farm traffic/plant frequents adjoining and 
Common Road. 

 The current access is situated off a private lane. 
 

Opportunities 

 None identified 
 

Threats (Risk) 

 Potential detrimental impact on native species 
relating to required hedge removal. 

 Road safety in relation to existing farm traffic 
 

Key Internal Feedback Comments 

 Greenfield 

 Within Wye Valley Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty 

 Within River Wye catchment and, therefore, phosphate implications 

 GI - Site is not suitable.  To create suitable access a significant section of existing hedge would 
need to be removed.  Based on the proposed layout for settlement, location, impact on 
character setting and the qualities of Monmouthshire's landscape as well as the Wye Valley, 
AONB the site is not suitable. 

 Ecology - The site is bounded by native species hedge, part of the hedgerow will need to be 
removed to permit access.  The quality of the habitats is unknown without surveys but it is 
likely that the hedgerow will meet priority criteria and there is potential for priority grassland.  
It is recommended that the required hedgerow loss would make this site unsuitable for 
proposed development. 
 

Gypsy & Traveller Community Comments 

 Easier to get Planning the further you are away from other people due to hostility.  Putting 
sites near to settled community doesn't work.  Feeling mutual of not wanting to live near each 
other (ie Travellers and the settled population) 

 Not suitable as wish to remain in home community for school, employment and social 
reasons* 

 
* This relates to one household and doesn’t mean that it’s not suitable for other families. 

 

Travelling Ahead Comments 

 Positive that it's not too close to too many existing homes and there is scope to develop the 
north/westerly side of the site and create a good margin.  This site shouldn't go forward 
together with the Rocklea site.  Site more preferable than Rocklea site. Being a larger area of 

Page 126



land creates flexibility.  Shouldn't be developed if the Rocklea land proceeds.  The Garthi Close 
site is considered more suitable than the Rocklea land. 
 

Recommendation Retain in process for ongoing consideration.  
 

Date 14th July 2023 
 

 

Page 127



This page is intentionally left blank



Gypsy & Traveller Site Identification – MCC Land Evaluation 
 

MCC Land – Langley Close, Magor  
 

Site Size – Approx 23,431m²  
 

Pitch Capacity –  sufficient to meet MCC’s pitch 
needs* 
 
*The site has the capacity for additional pitches above the identified 
need, but these are not required.  Large sites and provision above 5 or 6 
units are not recommended. 
 

General Description 

 Urban 

 Access off St Brides Road. 

 The land forms part of the Council’s County Farms estate and is occupied via a grazing license. 
It is anticipated this license would need to be terminated/amended should the site be 
supported for this use 

 Residential properties adjoining southern boundary.  M4 to the north, open land to east and 
west. 

 Tree belt around the site 
 

Ward – Magor West 
 

Photo’s 
 

                 
                  

 

        

Page 129



 

Strengths 

 Level land 

 Scope for expansion (within the 
context of not creating a large site) 

 Ability to create a margin between 
homes and M4 

 New access can be created on St Brides 
Close 
 

Weaknesses 

 Greenfield 

 Mineral safeguarding area 

 Existing access is not suitable 

 Traffic and noise assessments/surveys would be 
needed given the proximity of the M4 - a TAN 
11 Noise assessment to establish whether this 
site is suitable having regard to the existing 
background noise levels. 

 Woodland along M4 corridor may support 
Dormouse, reptiles, birds and lizards 

 Adjacent to existing homes 

 There would be a loss to the current grazing 
licence holder who would need to be served 
notice to terminate/amend their existing 
license. 
 

Opportunities 

 Due to the size of the land, there is 
scope to develop just a part of the site 
away from existing homes and M4. 
 
 

Threats (Risk) 

 Close to M4 – air and noise pollution  

 Possible risk of land contamination eg 
unrecorded waste disposal from nearby housing 
development or disposal of made ground or 
parking from heavy vehicles/equipment. 
 

Key Internal Feedback Comments 

 Greenfield 

 Mineral Safeguarding area 

 Land should be investigated for possible land contamination, and if necessary remediated 
prior to introducing a receptor.   
 

Gypsy & Traveller Community Comments 

 Good transport links are needed for work purposes. Supermarket deliveries and taxis will be 
needed. Near shops is helpful but not so near that kids can walk off into town on their own 
and get into trouble. Easier to get Planning the further you are away from other people due to 
hostility.  Putting sites near to settled community doesn't work.  

 Not suitable as wish to remain in home community for school, employment and social 
reasons* 

 
* This relates to one household and doesn’t mean that it’s not suitable for other families. 
 

Travelling Ahead Comments 

 Although close to existing homes, considered a possible option due to the ability to develop 
the site from the west to centre and create a margin to the existing homes.  Being a sizeable 
site creates flexibility.  Near M4 so issue of pollution and noise.  
 

Recommendation Retain in process for ongoing consideration  
 

Date 14th July 2023 

 

Page 130



Gypsy & Traveller Site Identification – MCC Land Evaluation 
 

MCC Land – Manson Heights, Monmouth 
 

Site Size – Approx 775 m² 
 

Pitch Capacity –  1 pitch max 

General Description 

 Rural 

 Level site 

 Currently open space.  Hedged and well screened to North and East elevations.   

 Situated to the north of 3 x Manson Height properties, two of which would adjoin the site. 

 Easily accessed from Manson Heights.  However, access to Manson Heights is via Manson 
Heights and Manson Lane – very narrow single-track lanes from the A466.  
 

Ward – Osbaston 
 

 

                                    
 

 

    
 

Strengths 

 May suit an individual family 

 Existing screening in place x 2 elevations 

 Level site 
 

Weaknesses 

 Location of a former Isolation Hospital for 
infectious diseases, likely 1905-64. The land 
is prioritised on the Councils Contaminated 
Land inspection strategy as a category E (low 
priority for further inspection). Should any 
type of accommodation be built on the land, 
(without site investigation and, if necessary, 

Page 131



remediation) the site would become a 
category B (medium-high priority). 

 Narrow single-track lane access for access – 
lack of passing places.  And may have 
implications for developing and 
decommissioning 

 Adjoins existing homes 

 Minimal margin between adjoining homes 

 No scope to expand 

 Less economical to develop being due to 
size. 

 Local residents use for a play area. 
 

Opportunities 

 Being allocated to one family – no risk of 
other families arriving 

 Could be sold to a household. 
 

Threats (Risk) 

 Potential health risk 

 Potential cost of investigative work and 
remediation work 

Key Internal Feedback Comments 

 Greenfield site 

 Within Wye catchment so phosphate implications 

 Land contamination investigation should be undertaken to evaluate potential suitability 
 

Gypsy & Traveller Community Comments 

 Easier to get Planning consent the further you are away from other people due to hostility.  
Putting sites near to settled community doesn't work.  Feeling mutual of not wanting to live 
near each other (ie Travellers and the settled population). Easier to get Planning the further 
you are away from other people due to hostility. 

 Not suitable as wish to remain in home community for school, employment and social 
reasons* 

 
* This relates to one household and doesn’t mean that it’s not suitable for other families. 
 

Travelling Ahead Comments 

 Not suitable.  Too close to existing homes.  Existing screening on two elevations is good.  The 
provision of just one pitch may be less economical.  MCC is advised to aim for sites that can 
accommodate 5/6 pitches 
 

Recommendation Retain in process for consideration by Members Workshop 
 

 

Page 132



Site Name and Address Descripti

on

Area Larger 

than 

500sqm?

Inside Flood 

Zone

Within or 

adjoining a 

Settlement 

boundary

Greenfield/

brownfield 

Surrounded by 

built 

development/pri

vacy/amenity 

issues

Within 

BBNP or 

AONB

Within 

Green 

Wedge or 

potential 

Green Belt

Within 

Phosphates 

Catchment 

Area

DES2 

Alllocatio

n

DES2 in 

Review 

Recommend

ation

Within/a

djacent 

to 

Conserv

ation 

Area or 

Historic 

Park & 

Garden

Within 

ASA

Heritage 

designations (LB, 

Con Area, Historic 

Park & Garden, ASA 

and SAMs) (state if 

within and what the 

designation is, state 

what is within 500 

metres of the site)

Ecological 

Designatio

n on whole 

or part of 

site (SSSI, 

SAC, 

RAMSAR, 

national 

nature 

reserves)

Ecology 

Local 

Designati

ons 

(SINC, 

Local 

Nature 

Reserves

, TPO)

Ecology (state if 

within SSSI or SINC 

or SAC or RAMSAR 

or National/Local 

Nature Reserve, 

note if within 500 

metres of one of 

these designations)

Landscape sensitivity 

(state classification on 

Landscape Sensitivity 

Study)

Mineral 

safeguarding 

(state if within 

current 

safeguarding 

area identified in 

Adopted LDP)

Proximity to 'bad 

neighbours' 

(distance from dual 

carriageway road, 

trunk road, 

motorway, railway, 

industrial estate)

Contaminati

on (viability 

of 

remediation) 

(state from 

MonMaps)

School proximity 

(state distance to 

catchment primary and 

secondary schools)

Medical facility 

proximity (state 

distance)

Proximity to 

other 

amenities (e.g. 

shops) (state 

distance to 

nearest Main 

Town, 

Severnside 

Settlement or 

Rural secondary 

Settlement as 

Public transport 

proximity and 

frequency (as set out in 

SSA) - Medium frequency 

- service between 10 - 30 

minutes; Low frequency 

service between 31 - 60 

minutes; Daily frequency - 

more than hourly (at least 

one in the morning and 

one in the afternoon)

Constrai

ned by 

topograp

hy

Access               

(site 

specific 

checks 

later)

Ability to 

provide 

utility 

infrastructur

e (complete 

later)

Permanency 

(21 years+) 

(later)

Scope for 

future 

expansion if 

needed 

(later)

Considerations following 

site visit - should site 

progress for further 

consideration?

Highways Comments Active Travel 

Comments

EH/Public Protection 

Comments

Floods/SUDs 

Comments

GI Comments Ecology Comments

Garthi Close Open 

Space, Mitchel Troy, 

NP25 4JN

Public 

Open 

Space

1.56 acres 6318 sqm No No Greenfield Residential to 

north, east and 

south.  Fields to 

west.

Wye Valley 

AONB

No River Wye 

Catchment

No Not 

reviewed/no 

change

No No Listed building within 

500m 

No No SINCs within 500m Within Mitchel Troy - 

minor village. Adjacent to 

LCA MT01 which is 

identifed as high/medium 

sensitivity 

No Edge of Minor Village 

of Mitchel Troy

None Kymin Primary 5.1 

miles; Monmouth Comp - 

3.4 miles

3.4 miles 2.8 miles to 

Monmouth Town 

Centre

Daily frequency bus 

service available.

Site should progress to the 

next stage of the process.

A suitable means of access can be 

provided by improving the existing 

shared private drive and field gate 

access, the preferred highway 

authority’s option. However, if land 

ownership dictates otherwise then 

a new means of access that 

accords with current design 

standards is achievable directly off 

Route C47.3 Common Road but 

will result in considerable loss of 

the existing boundary hedge to 

accommodate the means of access 

and visibility splays etc.  

Unsustainable transport location .

Outside of locality.  

Near ATNM route 

MCC-M26B

No former development of 

the land.  No objection 

based on information 

available.

No real flood risk to the 

site.  Would require SAB - 

if infiltration does not work 

the site has no identified 

surface water outfall 

easily acheiveable - 

watercourse to south-

west would require 

access across multiple 

third party land holdings.

Site is not suitable.  To 

create suitable access a 

significant section of 

existing hedge would 

need to be removed.  

Based on the proposed 

layout for settlement, 

location, impact on 

character setting and 

the qualities of 

Monmouthshire's 

landscape as well as the 

WV AONB the site is not 

suitable.

The site is bounded by native species hedge, part 

of the hedgerow will need to be removed to 

permit access.  The quality of the habitats is 

unknown without surveys but it is likely that the 

hedgerow will meet priority criteria and there is 

potential for priority grassland. .  It is 

recommended that the required hedgerow loss 

would make this site unsuitable for proposed 

development. 

Community Feedback Rural'

Travelling Ahead 

Feedback

Manson Heights 

Amenity Land, 

Monmouth, NP25 5QX

Public 

Open 

Space

0.19 acres 775 sqm No No Greenfield Row of residential 

properties to 

south, fields/c/s to 

all other 

boundaries.

No No River Wye 

Catchment

No Not 

reviewed/no 

change

No No Listed buildings 

within 300m. 

No No Cross Wood SINC 

within 500m.

LLCA M05 - 

High/medium sensitvity 

to residential 

development

No Outside Monmouth 

development 

boundary; 250m to 

A466

Contaminated 

land point in 

northern part 

of site.

Osbaston Primary 1.3 

miles; Monmouth Comp - 

1.7 miles

1.5 miles Approx 1.8 miles 

to Monmouth 

Town Centre

Bus services to/ from 

Monmouth. 

Access to 

site fine, 

however, 

wider 

access is via 

a single 

track from 

the A466.

Access arrangement raise 

concerns.  Site should 

progress to the next stage 

for further consideration.

No objection a the proposal would 

not be detrimental to the safety 

and capacity of the adjacent 

highway network, however, the 

location is not considered to be a 

sustainable transport location.

Outside of locality 

with no routes 

nearby.

No former development on 

the parcel of land.  No 

objection based on 

information available.

No real flood risk.  Likely 

to require SAB.  If 

infiltration does not work 

site has no identified 

surface water outfall 

easily achieveable - water 

course to south west 

would require access 

across multiple third party 

land holdings.

Based on the proposed 

scale of development 

the site is potentially 

suitable, subject to an 

appropriate scheme.

The site is bounded by native species hedge 

with trees and accessed via a narrow lane 

with veteran / over mature oak trees. The 

quality of habitats is unknown without surveys 

but there is potential for priority habitats to 

include hedgerow and grass. 

Community Feedback Rural'

Travelling Ahead 

Feedback

Rocklea Open Space, 

Mitchell Troy, NP25 4JE

Public 

Open 

Space

0.74 acres 3035 sqm Surface Water 

Zone 2 & 3 

around the edge 

of the site.

No Greenfield Residential to 

south

Wye Valley 

AONB

No River Wye 

Catchment

No Not 

reviewed/no 

change

No No None No No SINC within 500m Partially within MT03 

LLCA - High/medium 

sensitivity

No None None Overmonnow Primary - 

3 miles; Monmouth 

Comp - 3.5 miles

3.3 miles Approx 3 miles to 

Monmouth Town 

Centre

Daily frequency bus 

service available.

No access 

identified, 

but potential 

for new 

access off 

Common 

Road.

Access arrangement raise 

concerns.  Site should 

progress to the next stage 

for further consideration.

Does not appear to benefit from an 

independent means of access. 

Access is potentially achievable 

directly off Common Rd, however, 

this will result in considerable loss 

of the existing boundary hedge.  

Not considered to be a sustainable 

transport location.

Outside of locality.  

Nearest route MCC-

M226B

No former development of 

the land. Sawmill (current) 

100m northwest - maybe 

potential for activity at the 

sawmill to impact on 

residents of site.  Maybe 

necessary to request a 

noise impact assessment. 

No real flood risk to the 

site.  Likely to require 

SAB approval.  If 

infiltration does not work 

site has no identified 

surface water outfall 

easily achievable.  

Watercourse to south 

west would require 

access across multiple 

third party land holdings.

To create a suitable 

visibility splay a 

significant section of 

existing hedge, trees 

and ground would need 

to be removed.  This 

would not be acceptable 

from a landscape and GI 

perspective.  Site is not 

suitable.

The site is bounded by native species hedge, part 

of the hedgerow will need to be removed to 

permit access.  The quality of the habitats is 

unknown without surveys but it is likely that the 

hedgerow will meet priority criteria and there is 

potential for priority grassland. It is 

recommended that the required hedgerow loss 

would make this unsuitable for proposed 

development.

Community Feedback Rural'

Travelling Ahead 

Feedback

1.85 acres at Dancing 

Hill (amended to 

include northern 

section of land),  Caled 

Llawr, Dancing Hill, 

Undy, CALDICOT, NP26 

3BY

Agricultura

l, Bare 

Land

3.1 acres 12,738 sqm No Adjoining Greenfield Residential to 

south, M4 to 

north.

No No No DES2 

Amenity 

Landon 

approx 

half site

Should not be 

desinated 

DES2.

No No No No Yes - TPO Group TPO in 

centre of site; within 

100m from SINC

Within MA05 LLCA - 

medium sensitivity to 

residential development

Mineral 

Safeguarding 

Area

Within 150m from M4 EA Historic 

Landfill; 

Contaminated 

Landfill

Magor CIW Primary 

School - 0.6 miles; 

Caldicot Comp - 4.3 

miles

0.6 miles Approx 0.4 miles 

to Magor Village 

Centre

Low frequency bus 

service available.  Train 

station and service 

available at Severn 

Tunnel Junction

Flat site Access off 

Dancing 

Hill/Grange 

Road

Site should progress to next 

stage of assessment 

process.

Site abuts Grange Road that is 

currently undergoing highway 

improvements.  Existing access is 

unsuitable but an alternative 

access is considered achieveable 

from Grange Road where the site 

directly abuts Graneg Road at its 

widest point.  TA would be 

required.

Desingated locality: 

Magor and Undy.  

Near route MCC-

S13A

Objection: the site is on a 

former landfill sites.  Site is 

currently used for grazing 

and is classed as high risk 

for human health in the 

contaminated land 

prioritisation list.  Land 

contamination invetigations 

and potential remediation 

would need to be 

undertaken prior to use.  

TAN11 noise assessment 

required due to proximity to 

M4.

No real issues on site.  

Likely to require SAB.  

Nearby historic flooding 

should be considered at 

design stage.

Would need to ensure 

the DES2 area is still a 

publicly accessible area 

as part of the overall 

design.  Overall suitable 

subject to an 

appropriate scheme.

Site comprises horse-grazed grassland with a 

central hedge with one veteran/over mature tree, 

and borders the M48 wooded corridor to the 

north.  The site is adjacent to Grange Road SINC 

noted for neutral grassland, and it is less than 1km 

from Gwent Levels SSSI.  The woodland along the 

M48 corridor is likely to support dormouse, other 

species that may be present include bats 

(including roosts in trees), reptiles and nesting 

birds. It is recommended that the proximity to 

ecological features of high quality make the site 

unsuitable for the proposed development. 

Community Feedback Semi 

Rural'

Travelling Ahead 

Comments

5.79 acres at rear of 

Langley Close , Magor

Agricultura

l, Grazing

5.79 acres 23,431 sqm No Adjoining Greenfield Residential to 

south, M4 to 

north.

No No No 0.1ha of 

site DES2 

on eastern 

boundary.

Should not be 

DES2

No No Within 200m from a 

Listed Building

No No Within 200m from 

SINC

Within MA05 LLCA - 

medium sensitivity to 

residential development

Mineral 

Safeguarding 

Area

Within 100m from M4 No Magor CIW Primary - 

1.3 miles; Caldicot 

Comp - 5 miles

0.4 miles Approx 1.2 miles 

to Magor Village 

Centre

Low frequency bus 

service available.  Train 

station and service 

available at Severn 

Tunnel Junction

Flat site Access off 

St Bride's 

Road

Site should progress to next 

stage of assessment 

process.

Due to size, scale and type of 

development the will have a 

significant impact on the safety and 

capacity of the immediate local 

network.  Off-site improvements 

are likely over the site's frotnage 

with St Brides Rd.  Existing access 

is not suitable, new access is 

achievable directly of  St Brides Rd 

but will result in considerable loff of 

the existing boundary hedge.  Well 

located and accessible site.  TA 

would be required.

Designated locality: 

magor and Undy.  

Near route MCC-

S17C.

No former development of 

the land.  Given proximity to 

M4 recommend a TAN11 

Noise assessment.

No real flood risk.  Likely 

to require SAB approval.

Suitable for proposed 

development subject to 

an appropriate scheme.
The site comprises horse-grazed grassland 

surrounded by trees which may include veteran 

and over mature trees.  The site is less than 250m 

from Grange Road SINC and less than 1km from 

Gwent Levels SSSI.  The adjacent site was 

identified as priority grassland during the 

Monmouthshire LDP assessment (2010); surveys 

would be required to establish if the site meets 

priority grassland criteria.  The woodland along 

the M48 corridor is likely to support dormouse, 

other species that may be present include bats 

(including roosts in trees), reptiles and nesting 

birds.  

Community Feedback Semi 

Rural'

Travelling Ahead 

Comments

Not considered suitable as too close to existing properties and close to M4 in terms of noise and pollution, athough if any development this should be pushed north to create a margin from existing homes.

Good transport links are needed for work purposes. Supermarket deliveries and taxis will be needed. Near shops is helpful but not so near that kids can walk off into town on their own and get into trouble. Easier to get Planning the further you are away from other people due to hostility.  Putting sites near to settled community doesn't work. 

Although close to existing homes, considered a possible option due to the ability to develop the site from the west to centre and create a margin to the existing homes.  Being a sizeable site creates flexibility.  Near M4 so issue of pollution and noise. 

Good transport links are needed for work pruposes. Supermarket deliveries and taxis will be needed.  Near shops is helpful but not so near that kids can walk off into town on their own and get into trouble.

Easier to get Planning the further you are away from other people due to hostility.  Putting sites near to settled community doesn't work.  Feeling mutual of not wanting to live near each other (ie Travellers and the settled population)

Positive that it's not close to many existing homes and there is scope to develop the north/westerly side of the site and create a good margin.  This site shouldn't go forward together with the Rocklea site.  Site more prefereable than Rocklea site. Being a sizeable site creates flexibility

Easier to get Planning the further you are away from other people due to hostility.  Putting sites near to settled community doesn't work.  Feeling mutual of not wanting to live near each other (ie Travellers and the settled population). Easier to get Planning the further you are away from other people due to hostility.

Not suitable as too close to existing homes.  Exisiting screening on two elevations is good.  The provision of just one pitch isn't conisdered to economical.  Aiming for sites of approx 5/6 pitches is suggested

Very close to existing homes.  Although there is scope to develop the northern part of the site to create a margin, but that impacts on the capacity and economical viability of the site.  Current screening is generally good.  Shouldn't be developed if the Garthi Close site proceeds.  The Garti Close site is considered more suitable than this site.

Easier to get Planning the further you are away from other people due to hostility.  Putting sites near to settled community doesn't work.  Feeling mutual of not wanting to live near each other (ie Travellers and the settled population)

P
age 133



T
his page is intentionally left blank



  

 

 
 
     
 

Name of the Officer completing the evaluation 
 
Ian Bakewell 
 
Phone no: 01633 644479 
E-mail: ianbakewell@monmouthshire.gov.uk 
 

Please give a brief description of the aims of the proposal 
 
Meeting The Unmet Pitch Needs of the Gypsy & Traveller Assessment 
January 2021 
 

Name of Service area 
Housing & Communities 

Date   
 
7th July 2023 updating 31st August 2021 Version 
 

 
1. Are your proposals going to affect any people or groups of people with protected characteristics?  Please explain the 

impact, the evidence you have used and any action you are taking below.  

Integrated Impact Assessment document (incorporating 

Equalities, Future Generations, Welsh Language and Socio-Economic Duty) 

 

P
age 135

mailto:ianbakewell@monmouthshire.gov.uk


Protected 
Characteristics  

Describe any positive impacts your 
proposal has on the protected 

characteristic 

Describe any negative impacts 
your proposal has on the 
protected characteristic 

What has been/will be done to 
mitigate any negative impacts or 

better contribute to positive 
impacts? 

Age The proposal will positively contribute to the 
Gypsy & Traveller community. 

 
Children and young people will be more likely 
to receive stable accommodation to ensure 
that they can enjoy a decent standard of 
living and reach their potential. 

Some of the shortlisted sites are used as 
recreation space, the loss of which will 
impact negatively on young people in 
particular. 

The Council has and will continue to 

engage with the Travelling Ahead 

advocacy service. 

 

The proposed public consultation will 

help assess the potential impact 

relating to different site options. 

 

 

Disability Members of the travelling community 
can be provided with more appropriate 
accommodation. This can also help 
access to health and care services. 

There are no negative impacts in 
respect of the proposed consultation, 
but it is known that if one of the 
pieces of land is developed, it may 
impact negatively on young disabled 
people living in the vicinity  who are 
known to use this land for 
recreational and play purposes. 
 

Ensure that sites, when developed, 
are fully accessible. 
 
For the wider community, the 

proposed public consultation will help 

assess the potential impact relating to 

different site options. 

 
 

Gender 
reassignment 

Positive impact N/A N/A 

P
age 136



Protected 
Characteristics  

Describe any positive impacts your 
proposal has on the protected 

characteristic 

Describe any negative impacts 
your proposal has on the 
protected characteristic 

What has been/will be done to 
mitigate any negative impacts or 

better contribute to positive 
impacts? 

Marriage or civil 
partnership 

As above As above As above 

Pregnancy or 
maternity 
 

The identification of new sites should 
have a positive impact on those who are 
pregnant as giving better access to pre-
natal care and provide more stable 
accommodation for the family. 

As above As above 

Race 
 

Romany Gypsies and Irish Travellers are 
recognised as having a protected 
characteristic under the Equality Act 2010. 
The identification of new sites providing 
permanent authorised accommodation will 
have a positive impact on this community in 
terms of education, health and quality of life 

As above Many people express negative 
opinions about gypsies and travellers 
and work will be needed to counter 
these negative perceptions and 
ensure social cohesion.  Racist 
comments and behaviour will be 
reported to the Police. 

Religion or Belief 
 

Positive impact As above As above 

Sex As above As above As above 

P
age 137



Protected 
Characteristics  

Describe any positive impacts your 
proposal has on the protected 

characteristic 

Describe any negative impacts 
your proposal has on the 
protected characteristic 

What has been/will be done to 
mitigate any negative impacts or 

better contribute to positive 
impacts? 

Sexual Orientation As above As above As above 

 

2. The Socio-economic Duty and Social Justice 

The Socio-economic Duty requires public bodies to have due regard to the need to reduce inequalities of outcome which result 
from socio-economic disadvantage when taking key decisions This duty aligns with our commitment as an authority to Social 
Justice. 

 Describe any positive impacts your 
proposal has in respect of people 
suffering socio economic 
disadvantage 

Describe any negative impacts 
your proposal has in respect of 
people suffering socio economic 
disadvantage. 

What has been/will be done to 
mitigate any negative impacts or 
better contribute to positive 
impacts? 

P
age 138



 
Socio-economic 
Duty and Social 
Justice  

It is recognised that Gypsy and Travellers 
can be disadvantaged in part, due to lack 
of stable accommodation, including 
available permanent pitch provision, 
resulting in a more transient lifestyle due to 
the need to regularly move on. 
 
This can be detrimental to community 
inclusion including accessing (or retaining) 
employment/training opportunities and 
accessing financial services e.g. 
insurance. 
 
Good quality permanent pitch provision 
also supports wider priorities such 
education, particularly for children and 
young people, as well as health and well-
being. 
 

 

There are no negative impacts 
associated with this proposal to consult 
on the suitability of Council owned land. 
 
However, there would be negative 
impacts if the Council determined not to 
develop any of the identified land. 
 
Dancing Hill – this is currently tenanted 
for horse grazing, which would impact 
negatively on the tenant’s employment 
and income. 
 
Concerns have been expressed about 
negative impacts about property values. 
Not a material planning consideration. 

 

 

 

There is no current mitigation 
against the identified employment 
detriment relating to possible 
development of Dancing Hill. Should 
it be selected then mitigating actions 
can be considered.  
 
There is no current mitigation 
against the possible impact on 
property values of neighbouring 
homes.  Should any be selected be 
selected then any possible mitigating 
actions would need to be 
investigated. 
 
The Council has previously 
established a pitch waiting list and 
allocation policy in potential 
readiness for pitch provision. This, 
however, needs to be published.  
This provides a mechanism for 
households to apply for future 
pitches. 
 
 

 

 

P
age 139



3. Policy making and the Welsh language. 

 
 
 

 
How does your proposal impact 
on the following aspects of the 
Council’s Welsh Language 
Standards: 

 
 Describe the positive impacts of 
this proposal 

 
 
Describe the negative impacts 
of this proposal 

 
What has been/will be 
done to mitigate any 
negative impacts or 
better contribute to 
positive impacts 
 

Policy Making  
Effects on the use of the Welsh 
language,  
Promoting Welsh language  
Treating the Welsh language, no 
less favourably 

The Council has a pitch allocation policy 
and it is appropriate to establish a bi-
lingual version. 
 

None N/A 

Operational  
Recruitment & Training of 
workforce 
 

Neutral impact.  This proposal does not 
involve the appointment of staff. 
 
 

None N/A 

Service delivery  
Use of Welsh language in service 
delivery  
Promoting use of the language 

Whilst the current proposal to consult on 
potential pitch provision has a neutral 
impact, in the longer term, the aim is to 
establish Gypsy & Traveller pitch provision.   
This is an opportunity to promote the 
Welsh Language e.g. signage, 
agreements, welcome packs etc. 

 

None N/A 

P
age 140



 
 
4. Does your proposal deliver any of the well-being goals below?  Please explain the impact (positive and negative) you 
expect, together with suggestions of how to mitigate negative impacts or better contribute to the goal.  There’s no need to put 
something in every box if it is not relevant!

 Well Being Goal  
Does the proposal contribute to this 

goal? Describe the positive and negative 
impacts. 

What actions have been/will be taken to 
mitigate any negative impacts or better 

contribute to positive impacts? 

A prosperous Wales 
Efficient use of resources, skilled, 
educated people, generates wealth, 
provides jobs 

Meeting the pitch needs of Gypsy & Traveller 

households creates stability for households and 

enables them to establish firm links with local 

communities e.g. schools, employment. 

It reduces the likelihood of unauthorized 

encampments and the associated resource 

implications of dealing with such. 

Dancing Hill - this is currently tenanted for 
horse grazing, which would impact negatively 
on the tenant’s employment and income. 

 

There is no current mitigation against the 
identified employment detriment relating to 
possible development of Dancing Hill. Should 
it be selected then mitigating actions can be 
considered.  

 
 
 
We will involve and liaise with Travelling Ahead 
Gypsy and Traveller advocates. 

A resilient Wales 
Maintain and enhance biodiversity 
and ecosystems that support 
resilience and can adapt to change 
(e.g., climate change) 
 

There may be a possible opportunity to give 

consideration to this in respect of the design of a 

possible public provision. 

 

N/A 

A healthier Wales 
People’s physical and mental 
wellbeing is maximized, and health 
impacts are understood 

There are no negative impacts associated with 
this proposal to consult on the suitability of 
Council owned land. 
 
However, it has been suggested an alternative 
option for the use of the Langley Close land is 
for recreational purposes.  Should this location 

N/A 

 

P
age 141



 Well Being Goal  
Does the proposal contribute to this 

goal? Describe the positive and negative 
impacts. 

What actions have been/will be taken to 
mitigate any negative impacts or better 

contribute to positive impacts? 
be used for Gypsy & Traveler pitch provision, 
this could impact upon the possible alternative 
recreational option.   
 
It has also been suggested that an existing 
footpath across Dancing Hill could be an Active 
Travel route.  Possible use for Gypsy & 
Traveller pitch provision may impact 
detrimentally on the possible Active Travel 
route option. 
 
Facilitating pitch provision supports good quality 

accommodation for Gypsy and Traveller 

households which is conducive to good health 

and well-being and helps tackle health 

inequalities. 

It also supports households being able to 

access health services e.g. GP’s, dentists, 

opticians etc. 

 

A Wales of cohesive 
communities 
Communities are attractive, viable, 
safe and well connected 
 

The potential to facilitate the availability of new 
pitch provision provides the opportunity to invest 
in appropriately located and well-designed 
provision that is attractive to the Gypsy & 
Traveller community and has no impact on 
existing communities.   
 
 

  

A pitch waiting list policy is already in place. 
 
Two Gypsy & Travelling training and awareness 
sessions have been organised to support 
Members and officers. 
 
Work with the community cohesion team to 
counter any negative perceptions of the Gypsy, 
Roma and Traveller community. 

A globally responsible Wales N/A N/A. 

P
age 142



 Well Being Goal  
Does the proposal contribute to this 

goal? Describe the positive and negative 
impacts. 

What actions have been/will be taken to 
mitigate any negative impacts or better 

contribute to positive impacts? 

Taking account of impact on global 
well-being when considering local 
social, economic and environmental 
wellbeing 
 

  

A Wales of vibrant culture and 
thriving Welsh language 
Culture, heritage and Welsh 
language are promoted and 
protected.  People are encouraged 
to do sport, art and recreation 

Should the Council’s site identification result in 
public pitch provision, this presents an 
opportunity to promote the Welsh Language. 

N/A 

A more equal Wales 
People can fulfil their potential no 
matter what their background or 
circumstances 

The proposals directly supports equality and 
protected and or disadvantaged groups.   

As above 

 
5. How has your proposal embedded and prioritised the sustainable governance principles in its development? 

P
age 143



Sustainable 
Development Principle  

Does your proposal demonstrate you have met 
this principle?  If yes, describe how.  If not 

explain why. 

Are there any additional actions to be taken 
to mitigate any negative impacts or better 

contribute to positive impacts? 

Balancing 
short term 
need with 
long term 
and 
planning 
for the 

future 

The proposal is informed by a Gypsy and Traveller 

Assessment Jan 21, which makes population 

projections up to 2033. 

Planning for pitch provision helps to reduce the 

likelihood of unauthorised encampments.  If the 

resulting outcome to meet need is public provision, 

households will be able to apply to live there. 

 

 

The continued engagement with Travelling Ahead 
advocacy service. 
 
Future Gypsy & Traveller pitch assessments. 

 
 

Working 
together 
with other 
partners 
to deliver 
objectives  

The proposals will be developed with Welsh 

Government and Gypsy & Traveller advocates 

including Travelling Ahead and a specialist planning 

consultant. 

The Council if applicable will engage with Welsh 

Government in respect of potential funding. 

Although not applicable at present, but there could be 

scope to include other organisations e.g. RSL’s, 

although no decision has been made at present, 

 

Gypsy & Traveller Households themselves are key 
stakeholders.  It’s important that households want to 
live on potential pitches provided by the Council. 

P
age 144



Sustainable 
Development Principle  

Does your proposal demonstrate you have met 
this principle?  If yes, describe how.  If not 

explain why. 

Are there any additional actions to be taken 
to mitigate any negative impacts or better 

contribute to positive impacts? 

Involving 
those 
with an 
interest 
and 
seeking 
their 
views 

The proposal facilitates greater involvement with local 

G & T households. 

There is a particular opportunity for involving families in 

the design of new sites. 

 

N/A 

Putting 

resources into 
preventing problems 
occurring or getting 
worse 

The proposal supports preventative activity from the 

perspective of households having a stable homes (e.g. 

pitches) enabling households to better access facilities 

e.g. employment, education, health etc and community 

links. 

 

In respect of potential sites, site management, 
tenancy agreements and improved access to 
well-being support.    

P
age 145



Sustainable 
Development Principle  

Does your proposal demonstrate you have met 
this principle?  If yes, describe how.  If not 

explain why. 

Are there any additional actions to be taken 
to mitigate any negative impacts or better 

contribute to positive impacts? 

Considering impact on 
all wellbeing goals 
together and on other 
bodies 

The proposal supports increased access to good 

quality pitch provision that helps to provide safety, 

security and stability that also supports all aspects of 

well-being e.g. physical health, medical health etc. 

The direct benefits this has for the Gypsy & Travellers 
is that accommodation supports the priorities of wider 
agencies such as health services. 

The proposal will build upon existing services that 
support well-being which Gypsy & Traveller 
households would be supported to access. 

 
  

P
age 146



6. Council has agreed the need to consider the impact its decisions has on the following important responsibilities: 
Corporate Parenting and Safeguarding.  Are your proposals going to affect any of these responsibilities?   
 

 Describe any positive impacts your 
proposal has  

Describe any negative impacts 
your proposal has  

What will you do/ have you 
done to mitigate any negative 
impacts or better contribute to 
positive impacts? 

Safeguarding  The proposal supports households where 
there could be safeguarding issues by 
providing safe and secure pitch provision. 

None. N/A 

Corporate Parenting  The proposal supports Corporate Parenting 
by potentially providing safe and secure pitch 
provision.  If needed or applicable, it also 
supports the development of positive 
engagement and a relationship between any 
families and the Council due to there being 
no requirement to move on, perhaps, from an 
unauthorised encampment.   

None. N/A 

 
7. What evidence and data has informed the development of your proposal? 
 
Gypsy & Traveller Assessment January 2021  

Feedback from advocacy support services. 

Elected member scrutiny workshops 

Elected member visit on 14th July 2023. 

Pre-consultation feedback received from local councillors and members of the local community. 

 

 

 

P
age 147



8. SUMMARY:  As a result of completing this form, what are the main positive and negative impacts of your proposal, 
how have they informed/changed the development of the proposal so far and what will you be doing in future? 

 
.This section should summarise the key issues arising from the evaluation.  This summary must be included in the Committee report template 

 

The main benefits of the proposal are: 

 

 It seeks to address unmet pitch need identified by the Gypsy & Traveller Assessment Jan ‘21 

 The Council will be meeting its legal responsibilities under Part 3, Housing (Wales) Act 2014 

 It supports the Gypsy & Traveller requirement relating to the development of the replacement Local Development Plan 

 

 
 
 
 
 
9. ACTIONS: As a result of completing this form are there any further actions you will be undertaking? Please detail them 

below, if applicable. 
 

What are you going to do  When are you going to do it?  Who is responsible  

Officer Meeting – Site identification 13th Aug 21 – completed Mark Hand,  

Officer Meeting – Site identification 19th Aug 21 - completed Mark Hand 

Report to Enterprise DMT 6th Sept 21 Ian Bakewell, Housing & Communities 
Manager 

Report to Adults Select -  Update report 21st September 21 Ian Bakewell, Housing & Communities 
Manager 

Report to People Scrutiny  20th July 2022 Ian Bakewell, Housing & Communities 
Manager 

P
age 148



Members Workshop 29th September 2022 Ian Bakewell, Housing & Communities 
Manager 

Members Workshop 3rd November 2022 Ian Bakewell, Housing & Communities 
Manager 

Members Workshop  4th July 2023 Ian Bakewell, Housing & Communities 
Manager 

Report to People Scrutiny 19th July 2023 Ian Bakewell, Housing & Communities 
Manager 

Report to Cabinet 

 

26th July 2023 Ian Bakewell, Housing & Communities 

Consultation September 2023  

 
10. VERSION CONTROL: The Equality and Future Generations Evaluation should be used at the earliest stage, such as 

informally within your service, and then further developed throughout the decision-making process.  It is important to 

keep a record of this process to demonstrate how you have considered and built-in equality and future generations 

considerations  wherever possible. 

 

Version 
No. 

Decision making stage  Date considered Brief description of any amendments made following 
consideration 

1 Report to Enterprise DMT 06.09.21  

2. Report to People Scrutiny in preparation for 
Report to Cabinet 

19.07.23 Utilised up to date template and updated on timeline.  No 
changes otherwise 

 

3. Report to Cabinet 26.07.23 Updates to reflect initial feedback (e.g. pre proposed 
consultation) provided to the Council 

 

P
age 149



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Monmouthshire Scrutiny 

1 
 

 

Feedback to Cabinet  
 

Report Subject Matter: Gypsy and Traveller Provision 

 

1.0 Context: 

 

1.1 On 19th July 2023, the People Scrutiny Committee was asked to scrutinise the Gypsy and 

Travellers Needs Assessment. The scrutiny committee’s role is to offer views to the 

cabinet and make any recommendations, which the Cabinet can accept or reject as part 

of their future decision-making.  

 

1.2 The People Scrutiny Committee was presented with the following recommendations: 

 

a. Consider the process implemented to identify Council owned land suitable for 

the potential development of Gypsy & Traveller pitch provision.  

 

b. Consider the evaluation of five pieces of Council owned land considered to be 

possibly suitable, subject to the findings of any further required assessment, for 

potential development of Gypsy and Traveller pitch provision.  

 

c. Recommend to Cabinet that the following pieces of Council owned land are 

consulted on for potential development for Gypsy and Traveller pitch provision:  

 

 Manson Heights, Monmouth  

 Rocklea, Mitchel Troy  

 Garthi Close, Mitchel Troy 

 Langley Close, Magor  

 

d) Recommend to Cabinet that further evaluation is undertaken on the following 

piece of Council owned land, to further inform possible suitability and if 

applicable, (subject to findings) future consultation. 

 

 Dancing Hill, Undy (west of Dancing Hill) 

 

1.3 The following formal summary has been prepared to capture the views of the scrutiny 

committee, together with some additional comments for the Executive to consider. The 

Committee requests the Cabinet Member consider the findings, to assist future decision-

making.  

 

 

 

 

Page 151



Monmouthshire Scrutiny 

2 
 

Public Open Forum 

 

1.4 There was a large public presence at the scrutiny meeting, the public highlighting key 

concerns in relation to the suitability of the sites under discussion. The following is just 

a selection of concerns raised in relation to different sites, as follows: 

 

 Village greens/common land that is currently used for recreation by communities, 

particularly children who may be unable to access other facilities due to health and 

disability and the impact of the loss of green spaces on their health and well-being. 

 Accessibility for the travelling community and the following concerns; 

 Road safety concerns, lack of pavements, lack of safe walking routes, no street 

lighting and absence of active travel routes. 

 Poor links to public transport, other public services like schools, doctors. 

 Environmental concerns related to biodiversity and AONB (areas of outstanding 

natural beauty). 

 Proximity to motorways, noise and air pollution. 

 Land contamination concerns. 

 

Key points raised by the Committee Members 

 

1.5 The local Ward Members spoke at length to share their concerns about the suitability of 

the sites identified in their wards. 

 

1.6 Committee Members questioned whether as a Council, we are truly considering the 

needs of Gypsies and Travellers and whether the Council is paying due respect to their 

feedback, given the travelling community has stated that none of the sites would meet 

their requirements. 

 

1.7 The Scrutiny Committee expressed grave concerns around the accuracy of the RAG 

process and the process taken to remove sites from the list, leaving 4 sites that the 

Committee felt were wholly unsuitable for a wide range of reasons outlined by the public 

and the ward Members.   

 

1.8 Members questioned whether the Council is evidentially applying the Guidance on 

Gypsy and Traveller Sites, which states that good quality accessible roads for heavy duty 

traffic are required ~ this was just one example of where the Scrutiny Committee felt the 

guidance hadn’t been applied. 

 

1.9 The Committee felt the process has been rushed, with Members not having sufficient 

notice to visit the sites and fully appraise themselves of their suitability. Members felt 

that the decisions are too important for Gypsy and Travellers and for existing 

Page 152



Monmouthshire Scrutiny 

3 
 

communities to be rushed to meet the timescales of the Replacement Local 

Development Plan.  

 

1.10 Members urged the Cabinet Member and Officers to negotiate with National Resources 

Wales to resolve issues on existing sites, where Gypsies and Travellers are settled and 

have strong ties to the local area. 

 

Formal Outcome of the Scrutiny  

 

1.11 The Committee rejected the four recommendations presented to the Scrutiny 

Committee. 

 

1.12 Members recommended that a call is put to landowners to come forward with parcels 

of land (in line with the recommendation 2.3 in the Cabinet report for 26th July 2023) 

and that the selection process begin again. 

 

1.13 Members recommended that existing Gypsy and Traveller Communities should be 

supported as far as possible, which could also assist the Council in meeting identified 

need.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 153



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 

1. PURPOSE: 

 

1.1 To provide Cabinet with an early update of the progress of the Councils revenue budget for the 2023/24 financial year. 

 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS: 

 

2.1 That Cabinet note the early signalling of pressure against the Council’s revenue budget of £2.6m following a review of material pressures 

and savings and the potential mitigations that can be applied. 

 

2.2 That Cabinet note the ongoing financial risks continuing to manifest in the current difficult operating environment where: 

 

 inflation is continuing to remain resolutely high with a consequential impact of rising interest rates; 

 the ongoing cost of living crisis and further impact that rising interest rates will have housing costs; 

 the likelihood for the UK economy to enter recession; 

 a shortage of staff linked to the ongoing tight labour market; 

 continuing supply chain issues that require more costly alternative or expedited arrangements;  

 the impact the above is having on the increasing demand for supportive Council services and reducing demand for income 

generating services. 

 

2.3 That in considering the above, and as part of the mitigations outlined in 2.1, that Cabinet approves the budgeted use of £2.5m of useable 

revenue reserves to increase the Council’s overall level of inflation contingency budget for 2023/24 to a total of £3m.  The use of a further 

£2.5m equates to the amount of reserves that were originally anticipated to be required to support the 2022/23 budget outturn position, 

but were not ultimately called upon. 

SUBJECT:  2023/24 REVENUE BUDGET PROGRESS – EARLY UPDATE 
MEETING:  CABINET 

DATE:   26th July 2023 

DIVISION/WARDS AFFECTED: ALL 

 

P
age 155

A
genda Item

 6



 

2.4 That in light of the severity of the current financial position and the continuing financial headwinds as outlined in this report, that Cabinet 

require the Strategic Leadership Team engage in immediate mitigating action to bear down on avoidable cost and identify all potential 

further income opportunities. 

 

2.5 That Cabinet require officers to develop the structured approach to tackling the budgetary pressures presenting, leading up to a more 

detailed Month 4 financial forecast being brought forward in September. 

 

 

3. KEY ISSUES: 

 

Context 

 

3.1 Councils are facing financial challenges on an unprecedented scale. It is widely acknowledged that local government funding over recent 

years has not kept pace with increased service demand, the additional responsibilities being transferred to Councils, and inflationary 

pressures. 

3.2 The 2022/23 revenue budget culminated in an over spend of £3.5m which required funding from earmarked reserves to cover the additional 

expenditure incurred following acute pressures experienced within Adult’s and Children’s services, Homelessness, and Education. 

3.3 The 2023/24 budget set in March 2023 accommodated additional costs of delivering services of £26m or 14%.  Whilst income and funding 

increased by 9% (£16m) to meet some of these costs, the Council needed to find savings of 5% (£10m) from services. 

3.4 The budget when set highlighted a number of known budgetary risks that sat outside of the core budget, some of which have now 

materialised and have resulted in further pressures being reported. 

3.5 The first three months of 2023/24 has seen continuing financial headwinds which are having a severe impact upon the service operating 

environment: 

 Inflation has not fallen as quickly as economic projections predicted in the first quarter of the 2023/24 financial year and is placing a 

significant additional financial burden upon service delivery; 

 Interest rates have risen sharply to combat inflation, significantly above recent economic forecasts; 

P
age 156



 The cost of living crisis continues to have a significant impact on our communities, and will be further exacerbated by the UK 

economy likely to enter recession during the year, and the recent sharp interest rate rises that will impact housing costs as we move 

through the year;  

 The Council continues to deal with a shortage of staff resources due to the ongoing tight labour market that requires more costly 

temporary solutions to be used; 

 Supply chain issues continue which requires more costly alternative or expedited arrangements; 

 The wider and longer lasting impact of the pandemic continues to impact the Council, particularly in the areas of Homelessness, 

Children’s services, Adult social care and Children’s additional learning needs. 

 

3.6 All the above results in a growing need for supportive Council services, a reduced demand for income generating services, increased 

risks around debt recovery, and a continued high-cost operating environment. 

 

 

Early budget update 

 

Table 1: Early assessment of budget pressures identified: 

Directorate Shortfall in 
saving target 

£000's 

New budget 
Pressures / 

Savings £000's 

Indicative early 
budget pressure 

£000's 

Children & Young People 105 582 687 

Social Care & Health 1,401 1,600 3,001 

Communities & Place 251 1,262 1,513 

Monlife 0 0 0 

Resources 34 51 85 

Chief Executives Units 105 0 105 

People & Governance 0 16 16 

Corporate, Treasury & Financing 0 710 710 

Total 1,896 4,221 6,117 

P
age 157



    
Unbudgeted – Reserves usage not called on in 22/23 outturn (2,500) 

Grant assumption for remainder of year (1,000) 

Net budget pressure 
  
  
 

2,617 

 

 

3.7 Service pressures: A number of service pressures are estimated at this early stage of the year totalling £4.221m which are summarised 

below: 

 

Pressure / Saving Value 
£000’s 

Summary 

Waste 1,000 
Recycling market increased charges for disposal £500k. Increased building rates & inflation on 
contracts and materials £100k.  Staff to cover bank holidays, garden waste collections, new 
additional houses, agency for staff sickness, cover for additional day leave £400k 

Fleet Maintenance 100 Budget is insufficient to cover the cost of our vehicle fleet, exacerbated by inflationary increases. 

Homelessness 440 
Presentations remain high - cannot reduce the use of B&Bs by the number that we had originally 
included in our 23/24 mandate.  Additional security costs £75k 

Democratic services  50 
Inconsistent elections and grant funding and increased Members expenses owing to increased 
physical meeting post pandemic is creating a pressure. 

Commercial investment - 
Castlegate 

111 
Service charge costs have increased significantly for the financial year 23/24 primarily associated 
with inflation and planned maintenance works to the onsite boiler infrastructure. Where there 
remain vacant units, there will be an associated service charge cost for MCC to meet. 

Care provider fees - Adults 
and Childrens services 

1,600 

Negotiations are continuing with care providers around the agreed contractual rate. The current 
estimate is a total additional YOY cost of £2.6m against an allocated budget pressure of £1m.  
This estimate to date does not take account of the uplifts in out of county care placements for 
which we have little control as these are set by the host Local Authority. 

ALN Transport & 
Recoupment 

582 
Transport contracts £525k. Change in ALN formula for schools - all out of county recoupment for 
mainstream schools will be delegated to schools £257k. Reduction in number of pupils in out of 
county schools has resulted in a saving of £200k 

Pay inflation - non-
teaching 

960 
Estimated pressure over and above base budget based upon the employer’s current pay offer of 
a flat rate £1,925 

P
age 158



Treasury costs 250 
Estimated pressure as a result of continuing interest rate rises over and above those indicated at 
the time of budget build 

Vacant posts (372) 
Vacant posts are in the process of being filled, however the tight labour market conditions will 
mean that some of these vacancies will last longer into 2023/24 

Inflation contingency 
budget 

(500) Full use of the budgeted contingency budget forecast  

Total 4,221  

 

 

3.8 Savings targets: A shortfall of £1.896m is currently estimated against the service savings targets that were set as part of the original 

budget for 2023/24: 

 

Savings proposals by Directorate Budgeted 
Saving 

Current 
Forecast 

Variance Variance % Summary 

 £000 £000 £000   

Children & Young People (1,809) (1,704) 105 5.8% 
Not possible to meet target of increased ALN 
recoupment income following changes agreed in the ALN 
formula for schools 

Social Care & Health (3,349) (1,948) 1,401 41.8% 

Children’s services - £200k shortfall against £1.16m 
target due to slight delay in progression planning for 
Children against the availability of placement options 
(transferring away from commissioned and agency 
solutions). 
 
Adult’s services - £1.1m shortfall against £2.0m target  
due to the complexity and level of demand for care needs 
restricting progress, some savings being dependent upon 
third party negotiation, and challenges resourcing some 
of the service change required. 

Communities & Place (2,513) (2,262) 251 10.0% 

£177k shortfall in meeting energy reduction targets 
following a delay in resourcing the team. 
 
£50k shortfall in mileage reductions following delays in 
the roll out of the pool car scheme and other initiatives 

P
age 159



Monlife (628) (628) 0 0.0%  

Resources (991) (957) 34 3.4% Mobile phone contract changeover delayed by 2 months 

Chief Executive Unit (341) (237) 105 30.6% A delay in progressing some staffing reductions 

People & Governance (86) (86) 0 0.0%  

Corporate Costs & Levies (433) (433) 0 0.0%  

Totals (10,150) (8,254) 1,896 18.7%  

 

 

 

Financial implications 
 
3.9 Despite the early stage of the financial year it is clear that the financial headwinds outlined will have a significant impact upon the cost of 

service delivery for the year and which are expected to be over and above our base budgets. 
 

3.10 Whilst it isn’t unusual to see an over spend being forecast early in the financial year and for an improving position to develop as the year 
progresses, continuing financial headwinds, increasing demand for services, and the need for service savings of £10m to be delivered 
within this operating environment present tangible ongoing risks. 

 
3.11 As the year develops and based on recent trends, it is fully expected that a further level of unbudgeted grant will be notified from Welsh 

Government and other partners to support areas of acute financial pressure that Councils are facing.  Officers have made prudent 
consideration within financial planning for the remainder of the year that this will benefit income by a further £1m. 

 
3.12 The 2022/23 outturn saw an improved position from that which had been previously forecast, and which resulted in the call upon useable 

revenue reserves being £2.5m less than anticipated.  Given the developing financial pressures outlined in this report it is recommended 
that Cabinet approves the use of this sum to further mitigate the inflationary pressure within services, and which will increase the 
Council’s overall inflation contingency budget for 2023/24 to £3m. 
 

3.13 There is now an immediate need for all services to bear down on avoidable cost and identify further income opportunities wherever 
possible.  Further detailed work will continue leading up to a more detailed Month 4 financial forecast in order to develop the structured 
approach to tackling the early pressure presenting itself. 
 
 
Budgetary risks 

 

P
age 160



3.14 There remain key specific budgetary risks presenting for the remainder of this financial year and beyond, that have the ability to further 
impact upon our financial situation: 
 

 Negotiation continues with a number of care providers around the agreed contract rate and there remains potential for regional 
positions and out of County placements to influence final costs; 

 Homelessness presentations continue to be high which is leading to above forecast use of costly Bed & Breakfast or temporary 
housing solutions despite the strategies engaged to reduce this; 

 Pay agreements - The current employers pay offer for non-teaching staff is for a flat rate £1,925 and which is the subject of 

continued negotiation.  Any agreement reached that is above this level would result in a further budgetary pressure over and 

above the current pressure. 

 There is a risk that further non-delivery of budgeted savings targets in the current difficult operating environment will impact on 
both 2023/24 and the medium-term if alternative strategies to deliver savings cannot be found; 

 Limited reserve cover – we start the year with £15.4m in useable reserves (this reduces to £12.9m after allowing for the £2.5m 
earmarked for inflation contingency as part of this report), and all banked capital receipts have been committed. 

 National picture – there is continued pressure on both UK and Welsh Government budgets resulting from the wider economic 
picture. This has the potential to impact upon levels of further budget consequential funding; 

 Significant increased responsibilities have been transferred on Councils which are not currently being fully funded through the 
Welsh Government settlement or through specific grants. For 2023/24 this focusses primarily on increased responsibilities around 
Homelessness where Monmouthshire has significant specific local factors that impact cost, and the rollout of universal free school 
meals where inflationary pressures mean costs are significantly above funding levels. 

 
 
Ongoing focus 
 

3.15 The immediate focus centres itself on the requirement for all services to engage in urgent action to mitigate where at all possible the 
financial pressures presenting through cost reduction action and identifying alternative income opportunities. 
 

3.16 More regular financial monitoring arrangements have been instigated during the year which focus on high budget risk areas and regularly 
assessing the progress being made against budgeted service savings. 
 

3.17 Service savings and reform remains critical to ensuring that the Council reduces the overall cost of services and remains in financially 
sustainable position in the medium term by limiting the need to deplete severely limited reserve balances. With an indicative £6m budget 

P
age 161



gap for 2024/25 it is vital that services deliver on savings targets or alternative service reform strategies are found that drive efficiencies, 
even if these are delayed. 
 

3.18 As we move towards the first formal monitoring period at Month 4, work will continue to formalise a structured approach to tackling the 
early budget pressures which looks to explore all available options open to the Council. This will include a review of vacancies being 
held, the potential for further or alternative savings, mitigation of pressures, and a more targeted review of unbudgeted grant funding and 
income. 

 
 

4 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: 

 

The report itself covers the resource implications of the entirety of the revenue budget activity during the year.  There are no further 

resource implications as a result of the recommendation in this report.  

 

5 EQUALITY AND FUTURE GENERATIONS EVALUATION (INCLUDES SOCIAL JUSTICE, SAFEGUARDING AND CORPORATE 

PARENTING): 

 

5.1 This report provides Members with an update on the early progress being made against the revenue budget of the Authority and carries 

no decisions.  There are therefore no equality of future generations’ implications directly arising from this report. 

 

 

CONSULTEES: 

 

Senior Leadership Team 

Performance & Overview Scrutiny Committee 

Cabinet 

 

Feedback from Performance & Overview Scrutiny Committee 17th July 2023: 

 

The committee undertook extensive scrutiny of the revenue budget update as presented in this report, with questions and queries 

focusing around: 

 

P
age 162



 whether the level of staff vacancies in some service areas is sustainable and the consequential impact this is having upon staff 

wellbeing, and in particular around the staffing levels within community hubs;  

 further detail in regard to the specific service variances being highlighted in the areas of Waste, Fleet maintenance, 

Homelessness, and Democratic services; 

 the ongoing risk and impact of continuing health care (CHC) arrangements on our Social care arrangements; the contractual 

relationships in place with some of our agency care providers and consequential risks; and the progress with some of collaborative 

work ongoing in relation to Children’s Social care, particularly around the Eliminate agenda; 

 scrutiny of the performance to date against savings targets, particularly in relation to where it is reported that there had been a 

delay in implementing plans due to resourcing issues faced; in relation to the Green Waste service, Library book reductions, and 

staff changes within Social care; 

 the approach to the universal free school meal rollout, specifically about the quality of meals provided and whether the initiative 

was being fully funded by Welsh Government; 

 the ability for services to respond flexibility to changes in in-year demands and/or new responsibilities; 

 the appropriateness of utilising a further level of reserves to increase the contingency budget held in 2023/24, and whether this 

was an appropriate way to manage in-year budget recovery action, as opposed to increasing the focus upon service 

transformation and delivering in full upon in-year budget savings targets. 

 

 

BACKGROUND PAPERS: 

 

Appendix 1 – Early revenue budget pressures identified and indicative progress against savings targets 

 

AUTHORS:   

 

Jonathan Davies, Head of Finance (Deputy S151 officer) 

 

CONTACT DETAILS: 

 

Tel:  (01633) 644114 

 E-mail: jonathandavies2@monmouthshire.gov.uk  

P
age 163

mailto:jonathandavies2@monmouthshire.gov.uk


T
his page is intentionally left blank



2023/24 Revenue budget - early assessment of progress

Directorate Shortfall in 

saving target 

£000's

New budget 

Pressures / Savings 

£000's

Early budget 

pressure  £000's

Children & Young People 105 582 687

Social Care & Health 1,401 1,600 3,001

Communities & Place 251 1,262 1,513

Monlife 0 0 0

Resources 34 51 85

Chief Executives Units 105 0 105

People & Governance 0 16 16

Corporate, Treasury & Financing 0 710 710

Totals 1,896 4,221 6,117

Unbudgeted - Reserve usage not called on in 22/23 outturn (2,500)

Grant assumption for remainder of year (1,000)

Net budget pressure 2,617

P
age 165



Budget Pressures / Savings Update

Directorate Pressure or Saving +/- £50k Value 

(£000)

Explanation

C&P Waste 1,000

Recycling market has flipped meaning we are paying more for disposal, last year we spent £50k, now expecting it to cost us 

£500k in 23-24. Increased building rates and effect of inflation on contracts and materials (some contracts have gone up by 11%) 

£100k.  10 Additional Staff (4 to cover bank holidays, 3 for garden waste collections, 3 for new additional houses) Agency staff to 

cover these ten additional staff for holidays as well as agency costs to cover staff sickness.  Cover for additional days leave as a 

result of 22-23 pay agreement.  (Total employee impact £400k)

C&P Fleet Maintenance 100
Since centralisation of the service the indication (based on the 22-23 outturn) is that the existing authority budget is insufficient to 

cover the cost of our vehicle fleet, this has been exacerbated by inflationary increases.

C&P Homelessness 440

Homelessness presentations remain high - this means we cannot reduce the use of B&Bs by the number that we had originally 

included in our 23-24 mandate, this has resulted in a budget pressure across both Housing and Benefits.  Security costs are also 

forecast to come in £75k over original 23-24 projection.  

C&P Schools Catering 0

RISK ONLY - NOT BEING FULLY FUNDED (£218k) - Gross overspend is predicted to be £307k but this has been offset by one-

off FSM admin funding of £89k (not expected to continue in 24-25).  The completion of the roll out of UFSM to all primary pupils 

from September will result in a significant uplift in the amount of meals that will need to be served, this will require additional staff 

and ingredient spend.  Some of this will be partially offset by the £2.90 per meal grant funding provided by WG but this figure is 

lower than our actual unit rate cost (currently estimated at £3.75) so it leaves us with a pressure to be managed.  There is a 

review currently being undertaken by WG into the suitability of the £2.90 rate and we will know in the Autumn if this will be 

increased - if it isn't then there is a potential for the overspend to increase in 24-25 as we will bear the full impact of the meal 

number increases across a whole financial year.  

C&P Vacant posts (278)
Vacant posts are in the process of being filled, however the tight labour market conditions will mean that some of these 

vacancies will last longer into 2023/24

PG Democratic services 50
Inconsistent elections and grant funding and increased Members expenses owing to increased physical meeting post pandemic 

is creating a pressure.

PG Vacant posts (34)
Vacant posts are in the process of being filled, however the tight labour market conditions will mean that some of these 

vacancies will last longer into 2023/24

RES Commercial Investments 111

Service charge costs have increased significantly for the financial year 23/24 primarily associated with inflation and planned 

maintenance works to the onsite boiler infrastructure. Where there remain vacant units, there will be an associated service 

charge cost for MCC to meet.

RES Vacant posts (60)
Vacant posts are in the process of being filled, however the tight labour market conditions will mean that some of these 

vacancies will last longer into 2023/24

SCH
Provider fees - Adults and 

Childrens services
1,600

Negotiations are continuing with care providers around the agreed contractual rate. The current estimate is a total additional YOY 

cost of £2.6m against an allocated budget pressure of £1m.  This estimate to date does not take account of the uplifts in out of 

county care placements for which we have little control as these are set by the host Local Authority.

P
age 166



CYP ALN Transport 525 Forecast revised, based on April and May actuals, resulting in an overspend of £525k

CYP ALN - Recoupment 257
With the recent changes in the ALN formula for schools, all out of county recoupment for mainstream schools will be delegated to 

schools to support pupils

CYP ALN - OOC (200) Reduction in number of pupils in out of county schools has resulted in a saving of £200k

Corporate Pay inflation - non-teaching 960 Estimated pressure over and above base budget based upon the employers current pay offer of a flat rate £1,925

Corporate Treasury costs 250 Estimated pressure as a result of continuing interest rate rises over and above those indicated at the time of budget build

Corporate Contingency budget (500) Inflation contingency budget assumed to be fully utilised

Total 4,221

P
age 167



Service savings progress

Budgeted savings update

Savings proposals by Directorate Budgeted 

Saving 

£000's

Current 

Forecast 

£000's

Variance

£000's

Variance %

Children & Young People (1,809) (1,704) 105 5.8%

Social Care & Health (3,349) (1,948) 1,401 41.8%

Communities & Place (2,513) (2,262) 251 10.0%

Monlife (628) (628) 0 0.0%

Resources (991) (957) 34 3.4%

Chief Executives Units (341) (237) 105 30.6%

People & Governance (86) (86) 0 0.0%

Corporate Costs & Levies (433) (433) 0 0.0%

Totals (10,150) (8,254) 1,896 18.7%

Ref Children & Young People Budgeted 

Saving 

£000's

Current 

Forecast 

£000's

Variance

£000's

Comment

CYP13

Schools - A reduction in the budget delegated to 

schools of 2.8% after making full provision for pay and 

energy increases. 

(1,450) (1,450) 0 This saving has been made in full.  The ISB has been reduced to reflect this. 

CYP8
Increase ALN recoupment income - additional places 

and increased charges to cover pay awards. 
(100) 0 100

With the recent changes in the ALN formula for schools, all out of county recoupment for 

mainstream schools will be delegated to schools to support pupils. Therefore, any additional 

income generated through additional places will be delegated to the schools.

CYP12
Gwent Music - partial withdrawal of subsidy from the 

service.
(61) (61) 0 This saving has been agreed with Gwent Music and will be made in full 

CYP11
Grant funding to support Education Psychology staff 

budget
(81) (81) 0 Grant funding in place to fund post so saving will be made without loss of post

CYP10
Reduce contribution to Education Achievement service - 

To reduce MCC’s core contribution by 10%
(40) (40) 0 This has been agreed with the EAS and the saving will be made in full

CYP6
Grant funding to support the Additional Learning Needs 

Admin Team
(30) (30) 0 Grant funding in place to fund post so saving will be made without loss of post

CYP15 Support Services staff savings through restructure (25) (25) 0 Grant funding in place to fund post so saving will be made without loss of post

CYP7

Additional Learning Needs Equipment - To cease 

funding for ALN specialist equipment that is funded 

centrally for pupils placed in our schools.

(22) (17) 5 Funding has been made available for a pupil in one of our mainstream schools. 

CYP Totals (1,809) (1,704) 105

Page 4 of 10

P
age 168



Service savings progress

Ref Social Care & Health Budgeted 

Saving 

£000's

Current 

Forecast 

£000's

Variance

£000's

Comment

SCH3

Children’s Services - Placement and Practice Change - 

re-evaluating our current processes and systems post-

covid in order to clearly define at what points we make 

essential decisions in regard to when a child is placed 

within a High-Cost Placement

(748) (936) (188)

Care planning for High Cost and Solo Placements is in place with HOS oversight and sign off.  

This is allowing children to progress to alternative placements where this is in keeping with 

their care and support needs and their longer term personal outcomes. 

SCH5

Staffing reductions to Adult Services - The proposal is to 

create savings by reducing the core workforce across 

the statutory teams in adults’ services.

(308) (160) 148
A monitoring framework has been established and a "totaliser" set up to track, record and 

account for all the identified staff savings throughout the year.

SCH4

Children's Service Redesign/Staffing - (i) Family Time 

Service Development, (ii) Review of Structures and 

Service Operating costs

(421) (34) 387

Additional Family Contact Sessional workers are in place providing cost avoidance activity 

where intensive family supervision is required (previously the service was reliant on 

commissioned services). 

Weekly Workforce Meeting of Children Service Leadership Team is overseeing the reduction 

of the use of agency social workers, which is progressing positively. 

SCH10

Adults - Care hours, block commissioning, Mileage - 

Reduce amount of direct care in the region of 10% 

whilst rebalancing in house/external provision

(400) 0 400

Various workstreams underway to right size care packages but challenges associated with 

identifying the resource required to undertake the work.  A Review pilot in Monmouth to right 

size packages and Nevill Hall to discharge people with minimal care requirements, and 

establishment of a weekly QALG (Quality Assurance Group) to right size care package and 

ensure cost efficiency.  However current data tells us that overall, once care reductions and 

new demand has been accounted for, the impact is one of increasing spend in this area.

F&Cs
Fees and charges increases - in line with inflation for 

SCH directorate
(415) (415) 0 All agreed Fees and Charges for 2023/24 have been implemented

SCH9
Practice and Process Change Adults - For people with 

high support needs
(250) 0 250

SCH7

Learning disabilities - Remodelling of learning disability 

and mental health teams that will involve a decrease in 

team management hours.

(300) 0 300

SCH8 Adult services - Direct payment saving (200) (200) 0 10% levy has been applied to all Direct Payment care packages

SCH2a Staff restructuring within the Public protection service. (103) (27) 76

2 x Officers reduced their working hours from 1st April '23, capturing a saving of £27K. 

However, the deletion of HoPP post (main feature of this savings mandate) currently not being 

implemented, so no saving captured in 23/24.  

SCH12b
Transformation Team structure - reduction in core 

workforce
(61) (58) 3 Saving met practically in full

SCH11

Reduction in Adult partnership arrangements for Gwent 

service delivery models - Shared lives, Emergency duty, 

Frailty, Regional partnership team

(60) (35) 25 Savings to date represent a 50% reduction in the RPT contribution.

SCH13
Monmouthshire & Torfaen YOS – Accommodation 

Change, Reduction in Staffing, Reallocation of Duties 
(44) (44) 0

YOS partnership budget has been realigned accordingly so SCH achieved the saving in its 

partner in year contribution

SCH12a
Transformation Team structure - vacant and temporary 

posts
(39) (39) 0

Savings met 100%. Removal of counselling development fund (£8,000); Reduce 

commissioned training (£6,729); Reduce professional accredited professional and leadership 

training commissioned (£10,000); Review business support functions - vacant post (£14,000).

SCH7 and 9 are merged together as they are both looking into the same operational areas 

and are mainly focussing around practice change and the effective application of CHC around 

the Adult care spectrum.  At present we have one LD cases which has entered into the final 

level 3 dispute stage and we continue to challenge ABuHB with estimate costs of £250K.

Page 5 of 10

P
age 169



Service savings progress

SCH Totals (3,349) (1,948) 1,401

Ref Communities & Place Budgeted 

Saving 

£000's

Current 

Forecast 

£000's

Variance

£000's

Comment

DeCarb1
Decarbonisation - Reducing energy consumption across 

the Council’s estate
(532) (355) 177

Potential Risk - only estimating 2 thirds achievable at present - Decarbonisation team is not 

yet in place resulting in a delay in implementing the energy reduction strategies highlighted in 

the saving mandate.  In addition April and May was colder than expected so we are expecting 

heating bills to be up. 

DeCarb1
Commercial & Landlord Services - Solar farm export 

tariff income
(150) (150) 0

Achievable - budget uplifted to reflect 22-23 activity, no indication that this will not be the case 

in 23-24 so saving should be achieved in full.

C&P28
Highways Development & Car Parks - Increasing car 

park & permit charges.
(280) (280) 0

Achievable - car park prices have been increased across authority, if activity remains the 

same as 22-23 then saving will be achieved in full.

22/23 

Decision

Neighbourhood Services - Recycling & Waste - 

Increase garden waste charges to achieve a full cost 

recovery model and increase annual charge based on 

inflation

(250) (250) 0
Achievable - Prices were uplifted as part of cabinet report in Jan - no notable reduction in 

uptake so assume saving will be made in full. 

TRAN1+2
Fleet Maintenance - Reduction in operating fleet and 

corporate mileage reduction.
(160) (110) 50

Fleet reduction of £60k on course to be achieved. Mileage - 50% achievable - roll-out of pool 

car scheme and other initiatives has been slower than anticipated so can only assume that 

50% will be achieved in 23-24.

F&Cs
Uplift in fees & charges not covered by a standalone 

mandate
(155) (155) 0

Achievable - Services have uplifted fees as per 23-24 MTFP - if activity remains the same 

then saving will be achieved across directorate.

C&P27
Highways Development & Car Parks - To increase the 

income target for road closures
(149) (149) 0

Achievable - budget uplifted to reflect 22-23 activity - no indication that this will not be 

achieved in 23-24.

C&P4

Neighbourhood Services - To reduce the revenue 

budget for street lighting maintenance taking account of 

the reduction in energy usage and reduced 

maintenance requirements of recently renewed 

columns, LED lamps and traffic light renewals 

(142) (142) 0
Achievable - Energy and maintenance saving reflects actual reduction in 22-23, no indication 

that these savings will not re-occur in 23-24.  

C&P8
Neighbourhood Services - Reduction of grounds 

maintenance services
(90) (90) 0

Achievable - Mowing schedules have been reduced and sweeping structure changed so 

saving should be achieved in full.

C&P6
Neighbourhood Services - Grounds Maintenance and 

Cleansing - Uplift of charges for external contracts
(120) (120) 0 Achievable - Pricing schedule has been updated to reflect new rates.

C&P3
Neighbourhood Services - Service savings and staff 

reduction.
(80) (80) 0

Achievable - Re-use shop has increased opening hours so saving should be achieved, black 

bag sorting has been employed at sites so we should see a reduction in overall tipping costs.

C&P17,18,

21+24

Highways & Flood Mgt - Reduction in staffing costs in 

the Highways and Flood Management service area
(74) (74) 0 Achievable - Posts have been removed from structure so saving should be made in full.

PTU1

Passenger Transport Commissioning - New acceptable 

routes are implemented to reduce transport 

requirements based on current transport policy (70) (70) 0

Potential risk - The majority of the routes will be tendered in June so we will have a clearer 

picture in July. We are trying to increase the number of passengers travelling by public buses, 

but I think that will be limited by the uncertainties around bus grant funding. They are working 

on the costs for active travel to reduce transport demand and we do expect to see savings.

Page 6 of 10

P
age 170



Service savings progress

C&P34+35

Planning, Policy & Building Control - To reduce revenue 

budget for the service area by reducing the professional 

and specialist fees, and photocopying and postage 

budget.

(59) (59) 0
Achievable - budgets were reduced to reflect activity - no indication that this will change, 

achieved in full.

22/23 

Decision

Housing - A proposed restructure of the Housing 

Sustainable Living Team
(50) (50) 0 Achieved - Post has been removed from structure

22/23 

Decision

Flexible Funding - Restructure Management Team to 

reduce core costs
(50) (50) 0 Achieved - Post has been removed from structure

C&P7
Neighbourhood Services - Savings from Siltbuster 

recycling plant.
(30) (30) 0

Achievable - recycling plant is operational and contracted rebate payments have been 

received, saving will be achieved in full.

PTU7
Passenger Transport - Terminate the Mission Software 

and revert back to CTX which is a lower cost
(30) (30) 0 Achievable - Change has been made, savings should be achieved in full.

C&P12

Housing - to build on the foundations of the well-

established Careline Service to ensure it continues to 

be fit for future purpose. 

(25) (18) 7

Part Achieved - All clients have been written to and given notice of a price rise of £0.50 pw.  

Due to the increased charge being implemented wef 1st June 2023, it is not projected that the 

price increase will achieve the mandate target.  Assuming no reduction of clients leaving the 

service due to the price increase, the additional projected income is  £17,995.  An agreed 

proposal to remodel the Careline service to a broader Assistive Technology model in order to 

align with Social Care requirements is making positive progress, including the appointment of 

a Digital Coach. A joint action plan focused on staff training and development has been 

established and is being implemented.  One off grant funding acquired from Social Care 

Wales to support the Assistive Technology proposal.  An arising risk is Call Monitoring Centre 

charges have increased for 22/23

PTU4-6a
Schools & Community Transport - Changing the 

licensing arrangements
(17) 0 17

Unachievable -  This will not materialise as we have not been able to proceed with the 

operators licence as we are only allowed to run 10 public bus / grass route vehicles on it and 

we have more than that.

(2,513) (2,262) 251

Ref Monlife Budgeted 

Saving 

£000's

Current 

Forecast 

£000's

Variance

£000's

Comment

ML 3 & 4 Finance & Business Support Restructure (104) (104) 0 Restructure complete - Post deleted from structure savings will be fully achieved

ML22

Gilwern Outdoor Adventure Services Redesign - 

Increase income through new business, new ways of 

working and engaging further with Monmouthshire 

internal services to provide cost avoidance for CYP and 

Social Services. 

(100) (100) 0

Early indications of continued growth along with the services final outturn position indicates 

that this saving should be fully achievable in 23-24, there is still significant uncertainty around 

winter bookings and our re-engage program which are both essential in achieving the 

necessary income targets, we will continue to monitor this close and report any variances. 

F&Cs
Uplift in fees & charges not covered by a standalone 

mandate
(83) (83) 0 Fee's updated 1st April 2023 - Early indications this will be achievable.

ML 7,8,9 & 

21
Attractions Service Redesign (65) (65) 0 Redesign is underway savings will be fully achieved in 23-24

ML1

Green Infrastructure Grants - To fully utilise Shared 

Prosperity Fund (SPF), Local Places for Nature and 

related grants / project funding

(45) (45) 0
The service has received notification of successful bids, these will allow this saving to be fully 

achieved in 23-24.

ML5 Removal of vacant Project Officer post (45) (45) 0 Post deleted savings will be fully achieved

Page 7 of 10

P
age 171



Service savings progress

ML14

Youth Services - Seeking to maintain service delivery at 

reduced core costs by increases reliance on external 

grants, an internal restructure of priorities, programmes 

and delivery.

(25) (25) 0

A joined up approach to funding through the delivery of sports development youth and play 

should provide the necessary opportunities to maximise external income opportunities and 

deliver this saving in 23-24.

ML19

Old station Tintern Miniature Train Track - Complete the 

necessary repair and maintenance on the miniature 

train track through an initial one-off capital investment of 

£45k, this will allow us to re-open this much-loved 

attraction and increase our income generation. 

(25) (25) 0
The season has just reopened early indications indicate we are on target to achieve the 

additional income

ML10

Collections Management - Remove 0.40 FTE from the 

Collections Management Post, currently vacant within 

the structure. 

(21) (21) 0 Post removed savings will be fully achieved

ML13

Sports Development - To increase income generation 

through external grants, seeking to maintain service 

delivery at reduced core costs but increase service 

reliance on alternative external grants. 

(20) (20) 0 This income will be fully achieved in 23-24

ML2

Countryside Access Grant Project cost recovery - To 

fully utilise the full cost recover model when recovering 

project management costs, ensuring our recovery rates 

maximise the rate allowed by grant providers. 

(20) (20) 0 In progress early indications indicate that the additional income will be fully achieved in 23-24.

ML11
Visitor charging at some heritage exhibitions/activities 

and events 
(20) (20) 0 Program is being developed, income should be fully achievable in 23-24.

ML18
Recharge Project Officers against Grant - Ensuring full 

cost recovery of officer’s time against grants.
(20) (20) 0 Additional grants awarded to MONLIFE will allow this income to be fully achieved in 23-24. 

ML12 Sale of Caterpod (10) (10) 0 In the process of arranging the sale of the caterpod will be complete in 23-24.

ML15

Caldicot Fitness Equipment Maintenance - Reduce 

Caldicot LC maintenance contract to reflect the ageing 

equipment and seek a local accredited supplier to 

maintain 

(10) (10) 0 Contract negotiations underway, this saving should be fully achieved in 23-24.

ML17 Commercial contributions and Sponsorships (10) (10) 0 This will be achieved in 23-24.

ML6 Reducing the Marketing supplies and services budget (5) (5) 0 This saving will be fully achieved in 23-24

(628) (628) 0

Ref Chief Executive's Unit Budgeted 

Saving 

£000's

Current 

Forecast 

£000's

Variance

£000's

Comment

CEO1-5

Community Hubs - Reduce staffing levels at community 

hubs in order to reduce costs while keeping all hubs 

open with reduced service levels.

(135) (68) 68
50% achievable - won't see full year saving due to timing of staff reductions but exploring 

alternative savings measures.

CEO11&1

3

Contact Centre - To reduce staffing levels in the contact 

centre by 2.5 FTE
(112) (75) 37

Full year saving won't be achieved due to timing of redundancies, but exploring alternative 

savings measures.

CEO14 Performance & Data - Remove data scientist post (39) (39) 0 Achievable - Post removed from structure

Page 8 of 10

P
age 172



Service savings progress

CEO08
Community Hubs & Libraries - Reduce the budget for 

library books by 16.7% from £90,000 to £45,000,
(45) (45) 0 Achievable - budget removed, purchases will be limited to new figure.

CEO10
Community Education - Increase income by growing 

learner base
(10) (10) 0 Achievable - Early indication is that this will be achieved.

CEO Totals (341) (237) 105

Ref People & Governance Budgeted 

Saving 

£000's

Current 

Forecast 

£000's

Variance

£000's

Comment

PG2

P&G income - The below proposals seek to increase 

income in Comms and Land Charges and a small 

software cost reduction in payroll. 

(80) (80) 0 Achievable - no indication so far that this will not be achieved.

F&Cs
Uplift in fees & charges not covered by a standalone 

mandate
(6) (6) 0

Achievable - Services have uplifted fees as per 23-24 MTFP - if activity remains the same 

then saving will be achieved across directorate.

PG Totals (86) (86) 0

Ref Resources Budgeted 

Saving 

£000's

Current 

Forecast 

£000's

Variance

£000's

Comment

RES8
Landlord services - Reduce Corporate Building 

(Reactive and Planned) Maintenance revenue budget
(300) (300) 0

Achievable - budget will be monitored to ensure all qualifying repairs will be charged to the 

capital programme (where funding has been made available) - assume saving will be made in 

full. 

RES24
Landlord services - To review the property estate and to 

explore options for further rationalisation
(215) (215) 0 Potential Risk, assume on target for now but is dependant on timing of decisions of disposal. 

RES12 ICT - Mobile Phone Contract Saving (149) (115) 34 Partial - contract changeover delay by 2 months

RES19

Revenues, Systems & Exchequer - Remove budget 

earmarked for a discretionary business rate relief 

scheme

(126) (126) 0 Achievable - budget has been removed.

RES2
Landlord services - Vacant development surveyor post 

being held - or funded by capital programme as required
(45) (45) 0 Achievable - Post has been removed from structure.

RES14 SRS Contribution & PSBA Line Savings (62) (62) 0 Achievable - SRS contribution has been reduced in line with SRS figures, assume achievable.

F&Cs
Uplift in fees & charges not covered by a standalone 

mandate
(19) (19) 0

Achievable - Services have uplifted fees as per 23-24 MTFP - if activity remains the same 

then saving will be achieved across directorate.

RES7

Landlord services - Explore alternative reception 

solutions at County Hall to remove front of house 

staffing needs

(19) (19) 0 Achievable - Staffing reduction to kick in from July, saving should be achieved in full.

RES11
Digital Design & Innovation - Automate Starters & 

Leavers Process
(13) (13) 0 Achievable - Awaiting SRS but assume it will be made in full.

RES23
ICT - Restructure of the Information Security and 

Technology Team 
(13) (13) 0 Achievable - adjustments to team structure have been made.

Page 9 of 10

P
age 173



Service savings progress

RES20
Revenues, Systems & Exchequer - Increase use of 

purchase cards to increase e-payment rebate
(10) (10) 0

Achievable - The number of purchase cards in use increased last year, as more services 

adopted this payment method.  Therefore expect the rebate to increase.  However we await 

confirmation of how much this will actually be.  Assume savings target will be achieved until 

we hear otherwise.

RES21
Revenues, Systems & Exchequer - Reduce budget 

allocated for finance system upgrades
(10) (10) 0

Achievable - System development costs will be managed in line with budget.  Therefore 

barring any emergencies or unexpected costs, expect to achieve this saving.

RES22

Revenues, Systems & Exchequer - Shared Revenues & 

Benefits service potential savings through automation 

and increased use of self service facilities (Citizens 

Access).

(10) (10) 0
Achievable - Expect to achieve this saving following changes to operating practices within the 

Shared Service

Resources Totals (991) (957) 34

Ref Corporate Costs & Levies Budgeted 

Saving 

£000's

Current 

Forecast 

£000's

Variance

£000's

Comment

Capex1 Extend capitalisation direction (358) (358) 0
Additional qualifying expenditure identified and will be funded via capital receipts as per 

budget

CORP2
Insurance - reduction in self insured costs and 

professional fees/ICT costs
(75) (75) 0

Saving in professional fees/ICT costs to be achieved in full (£25k).

Self insured costs (£50k saving)  - This budget covers insurance excesses payable on claims 

or costs agreed outside of insurance and not met from the service (i.e. where costs in total fall 

below any excess). This is a highly volatile budget based on claims incidence and operating 

environment (i.e. adverse weather conditions). However long term trends have seen some 

modest reduction in costs payable and this trend is expected to continue through 2023/24.

Corporate Costs & Levies Totals (433) (433) 0

Page 10 of 10

P
age 174



Feedback to the Cabinet, 27/7/23, from the Chair of the Performance and 

Overview Committee, Cllr Neill. 

The following points were noted from the Revenue Budget Early Update for ‘23/24: 

 £2.6 mill of revenue budget pressures 

 Planned application of £2.5 mill of useable reserves to finance pressures. 

 Strategic Leadership Team required to engage in immediate mitigating action. 

 Officers required to develop structured approach to tackling pressures. 

 

It was also noted that in Table 1 of the report there are £6.1 mill of actual underlying 

indicative early pressures – not just the £2.6 mill above. 

These pressures include: 

Children and Young People – £687,000 

Social Care and Health - £3,001,000 

Communities and Place - £1,513,000 

Corporate, Treasury and Finance - £710,000 

…. with further major pressures arising in Waste; Care Providers; Homelessness (of 

which additional security measures at £75,000). 

 

Specific important questions arose from the P&OSC members relating to: 

waste services cost management, bank holiday cover, food standards and costs in 

Free School Meals, staff resources being stretched and causing stress for those in 

service, staff reductions in our community hubs, staff flexibility in roles. 

 

Questions were raised around the approach being taken by the cabinet towards 

balancing sound financial management with service demands – given that if control 

over finances is lost, it would create a very serious situation for all services. It was 

noted that the cabinet moved £3.5 mill from reserves at the end of the ‘22/23 year, 

and now it plans to move a further £2.5 mill from reserves to cover new pressures. 

This rate of reserves’ depletion is not sustainable. It is very important that the 

council addresses the service overspends – recognizing that these are indeed 

challenging times. Therefore, the most effective way of focusing minds would be to 

NOT transfer a further £2.5 mill from reserves, as this repeated approach creates 

the clear impression that pressure is off officers to redesign services capable of 

being delivered within service budgets. The result is seriously depleted reserves – 

and services will still require redesign within their respective budgets. Reserves 

should therefore be used to enable redesign and transformation – not to plug 

financial holes in budget delivery. 

Page 175



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 IMPLEMENTATION OF THE MY DAY, MY LIFE REVIEW RECOMMENDATIONS
	Appendix 1 Final Report - My Day My Life Review (English)
	Appendix 2 MDML Public consultation responses analysis
	Appendix 3  MDML Implementation Plan Summary
	Appendix 4 MDML WEEKLY ACTIVITIES MAY 2023 (10072023)
	Appendix 5 Pen Pictures
	Appendix 6 Future Service Base Specification
	Appendix 7 Integrated Impact Assessment version 3 17072023
	Formal Feedback to Cabinet on Scrutiny of the My Day My Life Service Review

	4 S106 FUNDING CALDICOT
	3. Castle Park S106-

	5 MEETING GYPSY & TRAVELLER PITCH NEEDS - LAND IDENTIFICATION
	230714 Dancing Hill, Undy
	230714 Garthi Close Mitchel Troy
	230714 Langley Close, Magor
	230714 Manson Heights Template (002)
	Gypsy and Travellers Provision  RAG Site Evaluation June 2023
	230710 FGA  Site Identification II (002)
	Formal Feedback to Cabinet on Scrutiny of the Gypsy and Travellers Needs Assessment

	6 2023/24 REVENUE BUDGET PROGRESS - EARLY UPDATE
	20230726 Cabinet - 2023-24 Revenue budget progress update - Appendix 1 - Pressures and savings targets
	feedback to Cabinet, 27-7-23, from P&OSC


